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PART I
Forward-Looking and Cautionary Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statementsas defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking
statements may appear throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including without limitation, the following sections: Item 1 "Business,"” Item 1A "Risk Factors," and Item
7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by words such as
"anticipates," "believes," "estimates,"” "expects,” "intends," "plans," "predicts,” "projects,” "will be," "will continue," "will likely result,” and similar expressions. These
forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and assumptions that are subject to risks and uncertainties, which could cause our actual results to differ materially
from those reflected in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, and in particular, the risks discussed under the caption "Risk Factors" in Item 1A and those discussed in other documents we file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revision to these forward-looking statements, except as required
by law. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.

Item 1. Business.
BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY

Opes Acquisition Corp. (“OPES”) was formed as a blank check company incorporated in Delaware on July 24, 2017 for the purpose of entering into a merger, share
exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, recapitalization, reorganization or other similar business transaction with one or more operating businesses or entities (a “Business
Combination Transaction”). BurgerFi International, LLC was formed in Delaware on January 27, 2011. On December 16, 2020, to effectuate a Business Combination
Transaction, OPES purchased 100% of the membership interests of BurgerFi International, LLC from the members of BurgerFi International, LLC (“Members™), resulting in
BurgerFi International, LLC becoming a wholly owned subsidiary of OPES. Subsequently, in connection with this Business Combination Transaction (the "BurgerFi
acquisition”), OPES changed its name to “BurgerFi International, Inc.”

On November 3, 2021, BurgerFi International, Inc. acquired 100% of the outstanding shares (the“Anthony's Acquisition”) of Hot Air, Inc., a Delaware corporation
("Hot Air") from Cardboard Box LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Cardboard"). Hot Air, through its subsidiaries, owns the business of operating upscale casual
dining restaurants in the specialty pizza and wings segment under the name "Anthony's Coal Fired Pizza & Wings" ("Anthony's").

References to the “Post-Combination Company” refer to BurgerFi International, Inc. after the consummation of the BurgerFi acquisition. Unless the context otherwise
requires, all references to “we,” “us,” “our,” and the “Company” and other similar references refer to the Post-Combination Company and, unless otherwise stated, all its
subsidiaries. The term “BurgerFi” refers to the system-wide fast casual “better burger” concept with 118 franchise and corporate-owned locations in the United States and
internationally as of December 31, 2021. The term “Anthony’s” refers to the upscale casual, “well-done” premium pizza and wing concept with 61 corporate-owned locations in
the United States as of December 31, 2021.

COVID-19
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The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted economic conditions in the United States, where most of our restaurants are located. The Company has
experienced, and may continue to experience, impacts from COVID-19, as federal, state and local governments may continue to react to the public health crisis by encouraging
or requiring social distancing, instituting stay-at-home orders, and requiring, in varying degrees, restaurant dine-in limitations, capacity limitations or other restrictions. While
the Company has seen a recovery in 2021, including as a result of the changes to consumer behavior to off-premises dining, as well as promotional activities associated with
delivery, it is possible that further outbreaks and variants could limit our recovery and negatively impact our business. The Company continues to monitor the spread of new
variants. Despite a recent decline in cases, hospitalizations and deaths in large portions of the United States, mask and vaccine mandates, social-distancing, travel restrictions
and stay-at-home orders could be reinstated in locations where we are located. Although the pandemic has presented challenges, it has also caused us to undertake and
accelerate certain growth initiatives, such as new digital capabilities. By positioning ourselves to expand access, safety, and convenience of our customers, we believe that we
are positioned to return to growth. An extended period of economic disruption, however, could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, access to
sources of liquidity and overall financial condition.

Overview

The Company is a leading multi-brand restaurant company that develops, markets and acquires fast-casual and premium-casual dining restaurant concepts around the
world, including corporate-owned stores and franchises. As of December 31, 2021, we were the owner and franchisor of the two following brands:

BurgerFi. BurgerFi is a fast-casual “better burger” concept, renowned for delivering an exceptional, all-natural premium “better burger” experience in a refined,
contemporary environment. BurgerFi’s chef-driven menu offerings and eco-friendly restaurant design drive our brand communication. It offers a classic American menu of
premium burgers, hot dogs, crispy chicken, frozen custard, hand-cut fries, shakes, beer, wine and more. Originally founded in 2011 in Lauderdale-by-the-Sea, Florida, the
purpose was simple — “RedeFining” the way the world eats burgers by providing an upscale burger offering, at a fast-casual price point. BurgerFi is committed to an
uncompromising and rewarding dining experience that promises fresh food of transparent quality. Since its inception, BurgerFi has grown to 118 BurgerFi locations, and as of
December 31, 2021, is comprised of 25 corporate-owned restaurants and 93 franchised restaurants in 2 countries and 22 states, as well as Puerto Rico.

BurgerFi was named “Best Fast Casual Restaurant” in USA Today’s 10Best 2022 Readers Choice Awards for the second consecutive year, QSR Magazine's Breakout
Brand of 2020, Fast Casual's 2021 #1 Brand of the Year and included in Inc. Magazine’s Fastest Growing Private Companies List. In 2021, Consumer Report’s Chain Reaction
Report praised BurgerFi for serving “no antibiotic beef” across all its restaurants, and Consumer Reports awarded BurgerFi an "A-Grade Angus Beef" rating for the third
consecutive year.

Anthony’s. Anthony’s is a premium pizza and wing brand, operating 61 corporate-owned casual restaurant locations, as of December 31, 2021. Anthony’s prides itself
on serving fresh, never frozen, high-quality ingredients. The concept is centered around a 900-degree coal fired oven, and its menu offers “well-done” pizza, coal fired chicken
wings, homemade meatballs, and a variety of handcrafted sandwiches and salads. The restaurants also feature a deep wine and craft beer selection to round out the menu. The
pizzas are prepared using a unique coal fired oven to quickly seal in natural flavors while creating a lightly charred crust. Anthony’s provides a differentiated offering among its
casual dining peers driven by its coal fired oven, which enables the use of fresh, high-quality ingredients with quicker ticket times.

Since its inception in 2002 in Ft. Lauderdale, Florida, the Anthony’s brand has grown to 61 corporate-owned locations, as of December 31, 2021, primarily along the
East coast and has restaurants in eight states, including Florida (28), Pennsylvania (12), New Jersey (8), New York (5), Massachusetts (4), Delaware (2), Maryland (1), and
Rhode Island (1).

Anthony’s was named “The Best Pizza Chain in America" by USA Today's Great American Bites and “Top 3 Best Major Pizza Chain” by Mashed in 2021.

Beyond our current brand portfolio, we intend to acquire other restaurant concepts that will allow us to grow and also offer additional food categories. In evaluating
potential acquisitions, we specifically seek concepts with, among others, the following characteristics:
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« established, recognized brands;

* long-term, sustainable operating performance;

 consistent cash flows; and

» growth potential, both geographically and through co-branding initiatives across our portfolio.

Intending to leverage our developing management platform, we expect to achieve cost synergies post-acquisition by reducing the corporate overhead of the acquired
company. We also plan to grow the top line revenues of newly acquired brands through support from our management and systems platform, franchising, marketing and
advertising, supply chain assistance, site selection analysis, staff training and operational oversight and support.

Corporate-owned restaurants

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, average sales for our matured corporate-owned restaurants (stores open for greater than 2 years) were
approximately $1.9 million and $1.6 million, respectively, at BurgerFi, and $2.1 million and $1.8 million, respectively, at Anthony’s. At BurgerFi, we typically operate in a
2,200 to 2,400 square foot leased endcap and, to a lesser extent, free-standing or in-line space. For Anthony’s, we operate in an approximately 3,200 square foot leased endcap
and, to a lesser extent, free-standing or in-line space, although we are developing a smaller footprint concept for Anthony’s that we plan to use in future locations. The Company
does not own any real estate; we lease all our corporate-owned restaurant locations. Our lease term is generally ten to twenty years, plus two to four five-year options. Our
build-out costs for BurgerFi range from $0.6 million to $1.1 million but typically cost approximately $0.8 million. Our build-out costs consist of leasehold improvements,
kitchen equipment, furniture, point of sale and computer equipment, security equipment and signage.

Franchised restaurants

With respect to the BurgerFi brand, we currently use a franchising strategy to drive new restaurant growth in new and established markets, allowing for brand
expansion without significant capital investment. The Company continues to evaluate its BurgerFi portfolio to determine the proper balance between corporate-owned
restaurants and franchises. Moreover, the Company is excited about the recent Anthony’s acquisition and intends to launch Anthony’s franchising in 2022. As of December 31,
2021, there were a total of 93 BurgerFi franchised restaurants. Franchisees range in size from single restaurant operators to multi-unit operators. As of December 31, 2021,
franchisees owned an average of 2 locations.

We believe that franchise revenue provides stable and recurring cash flows to us and, as such, we plan to continue expanding our base of franchised restaurants. In
established markets, we encourage continued growth from current franchisees and assist them in identifying and securing new locations. In emerging and new markets, we
intend to source qualified and experienced new franchisees for multi-unit development opportunities. We generally seek franchisees from successful, non-competitive brands
operating within the expansion markets.

The BurgerFi Brands Difference — Purpose & Beliefs

The overall success of the Company and its brands is tied to consistent delivery by our corporate-owned restaurants and franchise operators of freshly prepared, better-
for-you, high-quality menu items that our customers desire. With the input of our customers and franchisees, we continually strive to keep an updated perspective on our brands,
including by strengthening our existing menu offerings and introducing new items. When updating our menu items and other offerings, we strive to ensure that changes are
consistent with the core identity and attributes of our brands. In conjunction with our franchised restaurant operators, we are committed to delivering authentic, consistent
experiences that have strong brand identity with customers.

In addition, the Company is committed to creating an inclusive and equitable environment that supports the growth and success of our team members from diverse
socioeconomic backgrounds, genders, races, experiences, and more. These beliefs are an integral part of sharing and promoting a culture of inclusion within the organization
and beyond.

In pursuing acquisitions and entering new restaurant brands, we intend to ensure consistent values with new restaurant concepts. As our restaurant portfolio continues
to grow, we believe that both our franchisees and customers will recognize and support this ongoing commitment as they enjoy differing brand offerings.

In particular, a summary of the purpose and belief of each of the BurgerFi and Anthony’s brands is as follows:
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BurgerFi Brand. At BurgerFi, our purpose is simple: BurgerFication [Bur-ger-Fi-ca-tion], which means that we are “RedeFining the way the world eats burgers.” Our
team members are trained to understand and live the BurgerFi Beliefs: Be All Natural, Be Courageous, Be Excellent, Be Family, Be Thoughtful, and Be You. We believe that
our Purpose and Beliefs are the foundational components of our culture and that is key to the way we run our business — these beliefs guide our behaviors in how we act and
interact with one another, our vendors, and our communities.

One of our core beliefs at BurgerFi is “Be Natural,” because all-natural simply tastes better. BurgerFi uses only the best ingredients: our domestically served freshly-
ground beef comes from farms where cattle are humanely raised, vegetarian fed, and never exposed to steroids, antibiotics, or growth hormones — ever. In addition, we have
developed our proprietary VegeFi burger and specialty made sauces. This all-natural experience is also present in our belief in the sustainability of the environment. For
instance, there are many fixtures and furnishings inside that tell a story of sustainability like upcycled furniture items, such as our 111 Navy Coca-Cola chairs, or our energy
efficient Macro Air fans and our LED lighting that reduce our overall carbon footprint.

At BurgerFi, we believe that people and families are at the heart of everything we do. To be family also extends beyond the four walls of our restaurants to include our
loyal guests, vendors, and the communities within which we are embedded. We instill our family philosophy with all our team members from the moment they begin the
recruitment process to BurgerFi all the way through their employee life cycle.

Anthony’s Brand. At Anthony’s, the beliefs are very similar to those of BurgerFi, which is one of the reasons why we acquired it in 2021. At Anthony’s, we are
committed to quality by using fresh ingredients — never frozen - and preparing many items by hand. Anthony’s prides itself on the responsible sourcing to obtain the freshest
foods so it can deliver high-quality products, including premium pizzas and roasted jumbo wings — from the most flavorful canned Italian tomatoes for our handmade sauce to
mozzarella cheese from Wisconsin. In serving the freshest ingredients, as well as helping support the local communities in which we serve, we source our fresh tomatoes
locally. Our natural ingredients also include a gluten-free pizza crust option.

We live by the mottos “made with love” and “made with care.”” As with BurgerFi, the Anthony’s brand believes that people and family are also a top priority — from
the guests to the employees, as well as the communities in which they operate. This is one of the reasons why Anthony’s has the “first-slice” mentality — always serving the
customer the first slice of pizza as if they are home with their family.

Competitive Strengths

We believe the Company’s competitive strengths, among others, include the following:

*  Two Leading, Differentiated Brands Serving High-Quality, Freshly Prepared Foods with Broad Customer Appeal.Our BurgerFi and Anthony’s brands are
differentiated from other dining options and offer distinct concepts and fresh, natural menu choices that we believe have broad consumer appeal, which attract a diverse
customer base and drive guest loyalty. BurgerFi and Anthony’s are committed to our brand voice: serving freshly prepared, all-natural food using quality ingredients,
including BurgerFi’s American Wagyu beef and 100% natural, cage-free chicken from all-natural farms. At Anthony’s, our 900-degree coal fired oven sets us apart
from other premium pizza brands. At BurgerFi, we believe our premium wine and craft beer selection also differentiates us from the other fast-casual burger concepts.
As such, we believe we are uniquely positioned to offer premium products at a premium price, including with chef-driven menu offerings, as well as eco-friendly
restaurant design at the BurgerFi brand.

*  “Conscious Consumer” Market. We believe that many consumers and investors want to associate with brands that have a heightened commitment to environmental and
social practices. As the younger generations continue to grow and exercise their spending powers towards higher quality, authentic brands, we believe the Company will
become a destination for those consumers and investors whose beliefs align with ours continuing the cult-like status we believe we have obtained. BurgerFi believes in
clean, transparent, and sustainable restaurant ecosystems, which includes a full commitment to the humane treatment of animals. Moreover, environmental sustainability
guides our decision-making when it comes to BurgerFi restaurant construction and design. From using number two southern pine lumber, some of the most renewable
wood on the planet, to our energy efficient appliances, BurgerFi constantly looks at the ways in which we can minimize our environmental footprint.
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*  Management Platform for Growth. We are developing a management and systems platform designed to support the expansion of our existing brands while enabling the
efficient acquisition and integration of additional restaurant concepts. We dedicate our resources and industry knowledge to promote the success of our franchisees,
offering them various support services such as marketing and advertising, supply chain assistance, site selection analysis, staff training and operational oversight and
support. Furthermore, we are developing our platform to be scalable and adaptable, allowing us to incorporate new concepts into the Company with minimal incremental
corporate costs. We intend to grow our existing brands as well as make strategic and opportunistic acquisitions that complement our existing portfolio of concepts
providing an entrance into targeted restaurant segments.

*  Seasoned New Management Team. Our expanding management team and employees are critical to our success. Our new senior leadership team is highly experienced
in the restaurant industry. In addition, through their holdings, our senior executives, as well as our Executive Chairman, own significant equity interests in the Company,
ensuring longer-term commitment and alignment with our public shareholders. Our management team is complemented by an accomplished Board of Directors that is
highly involved in overseeing our strategic initiatives and implementation.

Growth Strategies

Our long-term strategy is focused on profitably building our base brands and growing new distribution channels, including franchised locations and acquiring new
concepts. We believe the Company’s growth strategies primarily include the following:

*  Opportunistically Acquire New Brands. We are developing a management platform to cost-effectively scale new restaurant concept acquisitions. Our recent acquisition
of Anthony’s is the first example of this growth strategy. We seek concepts with established, widely recognized brands; steady cash flows; stable relationships with
franchisees; sustainable operating performance; and growth potential, both geographically and through co-branding initiatives across our portfolio.

*  Enhance Existing Markets. We anticipate that our new and existing franchisees will continue to expand further as we focus our efforts on the franchise business,
including our planned launch of the Anthony’s franchise brand in 2022. We plan to leverage our position as a leading “better burger” and “premium pizza and wings”
concept in Florida, as well as along the Eastern seaboard and other important markets in the Southeast, Mid-Atlantic, and Northeast. Many of our franchisees have grown
their businesses over time, increasing the number of stores operated in their organizations. To capitalize on these relationships, we also hope to be able to cross-sell
concepts across the Company’s brands.

*  Increasing Same-Store Sales. In addition to opening new corporate-owned and franchise locations, we continue to focus on driving increases in same-store sales
performance by providing exciting guest experiences that include new seasonal and other specific offerings, including loyalty rewards and our growing customer
databases; continued service of freshly prepared, better-for-you, high-quality menu items; and technological upgrades like the BurgerFi-owned app and web, as well as
third-party ordering and delivery services.

e Drive Store Growth Through Cloud Kitchens and Virtual Restaurants. In addition to testing concepts and driving growth through virtual restaurants at both brands,
including Anthony’s The Roasted Wing concept that is available currently through third-party delivery services at all Anthony’s locations, we are leveraging the current
industry trend of “cloud” or “ghost” kitchens. In a cloud kitchen, the restaurants open without a customer-facing store-front solely for the purpose of servicing delivery.
Virtual restaurants and cloud kitchens allow us to introduce our brands in geographic areas where previously unknown to grow our brand more efficiently.

*  Non-Traditional Partnerships and International Expansion. In recent years BurgerFi has begun targeting non-traditional venues for restaurant locations, such as
airports, transportation hubs, toll roads, higher education, military bases, and sporting venues. The Company also intends to continue modestly growing its international
market with established franchisees, including in Saudi Arabia.

Franchise Program

Overview



Table of Contents

While the Company intends to launch the Anthony’s franchises in 2022 and leverage the BurgerFi brand franchise program, systems, and knowledge, it currently only
franchises the BurgerFi brand. The following is an overview of the BurgerFi franchise program.

BurgerFi uses a franchising strategy to augment new restaurant growth in new and established markets, allowing for brand expansion without significant internal
capital investment. Our first franchise location was opened in 2012. As of December 31, 2021, there were a total of 93 franchised restaurants in the United States, Puerto Rico,
and Saudi Arabia. Franchisees range in size from single restaurant operators to multi-unit operators, the largest of which owns 8 locations. For a BurgerFi location, the current
franchise agreement reflects a 10-year term and provides for an initial franchise fee per store and a royalty fee of 5.5% of net sales. In addition, the franchisee must also pay an
advertising fee of 2.0% of net sales.

We believe that franchise revenue provides stable and recurring cash flows to us and, as such, we plan to continue expanding the base of franchise operated restaurants.
In established markets, we will encourage continued growth from current franchisees and assist them in identifying and securing new locations. In emerging and new markets,
we will source qualified and experienced new franchisees for multi-unit development opportunities. Although historically we’ve had a significant blend of one to two store
franchise operators in our system, in expansion markets we will strive to seek franchisees from successful, non-competitive brands operating within those markets. We market
franchise opportunities through strategic networking, participation in select industry conferences, high profile sales campaigns, our existing website, printed materials, and geo-
targeted digital ads.

We have several forums to enhance participation and engagement with our franchise community, including a Franchise Advisory Council (“FAC”) to enhance
participation and engagement with the franchise community. The FAC provides input and feedback on operating and marketing strategy and initiatives. FAC works with their
group of franchise constituents to communicate and collaborate with the Company, providing input, feedback, and marketing strategy and system wide initiatives. Cross-
functional teams comprised of company operators, franchise operators and executive team members collaborate to enhance vendor relationships and negotiate favorable
scenarios for both the BurgerFi system and our vendors.

Franchise Owner Support

We have structured our corporate staff, training programs, operational systems, and communication systems to ensure we are delivering strong, effective support to our
franchisees. We assist franchisees with the site selection process, and every new franchise location is scrutinized by our corporate real estate team. We provide template plans
franchisees may use for new restaurant construction and work with franchisees and their design and construction vendors to ensure compliance with brand specifications. A
training program is required for all franchisees, operating partners, and management staff. Training materials introduce new franchisees to our operational performance
standards and the metrics that help maintain these high standards.

For the first two restaurant openings for a new franchisee, we typically provide significant on-site support, with more modest support for subsequent openings for that
franchisee. On an ongoing basis, we collect and disseminate customer experience feedback on a real time basis through a third-party vendor. We also conduct regular on-site
audits at each franchise location, although in the COVID-19 environment we sometimes perform our internal inspections through video collaboration with a third-party vendor
who physically inspects each location and timely provides us with its full report. Our regional operations leaders are dedicated to ongoing franchise support and oversight,
regularly visiting each franchise territory. Our marketing department assists franchisees with local marketing programs and guidance with our national marketing campaigns.
We typically communicate with franchisees through our company newsletter, which is published monthly and hold weekly inter-active webinar meetings to update our
franchisee teams and conduct additional training. In the past, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, which we plan to begin again, we also held a bi-annual summit for franchisees,
vendors, and company operations leaders to review overall performance, celebrate shared success, communicate best practices, and plan for the year ahead.

Site Selection

The Company’s real estate department functions in a manner consistent with the overall Company purpose and beliefs. This is evidenced by the holistic, rigorous
approach of our site selection criteria. We actively assist in the search of specific, strategically selected markets for potential new locations. In each selected market, we evaluate
these initial sites using the various criteria, including demographic, psychographic and competitive analysis, visibility, access, and signage, traffic counts, anchor and co-tenants,
ample parking, and flexible footprints.
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Our strategy is to cluster multiple locations in a demographic market area. We believe this clustering allows efficiencies in labor, including knowledge base, “pro-
teams,” cross-training and developing and training new managers. Additionally, we believe this clustering allows better leverage in media buying, brand awareness, and culture.
We target demographics with high concentrations of well-educated consumers, with above average income levels, who care about what they eat. Beyond our great food,
BurgerFi offers our target consumers a contemporary restaurant design with eco-friendly fixtures and upcycled furniture. Our wholesome atmosphere is thoughtfully designed to
enhance the guest experience and to complement shopping centers and communities as well.

While we are exploring smaller footprint restaurants to help increase optionality, improve unit economics, and expand the total addressable market, BurgerFi’s ideal
footprint typically has been 2,200 to 2,400 square feet, usually an endcap in a shopping center. In selecting a site, we closely study key physical attributes, as well as trade area
and other comparative data, to assess the quality and viability of a location. Each potential site is analyzed and reviewed using Al software. The best locations are analyzed for
their internal rate of return using multiple projected sales scenarios. We believe that aggressive and ongoing market review, coupled with detailed analysis, should provide a
consistent stream of great locations for ongoing future development.

Construction & Design

Once a site is successfully permitted, a BurgerFi restaurant can be built generally in approximately a 90-working day period. During these 90 working days, all
construction is completed, and the space is then turned over to the operational team. We team up with several general contractors regionally throughout the country and strive to
effectively manage the bidding process of each project to ensure quality standards are kept up to par.

BurgerFi restaurants feature an inviting, next-gen look and feel, appealing to consumers of all ages seeking an engaging, high-quality dining experience. There are
many fixtures and furnishings inside that tell a story of sustainability like upcycled furniture items, such as our 111 Navy Coca-Cola chairs, or our energy efficient Macro Air
fans and LED lighting that reduce our overall carbon footprint. These products and materials are sourced through our preferred vendors to meet the needs of the restaurants.

The main design goal at BurgerFi is to provide an updated, sleek look that is practical for our customers and provides them with a warm inviting feel. Over the years
we have gone through small design evolutions within the restaurant walls to not only better suit the needs of our guests but also the needs of our team members. We strive to
please our guests and in doing so need to create an open space with great quality materials that can be easily cleaned and will withstand the wear and tear of time.

Like most restaurants, we have learned that the delivery channel is an opportunity to innovate our kitchen design. We have worked to equip our kitchens with a layout
that is both effective and efficient at increasing our output of products. We have vetted certain equipment pieces that allow us to keep up with desired cook times while
providing the best possible end-product for the guest.

Over the years, the Company has been very adaptive with its direction of growth. As we move forward, we are continually evaluating the overall size of our design so
we can better fit into non-traditional, spaces that, in addition to potential operational savings, give us greater visibility.

Supply Chain

Sourcing. The Company’s philosophy is to work with best-in-class suppliers across our supply chain so that we can always provide top quality, better-for-you food for
our guests.

For BurgerFi’s meat, we source currently from some of best ranches in the United States including Meyer Company Ranch, Snake River Farms, and Springer
Mountain Farms, who share in our commitment to all-natural food, with no hormones or antibiotics, that is humanely raised and source verified. In 2021, in Consumer Report’s
Chain Reaction Report, BurgerFi was praised for serving “no antibiotic beef” across all its restaurants, and Consumer Reports awarded BurgerFi an "A-Grade Angus Beef"
rating for the third consecutive year. In addition, our bread is free of synthetic chemicals, our ketchup is free of corn syrup, and we use cage-free eggs. At BurgerFi we ensure
that our beef is always freshly ground at all domestic locations.
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At Anthony’s, we are also committed to using fresh ingredients and take pride in our sourcing. We do not use freezers for any of our products to ensure the best quality
food for the customer. In addition, by sourcing locally where available, such as our fresh tomatoes and our sausage, we strive to bring the freshest ingredients so we can deliver
high-quality products.

Distribution. Currently the Company contracts with several distributors to provide its food distribution services in the United States for both of the Anthony’s and
BurgerFi brands. As the Company continues to integrate the acquisition of Anthony’s, it has been leveraging, and intends to continue to leverage, the increased scale of the
Company to consolidate distributors and obtain more favorable optimization and costs.

For BurgerFi, we utilize 29 affiliated distribution centers to supply our domestic corporate-owned and franchised restaurants. For Anthony’s, we utilize 11 affiliated
distribution centers to supply our corporate-owned restaurants. We regularly assess our broadline distributor to ensure our strict safety and quality standards are met and that the
prices they offer are competitive.

Food Safety. Food safety is of the utmost importance. Within our restaurants we have stringent food safety and quality protocols that help our teams ensure they are
providing a safe place to eat for our guests and team members alike. Utilizing in-house temperature and quality audits throughout the day, we strive to verify that all products are
safe and of highest quality. Additionally, we use third-party auditing systems, designed to ensure we meet or exceed local health standards. These audits are completed
periodically and without notice with the goal of ensuring that our restaurants maintain our high standards at all hours of the day. Since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
have initiated additional COVID-19 protocol audits.

Management Information Systems. Our traditional corporate-owned and franchised restaurants use computerized point-of-sale and back-office systems that are
designed specifically for the restaurant industry. In addition, as discussed further below, some BurgerFi locations also offer guest facing self-ordering kiosk technology. Both
point-of-sales systems provide touch screen interfaces, order confirmation displays, kitchen displays and integrated, high-speed credit card, gift card and loyalty program
processing. The information collected from the point-of-sale system includes daily transaction data, which generates information about sales, average transaction size as well as
product mix information. This system allows our management teams to run various reports and access vital information to assist them in controlling food and labor costs daily.

Technology-Enhanced Brand

Integral to our purpose, the Company harnesses innovation and technology to offer our guests opportunities to enjoy our food when and where they want. In addition
to ordering in-restaurant at the counter, guests can enjoy BurgerFi or Anthony’s currently by ordering through six different digital platforms:

*  Pick-Up: Customers can order for pick-up through the BurgerFi app, ACFP.com, BurgerFi.com or through marketplace pick-up platforms, such as, Grubhub, DoorDash
and Uber Eats. Additionally, at Anthony’s, we are testing phone Al at limited locations;

e First Party Delivery: Customers can order through the BurgerFi app, ACFP.com, or BurgerFi.com for delivery through our delivery affiliations, which generally offers
lower pricing than through marketplace delivery;

*  Marketplace: Our third-party delivery affiliations include Uber Eats, DoorDash, and Grubhub, with several smaller regional associations;

*  Ghost Kitchen Delivery: Licensees operate kitchens to BurgerFi food specifications and delivery through marketplaces. This allows for a broader BurgerFi footprint and
delivery further away from traditional stores;

*  Virtual Brands: We are exploring virtual brands, including Anthony’s The Roasted Wing, that offers select food options through marketplace offerings. This broadens
our horizontal reach within the marketplace; and

*  In-Store: We allow digital purchases at the register using a QR code. We also have select stores with next-generation kiosks, which, during the initial trial, have indicated
higher check average versus the traditional person-to-person interaction.
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We believe these different platforms allow us to connect with guests in intuitive, customizable, and meaningful ways, including through a custom loyalty program
tailored to reward users with offers based on their preferences, frequency, and order history.

Other technology and innovation ideas that the Company are testing include an in-car voice-activated ordering system available in certain 5G enabled vehicles, as well
as new gas-assisted pizza ovens at Anthony’s.

Competition

The restaurant industry is highly competitive with respect to price, service, location, and food quality. It is often affected by changes in consumer trends, economic
conditions, demographics, traffic patterns, and concern about the nutritional content of fast-casual and casual foods. Furthermore, there are many well-established competitors
with substantially greater financial resources, including several national, regional, and local fast casual and casual dining restaurants. The restaurant industry also has few
barriers to entry and new competitors may emerge at any time.

We believe that, among others, product quality and taste, convenience of location, and brand differentiation and recognition are among the most important competitive
factors in the fast-casual and casual restaurant segment and that our two brands compete effectively. Our brand voice, derived from our commitment to fresh, better-for-you
food, emphasizes the Company Purpose and Beliefs to team members, guests and stakeholders alike. The Company remains committed to these values, and we believe our
guests understand our dedication to the values and causes that are important to them.

Seasonality

Outside of our Florida locations where we experience some seasonality based on increased tourism from approximately November through April, our corporate-owned
stores and franchisees have not historically experienced significant seasonal variability in their financial performance.

Intellectual Property

We own, domestically and internationally, valuable intellectual property including trademarks, service marks, trade secrets and other proprietary information related to
our restaurant and corporate brands. This intellectual property includes logos and trademarks which are of material importance to our business. Depending on the jurisdiction,
trademarks and service marks generally are valid as long as they are used and/or registered. We seek to actively protect and defend our intellectual property from infringement
and misuse.

Employees

As of December 31, 2021, our team members consisted of 2,422 employees, including 834 full-time employees. We believe that we have good relations with our
employees.

Government Regulation

The Company and its franchisees are subject to extensive government regulation at the federal, state, and local government levels. These include, but are not limited
to, regulations relating to the preparation and sale of food, zoning and building codes, franchising, land use and employee, health, sanitation, and safety matters. The Company
and its franchisees are required to obtain and maintain a wide variety of governmental licenses, permits and approvals. Difficulty or failure in obtaining them in the future could
result in delaying or canceling the opening of new restaurants. Local authorities may suspend or deny renewal of our governmental licenses if they determine that the
Company’s operations do not meet the standards for initial grant or renewal. Our restaurants outside the U.S. are subject to national and local laws and regulations which are
similar to those affecting U.S. restaurants. The restaurants outside the U.S. are also subject to tariffs and regulations on imported commodities and equipment and laws
regulating foreign investment, as well as anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws.
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The Company is also subject to regulation by the Federal Trade Commission and subject to state laws that govern the offer, sale, renewal and termination of franchises
and its relationship with its franchisees. The failure to comply with these laws and regulations in any jurisdiction or to obtain required approvals could result in a ban or
temporary suspension on franchise sales, fines or the requirement that the Company make a rescission offer to franchisees, any of which could affect our ability to open new
restaurants in the future and thus could materially adversely affect its business and operating results. Any such failure could also subject the Company to liability to its
franchisees.

See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of risks relating to federal, state, local and international regulation of our business.
Our Corporate Information

Our corporate headquarters are located at 105 U.S. Highway 1, North Palm Beach, Florida 33408. Our main telephone number is (561) 844-5528. Our principal
Internet website address is www.burgerfi.com. The information on our website is not incorporated by reference into, or a part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act”), are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). We are subject to the
informational requirements of the Exchange Act and file or furnish reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet site that
contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. The contents of these websites
are not incorporated into this Annual Report. Further, our references to the URLs for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only. We also make the
documents listed above available without charge through the Investor Relations Section of our website at www.burgerfi.com.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
SUMMARY RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to numerous risks. In addition to the summary below, carefully review the “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report. We may be subject to
additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial. These risks should be read in conjunction with the other information in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and in our other public disclosures. Some of the principal risks relating to our business include:

*  We incurred significant indebtedness as a result of the Anthony's acquisition, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition;

*  We used a significant portion of the Company’s cash for paydown of debt and transaction costs as a result of the Anthony's acquisition, which could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition;

*  The Anthony's acquisition is expected to continue to significantly change the business and operations of BurgerFi. We may face challenges integrating the businesses;

¢ The combination of the BurgerFi and Anthony's businesses may not lead to the growth and success of the combined business that we believe will occur;

» Integrating the businesses of BurgerFi and Anthony's may disrupt or have a negative impact on the combined business;

e The market price of our Common Stock after the Anthony's acquisition may be affected by factors different from those that affected the shares of BurgerFi prior to the
Anthony's acquisition;

e Our growth strategy for opening new restaurants is highly dependent on the availability of suitable locations and our ability to develop and open new restaurants on a
timely basis, on attractive terms;

*  Our expansion into new markets may present increased risks, which could affect our profitability;

*  Our failure to effectively manage our growth could harm our business and operating results;

*  New restaurants, once opened, may not be profitable and may negatively affect restaurant sales at our existing restaurants;

*  We have a limited number of suppliers for our major products and rely on a limited number of suppliers for the majority of our domestic distribution needs;
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e Our plans to acquire new brands, and the ongoing need for capital expenditures at our existing restaurants, require us to spend capital;

*  Our marketing strategies and channels will evolve and may not be successful;

e Our franchise business model presents a number of risks, including launching of the new Anthony's franchise brand. We rely on a limited number of franchisees for the
operation of our franchised restaurants, and we have limited control with respect to the operations of our franchised restaurants, which could have a negative impact on
our reputation and business;

» Incidents involving food safety and food-borne illnesses could adversely affect guests’ perception of our brand, result in lower sales and increase operating costs;

* Increased food commodity and energy costs could decrease our restaurant-level operating profit margins or cause us to limit or otherwise modify our menu, which could
adversely affect our business;

*  The digital and delivery business, and expansion thereof, is uncertain and subject to risk;

*  We face significant competition for guests, and if we are unable to compete effectively, our business could be adversely affected;

e The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected and could continue to adversely affect our financial results, condition and outlook;

*  Security breaches of either confidential guest information in connection with, among other things, our electronic processing of credit and debit card transactions or
mobile ordering app, or confidential employee information may adversely affect our business;

* If we experience a material failure or interruption in our systems, our business could be adversely impacted;

*  We depend on key members of our executive management team;

*  We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, which, in turn, could harm the value of our brands and adversely affect our business;

*  Our insurance coverage may not provide adequate levels of coverage against claims;

*  Failure to comply with privacy and cybersecurity laws and regulations could cause us to face litigation and penalties that could adversely affect our business, financial
conditions and results of operations;

»  If we fail to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial information or comply with Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could be impaired, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and stock price;

*  We identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in 2020. If we are unable to remediate these material weaknesses, or if we identify
additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to
accurately or timely report our financial condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect our business, investor confidence and our stock price;

*  We have significant stockholders whose interests may differ from those of our public stockholders;

*  Our anti-takeover provisions could prevent or delay a change in control of the Company, even if such change in control would be beneficial to our stockholders;

*  We may be unable to maintain the listing of our securities in the future;

»  Ifsecurities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline;

*  Asignificant number of shares of our common stock are subject to issuance upon exercise of the outstanding warrants, which upon such exercise may result in dilution
to our security holders;

«  Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market by our existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline; and

*  Trading volatility and the price of our common stock may be adversely affected by many factors, including its designation as a “penny stock.”

RISK FACTORS

Stockholders should carefully consider the following risk factors, together with all of the other information included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our
other public disclosures. The risks described below highlight potential events, trends or other circumstances that could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows, liquidity or access to sources of financing and could adversely affect the trading price of our securities. These risks could cause our future
results to differ materially from historical results and from guidance we may provide regarding our expectations of future financial performance.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR ACQUISITIONS, GROWTH STRATEGIES AND OPERATIONS
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The Anthony's acquisition is expected to continue to significantly change the business and operations of BurgerFi. We may face challenges integrating the businesses.

As a result of the Anthony's acquisition, both the size and geographic scope of BurgerFi’s business has significantly increased. We have faced, and may continue to
face, challenges integrating such geographically diverse businesses and implementing a smooth transition of business focus and governance in a timely or efficient manner. In
particular, if the effort we devote to the integration of our businesses with that of Anthony's diverts more management time or other resources from carrying out our operations
than we originally planned, our ability to maintain and increase revenues as well as manage our costs could be impaired. Furthermore, our capacity to expand other parts of our
existing businesses may be impaired. We also cannot assure that the combination of the BurgerFi and Anthony's businesses will function as we anticipate, or that significant
synergies will result. Any of the above could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The combination of the BurgerFi and Anthony's businesses may not lead to the growth and success of the combined business that we believe will occur.

We may not realize all of the synergies that we anticipated from the combination of the BurgerFi and Anthony's businesses and may not be successful in implementing
our commercialization strategy. Our combined business is subject to all of the risks and uncertainties inherent in the pursuit of growth in our industry, and we may not be able to
successfully sell our products or realize the anticipated benefits from our distribution, collaboration and other commercial partners. If we are not able to grow the combined
business of BurgerFi and Anthony's as a commercial enterprise, our financial condition will be negatively impacted.

Integrating the businesses of BurgerFi and Anthony's may disrupt or have a negative impact on the combined business.
We could have difficulty integrating the assets, personnel, operations and business of BurgerFi and Anthony's. Risks that could impact us negatively include:

» the difficulty of integrating Anthony's and its concepts and operations;

» the difficulty in combining our financial operations and reporting;

« the potential disruption of the ongoing business and distraction of our management, including impairment of relationships with employees and partners as a result of any
integration of new management personnel;

»  changes in our business focus and/or management;

»  risks related to international operations;

« the potential that our investment may significantly decrease in value, which may lead to an impairment of the goodwill carrying value of the acquired business; and

»  the potential inability to manage an increased number of locations and employees.

Our growth strategy includes pursuing opportunistic acquisitions of additional brands, and we may not find suitable acquisition candidates or successfully operate or
integrate any brands that we may acquire.

As part of our growth strategy, we intend to opportunistically acquire new brands and restaurant concepts. Competition for acquisition candidates may exist or increase
in the future. Consequently, there may be fewer acquisition opportunities available to us as well as higher acquisition prices. There can be no assurance that we will be able to
identify, acquire, manage or successfully integrate additional brands or restaurant concepts without substantial costs, delays or operational or financial problems.

Our successful positioning of our brands depends in large part on the success of our advertising and promotional efforts and our ability to continue to provide products
that are desirable by our customers. Accordingly, we intend to continue to pursue an aggressive brand enhancement strategy, which includes multimedia advertising,
promotional programs and public relations activities. These initiatives may require significant expenditures. If our multi-brand strategy is unsuccessful, these expenses may
never be recovered. Any failure of our other marketing efforts could also have an adverse impact on us.

12
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The difficulties of integration include coordinating and consolidating geographically separated systems and facilities, integrating the management and personnel of the
acquired brands, maintaining employee morale and retaining key employees, implementing our management information systems and financial accounting and reporting
systems, establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and implementing operational procedures and disciplines to control costs and increase
profitability.

In the event we are able to acquire additional brands or restaurant concepts, the integration and operation of such acquisitions may place significant demands on our
management, which could adversely affect our ability to manage our existing restaurants. In addition, we may be required to obtain additional financing to fund future
acquisitions, but there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms or at all.

An increase in food and labor costs could adversely affect our operating results.

Our profitability and operating margins are dependent in part on our ability to anticipate and react to changes in food and labor costs, which have been increasing, and
may continue to increase, significantly, which may have a negative effect on the operations and profitability of the Company. Changes in the cost or availability of certain food
products could affect our ability to offer a broad menu and maintain competitive prices and could materially adversely affect our profitability and reputation. The type, variety,
quality and cost of produce, beef, poultry, cheese and other commodities can be subject to change and to factors beyond our control, including weather, climate change,
governmental regulation, availability and seasonality, each of which may affect our food costs or cause a disruption in our supply. Although we attempt to mitigate the impact of
these cost increases as they occur through increases in selling prices, there is no assurance that we will be able to do so without causing decreases in demand for our products
from our customers.

We have significant outstanding indebtedness, which requires that we generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy the payment and other obligations under the terms of our debt
and exposes us to the risk of default and lender remedies.

As of December 31, 2021, the principal balance of the indebtedness under our secured credit agreement, dated as of December 15, 2021 (as amended, the Credit
Agreement”), and entered into by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries on November 3, 2021, was $70.3. We may incur additional indebtedness for various purposes,
including to fund future acquisitions and operational needs. The terms of our outstanding indebtedness provide for significant principal and interest payments, and subjects us to
certain financial and non-financial covenants, including debt service leverage, coverage, and liquidity ratios, each as defined in the Credit Agreement. If certain covenants are
not met, the indebtedness may become partially or fully due and payable on an accelerated schedule.

The obligations are secured by substantially all the assets of the Company and its subsidiary guarantors. The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants that limit
the Company’s and such subsidiaries' ability to, among other things, grant liens, incur additional indebtedness, make acquisitions or investments, dispose of certain assets, make
dividends and distributions, enter into burdensome agreements, use the proceeds of the loans in contravention to the Credit Agreement, change the nature of their businesses,
make fundamental changes, make prepayments on subordinated debt, change their fiscal year, change their organizational documents and make payments of management fees,
in each case subject to certain thresholds and exceptions.

Our ability to meet the payment obligations under our debt depends on our ability to generate significant cash flow in the future. We cannot assure that our business
will generate cash flow from operations or that other capital will be available to us, in amounts sufficient to enable us to meet our payment obligations under our Credit
Agreement and to fund our other liquidity needs. If we are not able to generate sufficient cash flow to service these obligations, we may need to refinance or restructure our
debt, sell unencumbered assets (if any) or seek to raise additional capital. If we are unable to implement one or more of these options, we may not be able to meet these payment
obligations, and the imposition of lender remedies could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and liquidity.

b,

Our growth strategy for opening new restaurants is highly dependent on the availability of sui
timely basis, on attractive terms.

locations and our ability to develop and open new restaurants on a
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One of the keys to achieving our growth strategies will be opening and operating new restaurants on a profitable basis for the foreseeable future. We must identify
target markets where we can enter or expand, taking into account numerous factors such as the location of our current restaurants, the target consumer base, population density,
demographics, traffic patterns, competition, geography and information gathered from our various contacts. We may not be able to open our planned new restaurants within
budget or on a timely basis, if at all, given the uncertainty of these factors, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. As we
operate more restaurants, our rate of expansion relative to the size of our restaurant base will eventually decline.

The number and timing of new restaurants opened during any given period may be negatively impacted by a number of factors, including: (1) the identification and
availability of attractive sites for new restaurants; (2) difficulty negotiating suitable lease terms; (3) shortages of construction labor or materials; (4) recruitment and training of
qualified personnel in the local market; (5) our ability to obtain all required governmental permits, including zoning approvals; (6) our ability to control construction and
development costs of new restaurants; (7) competition in new markets, including competition for appropriate sites; (8) the proximity of potential sites to an existing restaurant,
and the impact of cannibalization on future growth; (9) anticipated commercial, residential and infrastructure development near our new restaurants; and (10) the cost and
availability of capital to fund construction costs and pre-opening costs.

Accordingly, we cannot assure that we will be able to successfully expand as we may not correctly analyze the suitability of a location or anticipate all of the
challenges imposed by expanding our operations. Our growth strategy, and the substantial investment associated with the development of each new domestic corporate-owned
restaurant, may cause our operating results to fluctuate and be unpredictable or adversely affect our profits. In addition, as has happened when other restaurant concepts have
tried to expand, we may find that our concept has limited appeal in new markets, or we may experience a decline in the popularity of our concept in the markets in which we
operate. If we are unable to expand in existing markets or penetrate new markets, our ability to increase our revenue and profitability may be materially harmed or we may face
losses.

QOur expansion into new markets may present increased risks, which could affect our profitability.

We may open corporate-owned restaurants in markets where we have little or no operating experience. Restaurants we open in new markets may take longer to reach
expected restaurant sales and profit levels on a consistent basis and may have higher construction, occupancy, or operating costs than restaurants we open in existing markets.
New markets may have competitive conditions, consumer tastes and discretionary spending patterns that are more difficult to predict or satisfy than our existing markets. We
may need to make greater investments than originally planned in advertising and promotional activity in new markets to build brand awareness.

We may also incur higher costs from entering new markets if, for example, we assign area directors to manage comparatively fewer restaurants than we assign in more
developed markets. Also, until we attain a critical mass in a market, the restaurants we open will incur higher food distribution costs and reduced operating leverage. As a result,
these new restaurants may be less successful or may achieve target restaurant-level operating profit margins at a slower rate, if ever.

Our failure to effectively manage our growth could harm our business and operating results.

Our existing personnel, management systems, financial and management controls and information systems may not be adequate to support our planned expansion. Our
ability to manage our growth effectively will require us to continue to enhance these systems, procedures, and controls and to locate, hire, train and retain management and
operating personnel, particularly in new markets. We may not be able to respond on a timely basis to all of the changing demands that our planned expansion will impose on
management and on our existing infrastructure or be able to hire or retain the necessary management and operating personnel, which could harm our business, financial
condition or results of operations. These demands could cause us to operate our existing business less effectively, which in turn could cause a deterioration in the financial
performance of our existing restaurants, which could lead to, among other negative financial and operational effects, an impairment of our assets. If we experience a decline in
financial performance, we may decrease the number of or discontinue restaurant openings, or we may decide to close restaurants that we are unable to operate in a profitable
manner.

New restaurants, once opened, may not be profitable and may negatively affect restaurant sales at our existing restaurants.
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Our results have been, and in the future may continue to be, significantly impacted by the timing of new restaurant openings (often dictated by factors outside of our
control). Our experience has been that labor and operating costs associated with a newly opened restaurant for the first several months of operation are materially greater than
what can be expected after that time, both in aggregate dollars and as a percentage of restaurant sales. Our new restaurants take a period of time to reach target operating levels
due to inefficiencies typically associated with new restaurants, including the training of new personnel, new market learning curves, inability to hire sufficient qualified staff,
lack of brand awareness in new markets, and other factors. We may incur additional costs in new markets, particularly for transportation and distribution, which may impact the
profitability of those restaurants. New restaurants may not meet our targets for operating and financial metrics or may take longer than anticipated to do so. Any new restaurants
we open may not be profitable or achieve operating results similar to those of our existing restaurants, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results
of operations.

If we are unable to maintain and grow restaurant sales at existing restaurants, our financial performance could be adversely affected.

The level of same-store sales growth, which represents the change in year-over-year revenue for domestic corporate-owned restaurants open for 14 full months or
longer, could affect our restaurant sales growth. Our ability to increase same-store sales depends, in part, on our ability to successfully implement our initiatives to build
restaurant sales. It is possible such initiatives will not be successful, that we will not achieve our target same-store sales growth or that same-store sales growth could be
negative, which may cause a decrease in restaurant sales and profit growth that would adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations, including an
impairment of our assets.

Our mission of being “natural and proud of it” may subject us to risks.

Our mission is a significant part of our business strategy and what we are as a company. However, we face many challenges in carrying out our mission. We incur
higher costs and other risks associated with purchasing high quality ingredients grown or raised with an emphasis on quality and responsible practices. As a result, our food and
labor costs may be significantly higher than other companies who do not source high quality ingredients or pay above minimum wage. Additionally, the supply for high quality
ingredients may be limited and it may take us longer to identify and secure relationships with suppliers that are able to meet our quality standards and have sufficient quantities
to support our growing business. If we are unable to obtain a sufficient and consistent supply for our ingredients on a cost-effective basis, our food costs could increase or we
may experience supply interruptions which could have an adverse effect on our operating margins. Additionally, some of our competitors recently announced initiatives to offer
better quality ingredients, such as antibiotic-free meat. If this trend continues, it could further limit our supply for certain ingredients and we may lose our competitive
advantage because it will be more difficult for our business to differentiate itself.

We have a limited number of suppliers for our major products and rely on a limited number of suppliers for the majority of our domestic distribution needs.

We have a limited number of suppliers for our major ingredients. Due to this concentration of suppliers, the cancellation of our supply arrangements with any one of
these suppliers or the disruption, delay or inability of these suppliers to deliver these major products to our restaurants may materially and adversely affect our results of
operations while we establish alternate distribution channels. In addition, if our suppliers fail to comply with food safety or other laws and regulations, or face allegations of
non-compliance, their operations may be disrupted. We cannot assure that we would be able to find replacement suppliers on commercially reasonable terms or a timely basis, if
at all.

There can be no assurance that we will continue to be able to identify or negotiate with alternative supply and distribution sources on terms that are commercially
reasonable to us. If our suppliers or distributors are unable to fulfill their obligations under their contracts or we are unable to identify alternative sources, we could encounter
supply shortages and incur higher costs, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Our plans to acquire new brands and open new restaurants, and the ongoing need for capital expenditures at our existing restaurants, require us to spend capital.
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Our growth strategy depends on acquiring new brands and opening new restaurants, which will require us to use cash flows from operations. We cannot assure that
cash flows from operations will be sufficient to allow us to implement our growth strategy. If these funds are not allocated efficiently among our various projects, or if any of
these initiatives prove to be unsuccessful, we may experience reduced profitability and we could be required to delay, significantly curtail or eliminate planned restaurant
openings, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, as our restaurants mature, our business will require capital expenditures for the maintenance, renovation, and improvement of existing restaurants to
remain competitive and maintain the value of our brand standard. This creates an ongoing need for cash, and, to the extent we cannot fund capital expenditures from cash flows
from operations, funds will need to be borrowed or otherwise obtained. If the costs of funding new restaurants or renovations or enhancements to existing restaurants exceed
budgeted amounts, and/or the time for building or renovation is longer than anticipated, our profits and liquidity could be reduced. If we cannot access the capital we need, we
may not be able to execute our growth strategy, take advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive pressures.

Our marketing strategies and channels will evolve and may not be successful.

We incur costs and expend other resources in our marketing efforts to attract and retain guests. Our strategy includes public relations, digital and social media,
promotions and in-store messaging, which require less marketing spend as compared to traditional marketing programs. As the number of restaurants increases, and as we
expand into new markets, we expect to increase our investment in advertising and consider additional promotional activities. Accordingly, in the future, we will incur greater
marketing expenditures, resulting in greater financial risk and a greater impact on our financial results.

We rely heavily on social media for many of our marketing efforts. If consumer sentiment towards social media changes or a new medium of communication becomes
more mainstream, we may be required to fundamentally change our current marketing strategies which could require us to incur significantly more costs. Some of our
marketing initiatives may not be successful, resulting in expenses incurred without the benefit of higher revenue. Additionally, some of our competitors have greater financial
resources, which enable them to spend significantly more on marketing and advertising than we can at this time. Should our competitors increase spending on marketing and
advertising or our marketing funds decrease for any reason, or should our advertising and promotions be less effective than those of our competitors, there could be a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on a limited number of franchisees for the operation of our franchised restaurants, and we have limited control with respect to the operations of our franchised
restaurants, which could have a negative impact on our reputation and business.

We rely, in part, on our franchisees and the manner in which they operate their restaurants to develop and promote our business. As of December 31, 2021, 51
franchisees operated all of our domestic BurgerFi franchised restaurants, and 1 franchisee operated our international BurgerFi franchised restaurant. We intend to launch the
Anthony’s franchise brand in 2022. Our franchisees are required to operate their restaurants according to the specific guidelines we set forth, which are essential to maintaining
brand integrity and reputation, all laws and regulations applicable to us and our subsidiaries and all laws and regulations applicable in the jurisdictions in which we operate. We
provide training to these franchisees to integrate them into our operating strategy and culture. However, since we do not have day-to-day control over all of these restaurants, we
cannot give assurance that there will not be differences in product and service quality, operations, labor law enforcement or marketing or that there will be adherence to all of
our guidelines and applicable laws at these restaurants. In addition, if our franchisees fail to make investments necessary to maintain or improve their restaurants, guest
preference for the brand could suffer. Failure of these restaurants to operate effectively could adversely affect our cash flows from those operations or have a negative impact on
our reputation or our business.

The success of our franchised operations depends on our ability to establish and maintain good relationships with our franchisees. The value of our brands and the
rapport that we maintain with our franchisees are important factors for potential franchisees considering doing business with us. If we are unable to maintain good relationships
with franchisees, we may be unable to renew franchise agreements and opportunities for developing new relationships with additional franchisees may be adversely affected.
This, in turn, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We cannot be certain that the developers and franchisees we select will
have the business acumen necessary to open and operate successful franchised restaurants in their franchising areas.
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Franchisees may not have access to the financial or management resources that they need to open the restaurants contemplated by their agreements with us or to be
able to find suitable sites on which to develop them, or they may elect to cease development for other reasons. Franchisees may not be able to negotiate acceptable lease or
purchase terms for the sites, obtain the necessary permits and governmental approvals or meet construction schedules. Additionally, financing from banks and other financial
institutions may not always be available to franchisees to construct and open new restaurants. Any of these factors could slow our growth from franchised operations and
reduce our franchising revenue.

Our franchise business model presents a number of risks, including launching of the new Anthony’s franchise brand.

Our success as a franchised business relies, in part, on the financial success and cooperation of our franchisees. Moreover, as we focus more of our business on
growing the franchises, including the planned launch of the Anthony’s franchise, we may not be successful in growing the brand. Our restaurant margins arise from two primary
sources: fees from franchised restaurants (e.g., royalties based on a percentage of sales) and sales from corporate-owned restaurants. Our franchisees manage their businesses
independently, and therefore are responsible for the day-to-day operation of their restaurants. The revenue we realize from franchised restaurants is largely dependent on the
ability of our franchisees to grow their sales.

Business risks affecting our operations also affect our franchisees. In particular, our franchisees have also been, and may continue to be, significantly impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic, labor shortages, and inflation. If franchisee sales trends worsen, our financial results will continue to be negatively affected, which may be material.
Additionally, a rise in minimum wages could adversely impact our and our franchisees’ financial performance. The impact of events such as boycotts or protests, labor strikes,
and supply chain interruptions (including due to lack of supply or price increases) could also adversely affect both us and our franchisees.

Our success also relies on the willingness and ability of our independent franchisees to implement our initiatives, which may include financial investment, and to
remain aligned with us on operating, value/promotional and capital-intensive reinvestment plans. The ability of franchisees to contribute to the achievement of our plans is
dependent in large part on the availability to them of funding at reasonable interest rates and may be negatively impacted by the financial markets in general, by the
creditworthiness of our franchisees or the Company or by banks’ lending practices. If our franchisees are unwilling or unable to invest in major initiatives or are unable to
obtain financing at commercially-reasonable rates, or at all, our future growth and results of operations could be adversely affected.

From time to time, we have guaranteed certain franchisee’s lease obligations, which could require us to make lease payments on behalf of franchisees should they fail
to honor such commitments. Our operating performance could also be negatively affected if our franchisees experience food safety or other operational problems or project an
image inconsistent with our brands and values, particularly if our contractual and other rights and remedies are limited, costly to exercise or subjected to litigation and potential
delays. If franchisees do not successfully operate restaurants in a manner consistent with our required standards, our brands' image and reputation could be harmed, which in
turn could hurt our business and operating results.

Our ownership mix, which we continually evaluate for potential changes to determine our preferred allocation of franchise to corporate-owned stores, also affects our
results and financial condition. The decision to own restaurants or to operate under franchise agreements is driven by many factors whose interrelationship is complex. The
benefits of our more heavily franchised structure depend on various factors, including whether we have effectively selected franchisees that meet our rigorous standards,
whether we are able to successfully integrate them into our structure and whether their performance and the resulting ownership mix supports our brand and financial objectives.

An impairment in the carrying value of our goodwill or other intangible or long-lived assets could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Along with other intangible assets, we test goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying value may not
be recoverable. We also evaluate long-lived assets on a quarterly basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
For the year ended December 31, 2021, management performed impairment testing, and the Company recorded impairment at the BurgerFi reporting unit for its goodwill,
license agreements, and long-lived assets for approximately $106.5 million, $7.7 million, and $0.6 million, respectively.
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We cannot accurately predict the amount and timing of any further impairment of assets. A significant amount of judgment is involved in determining if an indication
of impairment exists. Should the value of goodwill or other intangible or long-lived assets become further impaired, there could be an adverse effect on our financial condition
and consolidated results of operations.

RISKS RELATED TO OPERATING IN THE RESTAURANT INDUSTRY
Incidents involving food safety and food-borne illnesses could adversely affect guests’ perception of our brands, resulting in lower sales and increase operating costs.

We face food safety risks, including the risk of food-borne illness and food contamination, which are common both in the restaurant industry and the food supply chain
and cannot be completely eliminated. We rely on third-party food suppliers and distributors to properly handle, store and transport ingredients to our restaurants. Any failure by
our suppliers, or their suppliers, could cause ingredients to be contaminated, which may be difficult to detect before the food is served. Additionally, the risk of food-borne
illness may also increase whenever our food is served outside of our control, such as by third-party delivery services.

Regardless of the source or cause, any report of food-borne illnesses or food safety issues, whether or not accurate, at one or more of our restaurants, including
restaurants operated by our franchisees, could adversely affect our brands and reputation, which in turn could result in reduced guest traffic and lower sales. If any of our guests
become ill from food-borne illnesses, we could be liable for certain damages or forced to temporarily close one or more restaurants or choose to close as a preventative measure
if we suspect there was a pathogen in our restaurants. Furthermore, any instances of food contamination, whether or not at our restaurants, could subject us or our suppliers to
voluntary or involuntary food recalls and the costs to conduct such recalls could be significant and could interrupt supply to unaffected restaurants or increase the cost of
ingredients.

Increased food commodity and energy costs, as well as shortages or interruptions, could decrease our restaurant-level operating profit margins or cause us to limit or
otherwise modify our menu, which could adversely affect our business.

Our profitability depends, in part, on our ability to anticipate and react to changes in the price and availability of food commodities, including, among other things:
beef, poultry, grains, dairy and produce. Prices have been, and may continue to be, affected due to market changes, increased competition, the general risk of inflation, shortages
or interruptions in supply due to weather, climate change, international military conflicts, trade sanctions, economic embargoes or boycotts, disease or other conditions beyond
our control, or other reasons. Our business and margins have been negatively affected by, and we expect it to be continued to be negatively affected by, among other items,
inflation, supply chain difficulties, labor shortages and other price increases.

This and other events could increase commodity prices, cause shortages that could affect the cost and quality of the items we buy or require us to further raise prices or
limit our menu options. These events, combined with other more general economic and demographic conditions, could impact our pricing and negatively affect our restaurant
sales and restaurant-level operating profit margins. There can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to partially offset inflation and other changes in the costs of core
operating resources as a result of gradually increased menu prices, more efficient purchasing practices, productivity improvements and greater economies of scale in the future.

From time to time, competitive conditions could limit our menu pricing flexibility. There can be no assurance that future cost increases can be offset by increased
menu prices or that increased menu prices will be fully absorbed by our guests without any resulting change to their visit frequencies or purchasing patterns. In addition, there
can be no assurance that we will generate same-store sales growth in an amount sufficient to offset inflationary or other cost pressures.

Shortages or interruptions in the supply of food products caused by problems in production or distribution, inclement weather, unanticipated demand or other
conditions could adversely affect the availability, quality and cost of ingredients, which would adversely affect our operating results. For instance, our burgers depend on the
availability of our proprietary ground beef blend. If there is an interruption of operation at our national grinder’s facility, we face an immediate risk because each restaurant
typically has less than three days of beef patty inventory on hand. Any such material disruption would adversely affect our business.

Labor shortages or difficulty finding qualified employees could slow our growth, harm our business and reduce our profitability.
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Restaurant operations are highly service oriented, and our success depends in part upon the Company’s and our franchisees’ ability to attract, retain and motivate a
sufficient number of qualified employees, including restaurant managers and other crew members. The market for qualified employees in our industry is very competitive. Any
future inability to recruit and retain qualified individuals may delay the planned openings of new restaurants and could adversely impact our existing restaurants, both corporate-
owned and franchised. Any such delays, material increases in employee turnover rate in existing restaurants or widespread employee dissatisfaction could have a material
adverse effect on our and our franchisees’ business and results of operations. In addition, strikes, work slowdowns or other job actions may become more common in the United
States. Although none of the employees employed by us or our franchisees are represented by a labor union or are covered by a collective bargaining agreement, in the event of
a strike, work slowdown or other labor unrest, the ability to adequately staff our restaurants could be impaired, which could result in reduced revenue and customer claims, and
may distract our management from focusing on our business and strategic priorities.

The digital and delivery business, and expansion thereof, is uncertain and subject to risk.

Digital innovation and growth remain a focus for us. Our continuous investment in a sophisticated technology infrastructure, we believe, has enabled us to strategically
anticipate and execute against significant industry-wide changes. We utilize advanced technology to analyze, communicate and tactically execute in virtually all aspects of the
business. We have executed upon our digital strategy over the past few years, including the development and launch of our app, licensing agreements regarding ghost or cloud
kitchens and using various third-party delivery partners, including partnerships with Uber Eats, DoorDash, Postmates and Grubhub. As the digital space around us continues to
evolve, our technology needs to evolve concurrently to stay competitive with the industry. If we do not maintain digital systems that are competitive with the industry, our
digital business may be adversely affected and could damage our sales. We rely on third parties for our ordering and payment platforms relating to our mobile app and ghost
kitchens. Such services performed by these third parties could be damaged or interrupted by technological issues, which could then result in a loss of sales for a period of time.
Information processed by these third parties could also be impacted by cyber-attacks, which could not only negatively impact our sales, but also harm our brand image.

Recognizing the rise in delivery services offered throughout the restaurant industry, we understand the importance of providing such services to guests wherever and
whenever they want. We have invested in marketing to promote our delivery partnerships, which could negatively impact profitability if the business does not continue to
expand. We rely on third parties, including Uber Eats, DoorDash, Postmates and Grubhub, to fulfill delivery orders timely and in a fashion that will satisfy guests. Errors in
providing adequate delivery services may result in guest dissatisfaction, which could also result in loss of guest retention, loss in sales and damage to our brand image.
Additionally, as with any third-party handling food, such delivery services increase the risk of food tampering while in transit. We are also subject to risk if there is a shortage of
delivery drivers, which could result in a failure to meet guests’ expectations. Third-party delivery services within the restaurant industry are a competitive environment and
include a number of players competing for market share. If our third-party delivery partners fail to effectively compete with other third-party delivery providers in the sector,
delivery business may suffer, resulting in a loss of sales. If any third-party delivery provider we partner with experiences damage to their brand image, we may also see
ramifications due to our association with them.

Additionally, some of our competitors have greater financial resources to spend on marketing and advertising around their digital and delivery campaigns than we
have. Should our competitors increase their spend in these areas, or if our advertising and promotions are less effective than our competitors, there could be an adverse impact
on our business in this space. As delivery, as well as the associations we have made in connection with delivery, is still a new concept, it is difficult for us to anticipate its
impact to our sales as well as the challenges we may face in the future.

We face significant competition for guests, and if we are unable to compete effectively, our business could be adversely affected.

The restaurant industry is intensely competitive with many well-established companies that compete directly and indirectly with us with respect to taste, price, food
quality, service, value, design and location. We compete in the restaurant industry with multi-unit national, regional and locally owned and/or operated limited-service
restaurants and full-service restaurants. We compete with (1) restaurants, (2) other fast casual restaurants, (3) quick service restaurants and (4) casual dining restaurants. We
may also compete with companies outside of the traditional restaurant industry, such as grocery store chains, meal subscription services and delicatessens, especially those that
target customers who seek high-quality food, as well as convenience food stores, cafeterias and other dining outlets.
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Many of our competitors have existed longer than we have and may have a more established market presence, better locations and greater name recognition nationally
or in some of the local markets in which we operate or plan to open restaurants. Some of our competitors may also have significantly greater financial, marketing, personnel and
other resources than we do. They may also operate more restaurants than we do and may be able to take advantage of greater economies of scale than we can given our current
size.

Our competition continues to intensify as new competitors enter the burger and premium pizza, fast-casual, quick service and casual dining segments. Many of our
competitors emphasize low cost “value meal” menu options or other programs that provide price discounts on their menu offerings, a strategy we do not currently pursue. We
also face increasing competitive pressures from some of our competitors with initiatives to offer better quality ingredients, such as antibiotic-free meat. Our continued success
depends, in part, on the continued popularity of our menu and the experience we offer guests at our restaurants. If we are unable to continue to compete effectively, customer
traffic, restaurant sales and restaurant-level operating profit margins could decline, and our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

We are subject to risks associated with leasing property subject to long-term non-cancelable leases.

We do not own any real property, and all of our domestic corporate-owned restaurants are located on leased premises. The leases for our restaurants generally have
initial terms ranging from ten to twenty years and typically provide for two to four five-year renewal options as well as rent escalations. Generally, our leases are net leases that
require us to pay our share of the costs of real estate taxes, utilities, building operating expenses, insurance and other charges in addition to rent. We generally cannot cancel
these leases. Additional sites that we lease are likely to be subject to similar long-term non-cancelable leases.

If we close a restaurant, we may still be obligated to perform our monetary obligations under the applicable lease, including, among other things, payment of the base
rent for the remaining lease term. In addition, as each of our leases expire, we may fail to negotiate renewals, either on commercially-acceptable terms or at all, which could
cause us to close restaurants in desirable locations. We depend on cash flows from operations to pay our lease expenses and to fulfill other cash needs. If our business does not
generate sufficient cash flow from operating activities, and sufficient funds are not otherwise available to us from borrowings or other sources, we may not be able to service our
lease obligations or fund our other liquidity and capital needs, which would materially affect our business.

Restaurant companies have been the target of class action lawsuits and other proceedings that are costly, divert management attention and, if successful, could result in
our payment of substantial damages or settlement costs.

Our business is subject to the risk of, and we are party to, including a shareholder class action lawsuit, litigation by employees, guests, suppliers, franchisees,
stockholders or others through private actions, class actions, administrative proceedings, regulatory actions, or other litigation. The outcome of litigation, particularly class
action and regulatory actions, is difficult to assess or quantify.

In recent years, restaurant companies have been subject to lawsuits, including class action lawsuits, alleging violations of federal and state laws regarding workplace
and employment matters, discrimination, and similar matters. A number of these lawsuits have resulted in the payment of substantial damages by the defendants. Similar
lawsuits have been instituted from time to time alleging violations of various federal and state wage and hour laws regarding, among other things, employee meal deductions,
overtime eligibility of assistant managers and failure to pay for all hours worked.

Additionally, our guests could file complaints or lawsuits against us alleging that we are responsible for some illness or injury they suffered at or after a visit to one of
our restaurants, including actions seeking damages resulting from food-borne illnesses or accidents in our restaurants. We are also subject to a variety of other claims from third
parties arising in the ordinary course of our business, including contract claims.

The restaurant industry has also been subject to a growing number of claims that the menus and actions of restaurant chains have led to the obesity of certain of their
customers. Regardless of whether any claims against us are valid or whether we are liable, claims may be expensive to defend and may divert time and money away from our
operations. In addition, they may generate negative publicity, which could reduce guest traffic and restaurant sales. Insurance may not be available at all or in sufficient amounts
with respect to these or other matters.
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A judgment or other liability in excess of our insurance coverage for any claims or any adverse publicity resulting from claims could adversely affect our business and
results of operations.

Our business is subject to risks related to its sale of alcoholic beverages.

We serve beer and wine at most of our restaurants. Alcoholic beverage control regulations generally require our restaurants to apply to a state authority and, in certain
locations, county or municipal authorities for a license that must be renewed annually and may be revoked or suspended for cause at any time. Alcoholic beverage control
regulations relate to numerous aspects of daily operations of our restaurants, including minimum age of patrons and employees, hours of operation, advertising, trade practices,
wholesale purchasing, other relationships with alcohol manufacturers, wholesalers and distributors, inventory control and handling, and the storage and dispensing of alcoholic
beverages.

Any future failure to comply with these regulations and obtain or retain licenses could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We
are also subject in certain states to “dram shop” statutes, which generally provide a person injured by an intoxicated person the right to recover damages from an establishment
that wrongfully served alcoholic beverages to the intoxicated person.

We carry liquor liability coverage as part of our existing comprehensive general liability insurance. Litigation against restaurant chains has resulted in significant
judgments and settlements under dram shop statutes. Because these cases often seek punitive damages, which may not be covered by insurance, such litigation could have an
adverse impact on our business, results of operations or financial condition. Regardless of whether any claims against us are valid or whether we are liable, claims may be
expensive to defend and may divert time and resources away from operations and hurt our financial performance. A judgment significantly in excess of our insurance coverage
or not covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

GENERAL RISK FACTORS

The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected and could continue to adversely affect our financial results, condition, and outlook

The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted economic conditions in the United States, where most of our restaurants are located. The Company has
experienced, and may continue to experience, impacts from COVID-19, as federal, state and local governments may continue to react to the public health crisis by encouraging
or requiring social distancing, instituting stay-at-home orders and requiring, in varying degrees, restaurant dine-in limitations, capacity limitations or other restrictions. It is
possible that further outbreaks could limit a steady recovery seen by the Company because of consumer behavior to off-premises dining and promotional activities associated
with delivery. The Company continues to monitor the spread of new variants. Despite a recent decline in cases, hospitalizations and deaths in large portions of the United States,
mask mandates, social-distancing, travel restrictions and stay-at-home orders could be reinstated in locations where we are located. Although the pandemic has presented
challenges, it has also caused us to undertake and accelerate certain growth initiatives, such as new digital capabilities. By positioning ourselves to expand access, safety, and
convenience of our customers, we believe that we are positioned to return to growth. An extended period of economic disruption, however, could have a material adverse impact
on our business, results of operations, access to sources of liquidity and overall financial condition.

Security breaches of either confidential guest information in connection with, among other things, our electronic processing of credit and debit card transactions or mobile
ordering app, or confidential employee information may adversely affect our business.

Our business requires the collection, transmission and retention of large volumes of guest and employee data, including credit and debit card numbers and other
personally identifiable information, in various information technology systems that we maintain and in those maintained by third parties with whom we contract to provide
services. The integrity and protection of that guest and employee data is critical to us. The techniques and sophistication used to conduct cyber-attacks and breaches of
information technology systems, as well as the sources and targets of these attacks, change frequently and are often not recognized until such attacks are launched or have been
in place for a period of time. Our information technology networks and infrastructure or those of our third-party vendors and other service providers could be vulnerable to
damage, disruptions, shutdowns or breaches of confidential information due to criminal conduct, employee error or malfeasance, utility failures, natural disasters or other
catastrophic events. Due to these scenarios, we cannot provide assurance that we will be successful in preventing such breaches or data loss.

21



Table of Contents

Additionally, the information, security and privacy requirements imposed by governmental regulation are increasingly demanding. Our systems may not be able to
satisfy these changing requirements or may require significant additional investments or time to do so. Efforts to hack or breach security measures, failures of systems or
software to operate as designed or intended, viruses, operator error or inadvertent releases of data all threaten our and our service providers’ information systems and records. A
breach in the security of our information technology systems or those of our service providers could lead to an interruption in the operation of our systems, resulting in
operational inefficiencies and a loss of profits. Additionally, a significant theft, loss or misappropriation of, or access to, guests’ or other proprietary data or other breach of our
information technology systems could result in fines, legal claims or proceedings, including regulatory investigations and actions, or liability for failure to comply with privacy
and information security laws, which could disrupt our operations, damage our reputation and expose us to claims from guests and employees, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

If we experience a material failure or interruption in our systems, our business could be adversely impacted.

Our ability to efficiently and effectively manage our business depends significantly on the reliability and capacity of our information technology systems. Our
operations depend upon our ability to protect our computer equipment and systems against damage from physical theft, fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, or other
catastrophic events, as well as from internal and external security breaches, viruses and other disruptive problems. The failure of these systems to operate effectively,
maintenance problems, upgrading or transitioning to new platforms, expanding our systems as we grow or a breach in security of these systems could result in interruptions to or
delays in our business and guest service and reduce efficiency in our operations. If our information technology systems fail and our redundant systems or disaster recovery
plans are not adequate to address such failures, our revenue and profits could be reduced, and the reputation of our brand and our business could be materially adversely
affected. In addition, remediation of such problems could result in significant, unplanned capital investments. Additionally, as we continue to evolve our digital platforms and
enhance our internal systems, we place increasing reliance on third parties to provide infrastructure and other support services. We may be adversely affected if any of our third-
party service providers experience any interruptions in their systems, which then could potentially impact the services we receive from them and cause a material failure or
interruption in our own systems.

We depend on key members of our executive management team.

We depend on the leadership and experience of key members of our executive management team. The loss of the services of any of our executive management team
members could have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects, as we may not be able to find suitable individuals to replace such personnel on a timely basis or
without incurring increased costs, or at all. We do not maintain key person life insurance policies on any of our executive officers. We believe that our future success will
depend on our continued ability to attract and retain highly skilled and qualified personnel. There is a high level of competition for experienced, successful personnel in our
industry. Our inability to meet our executive staffing requirements in the future could impair our growth and harm our business.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property, which, in turn, could harm the value of our brands and adversely affect our business.

Our ability to implement our business plan successfully depends in part on our ability to further build brand recognition using our trademarks, service marks,
proprietary products and other intellectual property, including our name and logos and the unique character and atmosphere of our restaurants. We rely on United States and
foreign trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, as well as franchise agreements, non-disclosure agreements, and confidentiality and other contractual provisions to protect
our intellectual property. Nevertheless, our competitors may develop similar menu items and concepts, and adequate remedies may not be available in the event of an
unauthorized use or disclosure of our trade secrets and other intellectual property. We may not be able to adequately protect our trademarks and service marks, and our
competitors and others may successfully challenge the validity and/or enforceability of our trademarks and service marks and other intellectual property.

Additionally, we may be prohibited from entering into certain new markets due to restrictions surrounding competitors’ trademarks. The steps we have taken to protect
our intellectual property in the United States and in foreign countries may not be adequate. We may also from time to time be required to institute litigation to enforce our
trademarks, service marks and other intellectual property. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could negatively affect our sales,
profitability and prospects regardless of whether we are able to successfully enforce our rights.
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Our insurance coverage may not provide adequate levels of coverage against claims.

We maintain various insurance policies for employee health, workers’ compensation, general liability, and property damage. We believe that we maintain insurance
customary for businesses of our size and type. However, there are types of losses we may incur that cannot be insured against or that we believe are not economically
reasonable to insure. Such losses could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

REGULATORY AND LEGAL RISKS

We are subject to many federal, state and local laws, as well as other statutory and regulatory requirements, with which compliance is both costly and complex. Failure to
comply with, or changes in these laws or requirements, could have an adverse impact on our business.

We are subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations, as well as other statutory and regulatory requirements, including those related to: (1)
nutritional content labeling and disclosure requirements; (2) food safety regulations; (3) local licensure, building and zoning regulations; (4) employment regulations; (5) the
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (the “PPACA”); (6) the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA ") and similar state laws; (7) privacy and cybersecurity; and
(8) laws and regulations related to our franchised operations. The impact of current laws and regulations, the effect of future changes in laws or regulations that impose
additional requirements and the consequences of litigation relating to current or future laws and regulations, uncertainty around future changes in laws made by new regulatory
administrations or our inability to respond effectively to significant regulatory or public policy issues, could increase our compliance and other costs of doing business and,
therefore, have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

Failure to comply with the laws and regulatory requirements of federal, state and local authorities could result in, among other things, revocation of required licenses,
administrative enforcement actions, fines and civil and criminal liability. In addition, certain laws, including the ADA, could require us to expend significant funds to make
modifications to our restaurants if we fail to comply with applicable standards. Compliance with all of these laws and regulations can be costly and can increase our exposure to
litigation or governmental investigations or proceedings.

Failure to comply with laws and regulations relating to our franchised operations could negatively affect our licensing sales and our relationships with our franchisees.

Our franchised operations are subject to laws enacted by a number of states, rules and regulations promulgated by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission and certain rules
and requirements regulating licensing activities in foreign countries. Failure to comply with new or existing franchising laws, rules and regulations in any jurisdiction or to
obtain required government approvals could negatively affect our licensing sales and our relationships with our franchisees.

Nutritional content labeling and disclosure requirements may change consumer buying habits in a way that adversely impacts our sales.

In recent years, there has been an increased legislative, regulatory and consumer focus on the food industry, including nutritional and advertising practices. These
changes have resulted in, and may continue to result in, the enactment of laws and regulations that impact the ingredients and nutritional content of our menu offerings, or laws
and regulations requiring us to disclose the nutritional content of our food offerings. For example, a number of states, counties and cities have enacted menu labeling laws
requiring multi-unit restaurant operators to disclose certain nutritional information to customers or have enacted legislation restricting the use of certain types of ingredients in
restaurants.

Furthermore, the PPACA establishes a uniform, federal requirement for certain restaurants to post certain nutritional information on their menus. Specifically, the
PPACA amended the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act to require certain chain restaurants to publish the total number of calories of standard menu items on menus and
menu boards, along with a statement that puts this calorie information in the context of a total daily calorie intake. These new labeling laws may also change consumer buying
habits in a way that adversely impacts our sales. Additionally, an unfavorable report on, or reaction to, our menu ingredients, the size of our portions or the nutritional content
of our menu items could negatively influence the demand for our offerings.

Failure to comply with local licensure, building and zoning regulations could adversely affect our business.

23



Table of Contents

The development and operation of restaurants depend, to a significant extent, on the selection of suitable sites, which are subject to zoning, land use, environmental,
traffic, liquor laws, and other regulations and requirements. We also are subject to licensing and regulation by state and local authorities relating to health, sanitation, safety, and
fire standards. Typically, licenses, permits and approvals under such laws and regulations must be renewed annually and may be revoked, suspended, or denied renewal for
cause at any time if governmental authorities determine that our conduct violates applicable regulations. Difficulties or failure to maintain or obtain the required licenses,
permits and approvals could adversely affect our existing restaurants and delay or result in our decision to cancel the opening of new restaurants, which would adversely affect
our business.

Failure to comply with privacy and cybersecurity laws and regulations could cause us to face litigation and penalties that could adversely affect our business, financial
conditions and results of operations.

Our business requires the collection, transmission and retention of large volumes of guest and employee data, including credit and debit card numbers and other
personally identifiable information, in various information technology systems that we maintain and in those maintained by third parties with whom we contract to provide
services. The collection and use of such information are regulated at the federal and state levels. Regulatory requirements, both domestic and abroad, have been changing and
increasing regulation relating to the privacy, security, and protection of data. Such regulatory requirements may become more prevalent in other states and jurisdictions as well.
It is our responsibility to ensure that we are complying with these laws by taking the appropriate measures as well as monitoring our practices as these laws continue to evolve.

As our environment continues to evolve in this digital age and reliance upon new technologies, for example, cloud computing and its digital methods of ordering,
become more prevalent, it is imperative we secure the private and sensitive information we collect. Failure to do so, whether through fault of our own information systems or
those of outsourced third-party providers, could not only cause us to fail to comply with these laws and regulations, but also could cause us to face litigation and penalties that
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our brand’s reputation and our image as an employer could also be harmed by these types of
security breaches or regulatory violations.

Changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax returns could adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition.

We are subject to taxes by the U.S. federal, state, local and foreign tax authorities, and our tax liabilities will be affected by the allocation of expenses to differing
jurisdictions. Our future effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors, including: (1) changes in the valuation of our deferred tax
assets and liabilities; (2) expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowance; (3) tax effects of stock-based compensation; and (4) changes in tax laws,
regulations, or interpretations thereof. We may also be subject to audits of our income, sales and other transaction taxes by U.S. federal, state, local and foreign taxing
authorities. Outcomes from these audits could have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

An “ownership change” could limit our ability to utilize tax loss and credit carryforwards to offset future taxable income.

We have certain general business credit tax credits (“7Tax Attributes”). Our ability to use these Tax Attributes to offset future taxable income may be significantly
limited if we experience an “ownership change,” as discussed below. Under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("IRC" or "Internal Revenue Code"), and
regulations promulgated by the U.S. Treasury Department, we may carry forward or otherwise utilize the Tax Attributes in certain circumstances to offset any current and future
taxable income and thus reduce our federal income tax liability, subject to certain requirements and restrictions. To the extent that the Tax Attributes do not otherwise become
limited, we believe that we will have available a significant amount of Tax Attributes in future years, and therefore the Tax Attributes could be a substantial asset to us.
However, if we experience an “ownership change,” as defined in Section 382 of the IRC, our ability to use the Tax Attributes may be substantially limited, and the timing of the
usage of the Tax Attributes could be substantially delayed, which could therefore significantly impair the value of that asset
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In general, an “ownership change” under Section 382 occurs if the percentage of stock owned by an entity’s 5% stockholders (as defined for tax purposes) increases by
more than 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. An entity that experiences an ownership change generally will be subject to an annual limitation on its pre-
ownership change tax loss and credit carryforwards equal to the equity value of the entity immediately before the ownership change, multiplied by the long-term, tax-exempt
rate posted monthly by the IRS (subject to certain adjustments). The annual limitation would be increased each year to the extent that there is an unused limitation in a prior
year. The limitation on our ability to utilize the Tax Attributes arising from an ownership change under Section 382 of the IRC would depend on the value of our equity at the
time of any ownership change. If we were to experience an “ownership change,” it is possible that a significant portion of our tax loss and credit carryforwards could expire
before we would be able to use them to offset future taxable income.

If we fail to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial information or comply with Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 could be impaired, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and stock price.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), and
the listing standards of Nasdaq. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting. It also requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure of any material
weaknesses in such controls. As an emerging growth company, if we become a large accelerated filer or when we are no longer an emerging growth company and become an
accelerated filer, we will be required to have our independent registered public accounting firm provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of its internal control over
financial reporting. To maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we anticipate that we will
expend significant resources, including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will
continue to increase our legal, accounting and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time consuming and costly, and place significant strain on our
personnel, systems and resources.

Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could harm our operating results or
cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting also could adversely affect the results of management evaluations and independent registered public accounting firm audits of our
internal control over financial reporting that we may become required to include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which may have a negative
effect on the trading price of our common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on Nasdaq.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and if we fail to maintain an effective system of internal control in the future this
may adversely affect the accuracy and reliability of future financial statements, and our reputation, business, and the price of our common stock, as well as may lead to a
loss of investor confidence in us.

As disclosed under Item 9A. Controls and Procedures, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021, management concluded that there
was a material weakness in internal control in relation to the accounting for income taxes as of December 31, 2021 and material weaknesses in our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2020.

The material weakness for the year ended December 31, 2021 was identified through management's assessment of internal controls over financial reporting for the year
ended December 31, 2021. Although management did not conduct a formal assessment of internal control over financial reporting in connection with the audit of our financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, management identified a number of material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, as follows:

« lack of controls over the financial closing and reporting process relating to a sufficient segregation of duties in the preparation of our financial statements and related
notes, and, for the Successor period, the valuation and recognition of stock-based compensation and warrant liabilities;
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e lack of resources to perform and review the application of accounting standards for revenue, leases, and variable interest entities "VIEs");

»  specifically with respect to VIEs, our internal control over financial reporting failed to detect errors related to consolidating variable interest entities for which we are the
primary beneficiary;

* lack of effective controls over the accounting for deferred rent and accounting for initial franchise fees and brand development revenue in connection with the adoption
of our new revenue recognition standard; and

* lack of controls during the Successor period related to the valuation of contingent consideration issued in the BurgerFi acquisition.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we completed the remediation measures related to prior year material weaknesses. However, we concluded that our
internal controls over financial reporting were not effective as of December 31, 2021 as a result of the material weakness that was identified in relation to accounting for income
taxes. Completion of remediation does not provide assurance that our remediation or other controls will continue to operate properly. Failure to maintain effective internal
controls over financial reporting may adversely affect the accuracy and reliability of our financial statements and have other consequences that may materially and adversely
affect our business, including an adverse impact on the market price of our common stock, potential actions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities,
possible defaults under our credit agreement, shareholder lawsuits, a loss of investor confidence, and damage to our reputation.

We have significant stockholders whose interests may differ from those of our public stockholders.

As of December 31, 2021, approximately 52.4% of the voting power of our common stock was held, directly or indirectly, by our current board of directors, executive
officers and greater than 5% beneficial owners. In addition, we are party to the Director Voting Agreement, which we entered into on December 16, 2020, with our sponsor, LH
Equities, LLC (the “Sponsor”), certain of the initial stockholders (the “Initial Stockholders”) who held founders’ shares (the “Founders’ Shares”) prior to the initial public
offering (“IPO ") of Opes, the Members and our then-serving officers and directors (the “Voting Agreement”). Pursuant to the Voting Agreement, all such stockholders agree to
vote their shares of the Company in favor of the current members of the Board of Directors, comprised of Ophir Sternberg, Allison Greenfield, Vivian Lopez-Blanco, Gregory
Mann and Martha Stewart, or, if any of them ceases to serve as a director, such other person designated by our Executive Chairman, in consultation with John Rosatti. In
addition, in connection with the Anthony's acquisition, on November 3, 2021, we entered into an additional Voting Agreement with Cardboard, Ophir Sternberg and Lionheart
Equities, LLC ("Lionheart Equities”), pursuant to which all such stockholders agreed to vote their shares of the Company in favor of Ophir Sternberg, Allison Greenfield,
Vivian Lopez-Blanco, Gregory Mann, Martha Stewart and Andrew Taub (or any successor director designee of Cardboard) for a period of one year from the date of the closing
of the Anthony's acquisition (the "Anthony's Closing").

Certain of these stockholders, for the foreseeable future, have influence over corporate management and affairs, as well as matters requiring stockholder approval, and
they will be able to, subject to applicable law and the Voting Agreement, participate in the election of the members of our board of directors, including amendments to the
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and our Amended and Restated Bylaws and approval of significant corporate transactions, including mergers and sales of
substantially all of our assets. Our board of directors will have the authority, subject to the terms of our indebtedness and applicable rules and regulations, to issue additional
stock, implement stock repurchase programs, declare dividends and make other decisions.

It is possible that the interests of these stockholders may in some circumstances conflict with our interests and the interests of our other stockholders. This could
influence their decisions, including with regard to whether and when to dispose of assets and whether and when to incur new or refinance existing indebtedness. In addition, the
determination of future tax reporting positions, the structuring of future transactions and the handling of any future challenges by any taxing authorities to our tax reporting
positions may take into consideration these stockholders’ tax or other considerations, which may differ from our considerations or those of our other stockholders.

Our anti-takeover provisions could prevent or delay a change in control of the Company, even if such change in control would be beneficial to our stockholders.
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Provisions of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could discourage,
delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control of the Company, even if such change in control would be beneficial to our stockholders. These provisions
include: (1) the authority to issue “blank check™ preferred stock that could be issued by our board of directors to increase the number of outstanding shares and thwart a
takeover attempt; (2) our classified board of directors, which provides that not all members of our board of directors are elected at one time; (3) prohibitions regarding the use
of cumulative voting for the election of directors; (4) limitations on the ability of stockholders to call special meetings or amend our Amended and Restated Bylaws; (5)
requirements that all stockholder actions be taken at a meeting of our stockholders; and (6) advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or
for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and cause us to take other
corporate actions. In addition, because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions could in turn affect any
attempt by our stockholders to replace current members of our management team. In addition, Delaware law, to which the Company is subject, prohibits it, except under
specified circumstances, from engaging in any mergers, significant sales of stock or assets or business combinations with any stockholder or group of stockholders who owns at
least 15% of its common stock.

The provision of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation requiring exclusive venue in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware for certain types of
lawsuits may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation includes an exclusive venue provision. This provision requires, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that (1)
any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of our Company, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or
other employees to us or our stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of Delaware General Corporation Law or our Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the Amended and Restated Bylaws, or (5) any action asserting a claim against us governed by the internal affairs doctrine will have
to be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware.

This choice-of-forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with the Company or its
directors, officers or other employees and may result in increased costs to a stockholder who has to bring a claim in a forum that is not convenient to the stockholder, which may
discourage such lawsuits. If a court were to find the exclusive forum provision of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation inapplicable or unenforceable with
respect to one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and result in a diversion of the time and resources of our management and board of
directors.

As a “smaller reporting company” we are permitted to provide less disclosure than larger public companies, which may make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are currently a “smaller reporting company,” as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. As a smaller reporting company, we are eligible to take advantage of
certain exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies. Consequently, it may be more challenging for investors to analyze our results of
operations and financial prospects, which may result in less investor confidence. Investors may find our common stock less attractive as a result of our smaller reporting
company status. If some investors find our common stock less attractive, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock, and our stock price may be more
volatile.

We are an emerging growth company within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we take advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to
emerging growth companies, this could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to compare our performance with other public
companies.
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The Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (“JOBS Act”) permits “emerging growth companies” like us to take advantage of certain exemptions from various
reporting requirements applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. As long as we qualify as an emerging growth company, we would be
permitted, and we intend to, omit the auditor’s attestation on internal control over financial reporting that would otherwise be required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as described
above. We also intend to take advantage of the exemption provided under the JOBS Act from the requirements to submit say-on-pay, say-on-frequency and say-on-golden
parachute votes to our stockholders, and we will avail ourselves of reduced executive compensation disclosure that is already available to smaller reporting companies.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that we can take advantage of the exemption from complying with new or revised accounting standards
provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act as long as we are an emerging growth company. An emerging growth company can therefore delay the adoption of certain
accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have elected to take advantage of these benefits until we are no longer an emerging
growth company or until we affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of this exemption. Our financial statements may therefore not be comparable to those of companies that
comply with such new or revised accounting standards.

We will continue to be an emerging growth company until the earliest to occur of (1) the last day of the fiscal year during which we had total annual gross revenue of at
least $1.07 billion (as indexed for inflation), (2) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of securities by OPES at its initial public
offering on March 16, 2018, (3) the date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt, or (4) the date on which
we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer,” as defined under the Exchange Act.

Until such time that we lose “emerging growth company” status, it is unclear if investors will find our securities less attractive because we may rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our securities, and our stock prices may be more volatile
and could cause our stock prices to decline.

We may be unable to maintain the listing of our securities in the future.

If we fail to meet the continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq, we could face significant material adverse consequences, including: (1) a limited availability of
market quotations for our securities; (2) reduced liquidity with respect to our securities; (3) a determination that our shares are a “penny stock” if they are not already determined
to be a “penny stock” at the time of such failure to meet such requirements, which will require brokers trading in our securities to adhere to more stringent rules, possibly
resulting in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for our securities; (4) a limited amount of news and analyst coverage for us; and (5) a decreased
ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR CAPITAL STOCK
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us, our business, our market,
or our competitors. Securities and industry analysts do not currently, and may never, publish research on the Company. Research coverage from industry analysts may be
limited. If no securities or industry analysts commence coverage of us, our stock price and trading volume could be negatively impacted. If any of the analysts who may cover
us change their recommendation regarding our stock adversely, provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors or publish inaccurate or unfavorable
research about our business, our stock price would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us ceases coverage of us or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for
our stock could decrease, which could cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.

A significant number of shares of our common stock are subject to issuance upon exercise of the outstanding warrants, which upon such exercise may result in dilution to
our security holders.
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Outstanding warrants (including (A) warrants to purchase shares of common stock, at an exercise price of $11.50 per share, issued in connection with the IPO (the
“Public Warrants”’) and (B)(i) warrants to purchase shares of common stock, at an exercise price of $11.50 per share, which consist of warrants that are part of the units issued
to Lion Point Capital, L.P. ("Lion Point") and Lionheart Equities, under the Amended and Restated Forward Purchase Contracts that the Company entered into, at the time of
the BurgerFi acquisition, with Lion Point and Lionheart Equities, (ii) private placement warrants and (iii) working capital warrants, all of which were issued pursuant to private
placement exemptions (together with (i) and (ii), the “Private Warrants”)) and warrants exercisable for shares underlying units outstanding pursuant to the unit purchase option
to purchase units of the Company issued to EarlyBirdCapital and its designees in connection with the IPO (the “Unit Purchase Option”) to purchase shares of our common
stock are exercisable at a price of $11.50 per share. Refer to Note 13 Stockholders' Equity as it relates to the number of warrants and options outstanding as of year end. To the
extent such warrants are exercised, additional shares of our common stock will be issued, which will result in dilution to our existing holders of common stock and increase the
number of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales of substantial numbers of such shares in the public market could adversely affect the market price of our
common stock.

The Company’s shares of common stock are currently deemed a “penny stock,” which may make it more difficult for investors to sell their common stock.

The SEC has adopted regulations which generally define “penny stock” to be any equity security that has a market price less than $5.00 per common share or an
exercise price of less than $5.00 per common share, subject to certain exceptions. The Company’s securities are covered by the penny stock rules, which impose additional sales
practice requirements on broker-dealers who sell to persons other than established customers and “accredited investors.” The term “accredited investor” refers generally to
institutions with assets in excess of $5,000,000 or individuals with a net worth in excess of $1,000,000, exclusive of their principal residence, or annual income exceeding
$200,000 or $300,000 jointly with their spouse. The penny stock rules require a broker-dealer, prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from the rules, to
deliver a standardized risk disclosure document in a form prepared by the SEC which provides information about penny stocks and the nature and level of risks in the penny
stock market. The broker-dealer also must provide the customer with current bid and offer quotations for the penny stock, the compensation of the broker-dealer and its
salesperson in the transaction and monthly account statements showing the market value of each penny stock held in the customer’s account. The bid and offer quotations and
the broker-dealer and salesperson compensation information must be given to the customer orally or in writing prior to effecting the transaction and must be given to the
customer in writing before or with the customer’s confirmation. In addition, the penny stock rules require that prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from
these rules, the broker-dealer must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and receive the purchaser’s written
agreement to the transaction. These disclosure requirements may have the effect of reducing the level of trading activity in the secondary market for the stock that is subject to
these penny stock rules. Consequently, these penny stock rules may affect the ability of broker-dealers to trade its securities. The Company believes that the penny stock rules
may discourage investor interest in and limit the marketability of its common stock.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market by our existing stockholders could cause our stock price to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or the perception that these sales might occur could depress the market price of our
shares of common stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that sales may have on
the prevailing market price of our common stock.

Trading volatility and the price of our common stock may be adversely affected by many factors.

Many factors are expected to affect the volatility and price of our common stock in addition to its operating results and prospects. Some of these factors, several of
which are outside our control, are the following:

* the unpredictable nature of economic and market conditions;
« governmental action or inaction in light of key indicators of economic activity or events that can significantly influence financial markets, and media reports and
commentary about economic, trade or other matters, even when the matter in question does not directly relate to our business;
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« trading activity in our common stock or trading activity in derivative instruments with respect to our common stock or debt securities, which can be affected by market
commentary (including commentary that may be unreliable or incomplete); and
* investor confidence, driven in part by expectations about our performance.

QOur common stock ranks junior to our Series A Junior Preferred Stock.

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up or Deemed Liquidation Event (as defined in the Certificate of Designation (the
“Certificate of Designation”) filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware by BurgerFi prior to the Anthony's Closing designating shares of our Preferred Stock as
Series A Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Series A Junior Preferred Stock”), the holders of Series A Junior Preferred Stock are entitled to be paid out of the
assets of the Company available for distribution to its stockholders before any payment is made to the holders of our common stock.

The rights of our holders of common stock to participate in the distribution of our assets rank junior to the prior claims of our current and future creditors, the Series A
Junior Preferred Stock and any future series or class of preferred stock we may issue that ranks senior to our common stock. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation authorizes us to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share, in one or more series on terms determined by our board of
directors. As a result of the Anthony's acquisition, shares of Series A Junior Preferred Stock were issued.

The issuance of Series A Junior Preferred Stock in connection with the Anthony's acquisition and any other future offerings of debt or senior equity securities may
adversely affect the market price of our common stock. If we decide to issue debt or senior equity securities in the future, it is possible that these securities will be governed by
an indenture or other instrument containing covenants restricting our operating flexibility. The Series A Junior Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Common Stock and may be
redeemed at the option of the Company at any time and must be redeemed by the Company in limited circumstances.

Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable securities that we issue in the future may have rights, preferences and privileges more favorable than those of the Series
A Junior Preferred Stock or common stock and may result in dilution to holders of the Series A Junior Preferred Stock or common stock. We and, indirectly, our stockholders
will bear the cost of issuing and servicing such securities. Because our decision to issue debt or equity securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and
other factors beyond our control, we do not know the amount, timing or nature of any future offerings. Thus, holders of the Series A Junior Preferred Stock and common stock
will bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the market price of our capital securities and diluting the value of their holdings in us.

The Series A Junior Preferred Stock is entitled to both preference dividends and participating dividends and no dividends, may be declared or paid on our common stock
until (i) such preference dividends and participating dividends have been paid in full or (ii) all such dividends have been declared and a sum sufficient for the payment of
them has been set aside for the benefit of the holders of the Series A Junior Preferred Stock.

The terms of the Series A Junior Preferred Stock place significant limitations on our ability to pay dividends on shares of our common stock, and payments made on
the Series A Junior Preferred Stock are expected to significantly reduce or eliminate any cash that we might otherwise have available for the payment of dividends on shares of
common stock. In particular, no dividends may be declared or paid on our common stock until (i) any accrued and unpaid preference dividends and participating dividends (as
described below) with respect to the Series A Junior Preferred Stock have been paid in full or (ii) all such dividends have been or contemporaneously are declared and a sum
sufficient for the payment of them has been or is set aside for the benefit of the holders of the Series A Junior Preferred Stock.

In addition, holders of Series A Junior Preferred Stock are entitled to participate in dividends paid to holders of our common stock to the same extent as if such holders
of Series A Junior Preferred Stock had shares of common stock in accordance with the terms of the Certificate of Designation. As a result, the success of an investment in the
common stock may depend entirely upon any future appreciation in the value of the common stock. There is no guarantee that the common stock will appreciate in value or
even maintain its initial value.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
Not applicable.
Item 2. Properties.

Our BurgerFi and Anthony's brand restaurants are primarily end-cap facilities, and, to a lesser extent in-line or free-standing. Only two of our restaurants feature a
drive-thru. As of December 31, 2021, for all of the corporate-owned restaurants, we lease the premises in which our corporate-owned restaurants are operating. Our restaurant
leases generally have initial terms of ten to twenty years, with two to four renewal options of five years each. Most restaurant leases provide for a specified annual rent, although
some call for additional or contingent rent. Generally, leases are “net leases” that require the restaurant to pay a pro rata share of property taxes, insurance and common area
maintenance costs. As of December 31, 2021, our restaurant system consisted of 179 restaurants comprised of 86 corporate-owned restaurants and 93 franchised restaurants
located in the United States, Puerto Rico and Saudi Arabia.
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We lease our executive offices, consisting of approximately 16,500 square feet in North Palm Beach, Florida, for a term expiring in 2023, with an option to renew. In
January 2022, we exercised our right to terminate this North Palm Beach lease effective as of July 2022. Pursuant to an amended lease we entered into in February 2022, we
also lease approximately 16,500 square feet (expanding to approximately 18,500 square feet in July 2022) in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, for a term expiring in 2032, with an
option to renew. Please see Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence for information about this lease.

We believe our current office space is suitable and adequate for its intended purposes and provides opportunity for expansion. The following chart shows the number
of restaurants in each of the states in which we operated as of December 31, 2021:

Corporate- Franchise-

State Operated Operated Total

Alabama — 4 4
Alaska — 1 1
Arizona — 2 2
Colorado — 1 1
Connecticut — 2 2
Delaware 2 — 2
Florida 49 36 85
Georgia — 5 5
Illinois — 1 1
Indiana — 2 2
Kansas — 1 1
Kentucky — 3 3
Maryland 1 6 7
Massachusetts 4 — 4
Michigan — 1 1
Nevada — 1 1
New Jersey 8 — 8
New York 6 3 9
North Carolina — 5 5
Ohio — 2 2
Pennsylvania 12 2 14
Rhode Island 1 — 1
South Carolina — 3 3
Tennessee 1 1 2
Texas — 6 6
Virginia 2 2 4
Saudi Arabia — 1 1
Puerto Rico — 2 2
Total 86 93 179

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Information regarding our legal proceedings can be found under the Contingencies sections of Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included within this
report.

32



Table of Contents

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Trading Market

BurgerFi’s (formerly “OPES”), shares of common stock and public warrants, are each traded on Nasdaq, under the symbols “BFI,” and “BFIIW,” respectively. Each
Public Warrant entitles the holder to purchase one share of common stock at a price of $11.50 per share. BurgerFi’s common stock and Public Warrants commenced trading on
Nasdaq on March 16, 2018.

Record Holders
As of April 11, 2022, we had 22,042,583 shares of common stock outstanding and 88 record holders of our common stock.
Dividends

BurgerFi has not paid any cash dividends on its shares of common stock to date. The payment of any dividends within the discretion of the board of directors. It is the
present intention of the board of directors to retain all earnings, if any, for use in our business operations and, accordingly, the board of directors does not anticipate declaring
any dividends in the foreseeable future.

Item 6. Reserved
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and footnotes thereto incorporated by reference included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

Overview

The Company is a leading multi-brand restaurant company that develops, markets and acquires fast-casual and premium-casual dining restaurant concepts around the
world, including corporate-owned stores and franchises. As of December 31, 2021, we were the owner and franchisor of the two following brands:

BurgerFi. BurgerFi is a fast-casual “better burger” concept, renowned for delivering an exceptional, all-natural premium “better burger” experience in a refined,
contemporary environment. BurgerFi’s chef-driven menu offerings and eco-friendly restaurant design drive our brand communication. It offers a classic American menu of
premium burgers, hot dogs, crispy chicken, frozen custard, hand-cut fries, shakes, beer, wine and more. Originally founded in 2011 in Lauderdale-by-the-Sea, Florida, the
purpose was simple — “RedeFining” the way the world eats burgers by providing an upscale burger offering, at a fast-casual price point. BurgerFi is committed to an
uncompromising and rewarding dining experience that promises fresh food of transparent quality. Since its inception, BurgerFi has grown to 118 BurgerFi locations, and as of
December 31, 2021, was comprised of 25 corporate-owned restaurants and 93 franchised restaurants in 2 countries and 22 states, as well as Puerto Rico.

BurgerFi was named “Best Fast Casual Restaurant” in USA Today’s 10Best 2022 Readers Choice Awards for the second consecutive year, QSR Magazine's Breakout
Brand of 2020, Fast Casual's 2021 #1 Brand of the Year and included in Inc. Magazine’s Fastest Growing Private Companies List. In 2021, Consumer Report’s Chain Reaction
Report praised BurgerFi for serving “no antibiotic beef” across all its restaurants, and Consumer Reports awarded BurgerFi an "A-Grade Angus Beef" rating for the third
consecutive year.
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Anthony’s. Anthony’s is a premium pizza and wing brand operating 61 corporate-owned casual restaurant locations, as of December 31, 2021. Anthony’s prides itself
on serving fresh, never frozen, high-quality ingredients. The concept is centered around a 900-degree coal fired oven, and its menu offers “well-done” pizza, coal fired chicken
wings, homemade meatballs, and a variety of handcrafted sandwiches and salads. The restaurants also feature a deep wine and craft beer selection to round out the menu. The
pizzas are prepared using a unique coal fired oven to quickly seal in natural flavors while creating a lightly charred crust. Anthony’s provides a differentiated offering among its
casual dining peers driven by its coal fired oven, which enables the use of fresh, high-quality ingredients with quicker ticket times.

Since its inception in 2002, the Anthony’s brand has grown to 61 corporate-owned locations, as of December 31, 2021, primarily along the East coast and has
restaurants in eight states, including Florida (28), Pennsylvania (12), New Jersey (8), New York (5), Massachusetts (4), Delaware (2), Maryland (1), and Rhode Island (1).

Anthony’s was named “The Best Pizza Chain in America" by USA Today's Great American Bites and “Top 3 Best Major Pizza Chain” by Mashed in 2021.

Beyond our current brand portfolio, we intend to acquire other restaurant concepts that will allow us to grow and also offer additional food categories. In evaluating
potential acquisitions, we specifically seek concepts with, among others, the following characteristics:

« established, recognized brands;

* long-term, sustainable operating performance;

 consistent cash flows; and

» growth potential, both geographically and through co-branding initiatives across our portfolio.

Intending to leverage our developing management platform, we expect to achieve cost synergies post-acquisition by reducing the corporate overhead of the acquired
company. We also plan to grow the top line revenues of newly acquired brands through support from our management and systems platform, franchising, marketing and
advertising, supply chain assistance, site selection analysis, staff training and operational oversight and support.

Recent Acquisitions

On November 3, 2021, we completed the acquisition of Anthony's, which through its subsidiaries, owns and operates casual dining pizza restaurants under the trade
name Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza & Wings. The results of operations, financial position and cash flows of Anthony's is included in our consolidated financial statements as of
the closing date of the acquisition.

Segments

We have two operating and reportable segments: (1) BurgerFi and (2) Anthony’s. Our business generates revenue from the following sources: (i) restaurant sales, (ii)
royalty and other fees, consisting primarily of royalties based on a percentage of sales reported by franchised restaurants and paid by franchisees, and (iii) franchise fees,
consisting primarily of licensing fees paid by franchisees.

Significant Recent Developments Regarding COVID-19

During March 2020, a global pandemic was declared by the World Health Organization related to the rapidly spreading outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
designated COVID-19. The pandemic has significantly impacted economic conditions in the United States, where all of our corporate-owned restaurants are located. While the
adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have partially subsided, its effects vary by region, and uncertainties arising from the COVID-19 pandemic could continue to disrupt
economic conditions and business activities, particularly as new outbreaks and variants of COVID-19 arise. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic, including the recent
and emerging variants, could affect our business, operations and financial results is uncertain as it will depend upon numerous evolving factors that management may not be
able to accurately predict, including the duration and scope of the pandemic and the continued emergence of new strains of COVID-19. The acceptance and effectiveness of
vaccines and treatments, along with the length and extent of any continuing economic and market disruptions, are unknown, and therefore, any future impacts on our business,
financial condition and/or results of operations cannot be quantified or predicted with specificity.
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We believe that we have taken appropriate steps to mitigate the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, and our business model has, thus far, proven
resilient. We continue to actively monitor the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations, and to the extent that future business activities are adversely affected by the
pandemic, we intend to take appropriate actions designed to mitigate these impacts. We continue to adapt to the changing operational and economic environment that has
resulted from the COVID-19 pandemic. Our top priority has been to take appropriate actions to protect the health and safety of our employees, customers and business partners,
and we continue to monitor evolving health guidelines and respond to changes as appropriate. Notwithstanding moderation of the COVID-19 pandemic and related
governmental and other restrictions, we may continue to experience negative effects on our business and operations from possible longer-term changes in consumer and
customer behavior and/or from negative economic conditions, including recent inflationary effects on labor and food costs, supply chain disruptions and availability of labor.

We did not experience any material supply chain disruptions as a result of COVID-19 during 2020 or 2021; however, there can be no assurance that we will not
experience supply chain challenges in the future. We have implemented price increases to mitigate the inflationary effects of food and labor costs; however, we cannot predict
the long-term impact of these negative economic conditions on our restaurant profitability. Although we have experienced some recovery since the initial impact of COVID-19
and are able to meet our obligations as they become due with our cash flow from operations, the long-term impact of COVID-19 on the economy and on our business remains
uncertain, the duration and scope of which cannot currently be predicted. In addition, despite a recent decline in cases, hospitalizations and deaths in large portions of the United
States, mask mandates, social-distancing, travel restrictions and stay-at-home orders could be reinstated. We may take additional mitigation actions in the future such as raising
additional financing, reducing capital spending, or modifying our operating strategies. Some of these measures may have an adverse impact on our business. Refer to the
matters discussed under the caption “Risk Factors” beginning on page 10.

Key Metrics

The following key metrics are important indicators of the overall direction of our business, including trends in sales and the effectiveness of our marketing, operating,
and growth initiatives for the BurgerFi brand:

Year Ended Year Ended

(in thousands, except for percentage data) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Systemwide Restaurant Sales $ 166,121 $ 126,866
Systemwide Restaurant Sales Growth 31% (6)%
Systemwide Restaurant Same Store Sales Growth 14% (12)%
Corporate-Owned Restaurant Sales $ 33,435 $ 23,977
Corporate-Owned Restaurant Sales Growth 39% 9%
Corporate-Owned Restaurant Same Store Sales Growth 14% (15)%
Franchise Restaurant Sales $ 127,165 $ 97,860
Franchise Restaurant Sales Growth 30% (6)%
Franchise Restaurant Same Store Sales Growth 15% (11)%
Digital Channel Orders Growth 18% 93%
Digital Channel Orders 2,482 2,193
Digital Channel Orders % of Systemwide Sales 39% 43%

Systemwide Restaurant Sales

Systemwide restaurant sales is presented as informational data in order to understand the aggregation of franchised stores sales, ghost kitchen and corporate-owned
store sales performance for stores that are open for the full year. Systemwide restaurant sales growth refers to the percentage change in sales at all franchised restaurants, ghost
kitchens and corporate-owned restaurants in one period from the same period in the prior year. Systemwide restaurant same store sales growth refers to the percentage change in
sales at all franchised restaurants, ghost kitchens, and corporate-owned restaurants once the restaurant has been in operation after 14 months. See definition below for same
store sales.

Corporate-Owned Restaurant Sales
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Corporate-owned restaurant sales represent the sales generated only by corporate-owned restaurants that are open for the full year. Corporate-owned restaurant sales
growth refers to the percentage change in sales at all corporate-owned restaurants in one period from the same period in the prior year. Corporate-owned restaurant same store
sales growth refers to the percentage change in sales at all corporate-owned restaurants once the restaurant has been in operation after 14 months. These measures highlight the
performance of existing corporate-owned restaurants.

Franchise Restaurant Sales

Franchise restaurant sales represent the sales generated only by franchisee-owned restaurants that are open for the full year. Franchise restaurant sales growth refers to
the percentage change in sales at all franchised restaurants in one period from the same period in the prior year. Franchise restaurant same store sales growth refers to the
percentage change in sales at all franchised restaurants once the restaurant has been in operation after 14 months. These measures highlight the performance of existing
franchised restaurants.

Same Store Sales

We use the measure of same store sales to evaluate the performance of our store base, which excludes the impact of new stores and closed stores, in both periods
under comparison. We include a restaurant in the calculation of same store sales once it has been in operation after 14 months. A restaurant which is temporarily closed
(including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic), is included in the same store sales computation. A restaurant which is closed permanently, such as upon termination of the
lease, or other permanent closure, is immediately removed from the same store sales computation. Our calculation of same store sales may not be comparable to others in the
industry.

Digital Channel Orders

We use the measure of digital channel orders to measure performance of our investments made in our digital platform and partnerships with third party delivery
partners. We believe our digital platform capabilities are a vital element to continuing to serve our customers and will continue to be a differentiator for BurgerFi as compared to
some of our competitors. Digital channel orders growth refers to the percentage change in sales through our digital platforms in one period from the same period in the prior
year for all franchised and corporate-owned restaurants. Digital channel orders and digital channel orders as percentages of systemwide sales are indicative of the number of
orders placed through our digital platforms and the percentage of those digital orders when compared to total number of orders at all our franchised and corporate-owned
restaurants.

By providing these key metrics, we believe we are enhancing investors’ understanding of our business as well as assisting investors in evaluating how well we are
executing our strategic initiatives.

Results of Operations

To reflect the application of different bases of accounting as a result of the BurgerFi acquisition, the tables provided below separate the Company’s 2020 results via a
black line into two distinct periods as follows: (1) up to and including the BurgerFi acquisition closing date (labeled “Predecessor”) and (2) the period after that date through
December 31, 2020 (labeled “Successor”). The period after December 15, 2020 is the “Successor” period while the period before December 16, 2020 is the “Predecessor”
period.

The historical financial information of OPES (a special purpose acquisition company, or “SPAC”) prior to the BurgerFi acquisition has not been reflected in the
Predecessor financial statements as these historical amounts have been determined not to be useful information to a user of the financial statements. SPACs deposit the proceeds
from their initial public offerings into a segregated trust account until a business combination occurs, where such funds are then used to pay consideration for the acquiree and/or
to pay stockholders who elect to redeem their shares of common stock in connection with the business combination. The operations of a SPAC, until the closing of a business
combination, other than income from the trust account investments and transaction expenses, are nominal. Accordingly, no other activity in the Company was reported for the
period prior to December 16, 2020 besides BurgerFi’s operations as Predecessor.
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As OPES’s historical financial information is excluded from the Predecessor financial information, the businesses, and thus financial results, of the Successor and
Predecessor entities, are expected to be largely consistent, excluding the impact on certain financial statement line items that were impacted by the BurgerFi acquisition.
Management believes reviewing our operating results for the twelve-months ended December 31, 2020 by combining the results of the Predecessor and Successor periods ( “S/P
Combined”) is more useful in discussing our overall operating performance when compared to the same period in the current year. Accordingly, in addition to presenting our
results of operations as reported in our consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America ("GAAP"),
the tables below present the non-GAAP combined results for the year. The results of operations of Anthony's is included in our consolidated financial statements from the

acquisition date of November 3, 2021.

S/P Combined (non-

Successor Predecessor GAAP)
January 1,
December 16, 2020 2020
through through
Year Ended December 31, December 15, Year Ended

(in thousands) December 31, 2021 2020 2020 December 31, 2020
REVENUE

Restaurant sales 57,790 $ 1,333 23,683 $ 25,016

Royalty and other fees 8,021 255 6,116 6,371

Royalty - brand development and co-op 1,987 74 1,441 1,515

Franchise fees 1,069 25 1,055 1,080

TOTAL REVENUE 68,867 1,687 32,295 33,982

Restaurant level operating expenses: —

Food, beverage and paper costs 17,153 406 7,212 7,618

Labor and related expenses 16,272 304 6,187 6,491

Other operating expenses 12,039 254 4,999 5,253

Occupancy and related expenses 4,940 19 2,702 2,721
Impairment 114,797 — — —
General and administrative expenses 17,300 855 6,925 7,780
Depreciation and amortization expense 10,060 348 1,062 1,410
Share-based compensation expense 7,573 818 — 818
Brand development and co-op advertising expense 2,462 35 2,284 2,319
Pre-opening costs 1,905 48 166 214
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 204,501 3,087 31,537 34,624
OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME (135,634) (1,400) 758 (642)
Other income, net 2,047 791 2 793
Gain on change in value of warrant liability 13,811 5,597 — 5,597
Interest expense (1,406) (6) (125) (131)
(Loss) income before income taxes (121,182) 4,982 635 5,617
Income tax (expense) benefit 312) 366 — 366
Net (Loss) Income (121,494) 5,348 635 5,983
Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests (predecessor) — — 20 20
Net (Loss) Income Attributable to common shareholders (successor)
and Controlling Interests (predecessor) (121,494) $ 5,348 615 § 5,963
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Sales

The following table presents our corporate-owned restaurant sales by segment:

Successor Predecessor S/P Combined (non-GAAP)
Year Ended December 31, December 16, 2020 January 1, 2020 Year Ended December 31,
. 202 through through

(in thousands) December 31, 2020 December 15, 2020
BurgerFi
Restaurant sales 35,371 1,333 23,683 25,016
Royalty and other fees 8,021 255 6,116 6,371
Royalty - brand development and co-op 1,987 74 1,441 1,515
Franchise fees 1,069 25 1,055 1,080
Total BurgerFi $ 46,448 $ 1,687 32,295 $ 33,982
Anthony's
Restaurant sales $ 22419 $ — |$ — § —
Total Anthony's $ 22,419 $ — | 8 — 3 —
Total Consolidated $ 68,867 $ 1,687 |$ 32,295 $ 33,982

* Amounts for Anthony's are only presented from November 3, 2021, the date of acquisition.

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 (S/P Combined)
Restaurant Sales

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company’s restaurant sales increased by approximately $32.8 million or 131% as compared to the S/P Combined year
ended December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily related to the acquisition of Anthony's, which contributed approximately $22.4 million, or 68% of the increase in
restaurant sales. The remaining increase of $10.4 million resulted from the operation of eight, net, new BurgerFi corporate-owned restaurants and an increase in same store sales
of 14% for BurgerFi during the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020. Same store sales increases were driven by
recovering customer demand, the introduction of our SWAG burger (Spicy Wagyu burger) in March 2021, as well as higher average transaction values resulting from price
increases which took effect in June 2021.

Royalty and Other Fees

Royalty and other fees increased by approximately $1.7 million, or 26% for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the S/P Combined year ended
December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily driven by an increase in our franchisees' sales. For the year ended December 31, 2021, franchisee sales increased by 30% as
compared to that of S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020.

Royalties — Brand Development and Co-op

Royalties — brand development and co-op advertising increased by approximately $0.5 million, or 31% for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the S/P
Combined year ended December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily due to the reinstatement of brand development programs that were suspended in 2020 due to the
COVID-19 outbreak and an increase in our franchisees’ sales for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020. For the
year ended December 31, 2021, franchisee sales increased by 30% as compared to that of S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020.

Restaurant Level Operating Expenses

Restaurant level operating expenses are as follows:
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(in thousands, except for
percentage data)

Consolidated:
Restaurant Sales

Restaurant level operating expenses:

Food, beverage and paper costs
Labor and related expenses
Other operating expenses
Occupancy and related expenses
Total

BurgerFi:
Restaurant Sales

Restaurant level operating expenses:

Food, beverage and paper costs
Labor and related expenses
Other operating expenses
Occupancy and related expenses
Total

Anthony's:
Restaurant Sales

Restaurant level operating expenses:

Food, beverage and paper costs
Labor and related expenses
Other operating expenses
Occupancy and related expenses
Total

* Amounts for Anthony's are only presented from November 3,

S/P Combined

Successor Predecessor (non-GAAP)
December 16, 2020 January 1, 2020
Year Ended through through Year Ended
December 31, 2021 * December 31, 2020 December 15, 2020 December 31, 2020
In dollars Asa % of In dollars Asa % of In dollars Asa % of In dollars Asa % of
restaurant sales restaurant sales restaurant sales restaurant sales

$ 57,790 100 % $ 1,333 100 % | $ 23,683 100 % $ 25,016 100 %
$ 17,153 297 % $ 406 305 % | $ 7,212 305 % $ 7,618 305 %
16,272 282 % 304 228 % 6,187 26.1 % 6,491 259 %

12,039 208 % 254 191 % 4,999 21.1 % 5,253 21.0 %

4,940 85 % 19 14 % 2,702 114 % 2,721 10.9 %

$ 50,404 872 % $ 983 738 % | $ 21,100 89.1 % $ 22,083 883 %
$ 35,371 100 % $ 1,333 100 % | $ 23,683 100 % $ 25,016 100 %
$ 10,734 303 % $ 406 305 % |'$ 7,212 305 % $ 7,618 305 %
9,593 271 % 304 22.8 % 6,187 26.1 % 6,491 259 %

7,718 21.8 % 254 19.1 % 4,999 211 % 5,253 21.0 %

3,009 85 % 19 14 % 2,702 114 % 2,721 109 %

$ 31,054 878 % $ 983 738 % | $ 21,100 89.1 % $ 22,083 88.3 %
$ 22,419 100 % $ — N/A | $ — N/A $ — N/A
$ 6,419 286 % $ — N/A | $ — N/A $ — N/A
6,679 29.8 % — N/A — N/A — N/A

4,321 193 % — N/A — N/A — N/A

1,931 8.6 % — N/A — N/A — N/A

$ 19,350 863 % $ — N/A | $ — N/A $ — N/A

2021, the date of acquisition. As such, expenses as a percentage of sales for Anthony's are not necessarily
representative or comparable of that of a full quarter or a full period for Anthony's.

Total restaurant level operating expenses as a percentage of revenue was 87.2% for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to 88.3% for the S/P Combined
year ended December 31, 2020, a decrease of 110 basis points. This 110 basis points decrease is attributable to a change in our sales mix, more efficiently managing our costs of
delivery through third party suppliers and reduced other store operating expenses, and leverage on occupancy costs, which are primarily fixed in nature.
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Food, Beverage and Paper Costs

Food, beverage, and paper costs for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased approximately $9.5 million, or 125% as compared to the S/P Combined year ended
December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily related to the acquisition of Anthony's, which contributed approximately $6.4 million, or 67% of the increase. The remaining
increase of $3.1 million resulted from the operation of eight, net, new BurgerFi corporate-owned restaurants and an increase in same store sales of 14% during the year ended
December 31, 2021 as compared to the S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020. As a percentage of restaurant sales, food, beverage and paper costs were 29.7% for the
year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to 30.5% for the S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020. This 80 basis points decrease primarily resulted from a change in
our sales mix and increases in menu pricing during the year ended December 31, 2021, partially offset by higher costs of food and paper products as a result of inflationary
pressures.

Labor and Related Expenses

Labor and related expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased by approximately $9.8 million, or 151% as compared to the S/P Combined year ended
December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily related to the acquisition of Anthony's, which contributed approximately $6.7 million, or 68% of the increase. The remaining
increase of $3.1 million resulted from the operation of eight, net, new BurgerFi corporate-owned restaurants, along with fewer employees in our corporate-owned restaurants
during the month of March 2020. As a percentage of corporate restaurant sales, labor and related expenses were 28.2% for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to
25.9% for the S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020. This 230 basis points increase is due to increased labor costs experienced in our restaurants as compared to that of
the prior period stemming from staffing challenges resulting from COVID-19 as well as employee salary increases.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased by approximately $6.8 million, or 129% as compared to the S/P Combined year ended
December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily related to the acquisition of Anthony's, which contributed approximately $4.3 million, or 64% of the increase. The remaining
increase of $2.5 million resulted from the operation of eight, net, new BurgerFi corporate-owned restaurants. As a percentage of corporate restaurant sales, other operating
expenses were 20.8% for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to 21.0% for the S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020. This 20 basis points decrease
primarily relates to sales increases during the year ended December 31, 2021, creating leverage on certain store operating costs that are not variable with sales.

Occupancy and Related Expenses

Occupancy and related expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased by approximately $2.2 million, or 82% as compared to the S/P Combined year ended
December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily related to the acquisition of Anthony's, which contributed approximately $1.9 million, or 87% of the increase. The remaining
increase of $0.3 million resulted from the operation of eight, net, new BurgerFi corporate-owned restaurants. As a percentage of corporate restaurant sales, occupancy and
related expenses were 8.5% for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to 10.9% for the S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020. This 240 basis points decrease
relates to sale increases during the year ended December 31, 2021, creating leverage on occupancy costs, which are primarily fixed in nature.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased by approximately $9.5 million, or 122% as compared to the S/P Combined year
ended December 31, 2020. This increase partially related to Anthony's general and administrative expenses for two months, which contributed approximately $1.3 million, or
13% of the increase. The remaining increase of $8.2 million was primarily driven by merger and acquisition-related expenses of $3.7 million, legal, professional, and insurance
fees and other miscellaneous expenses of $2.8 million, and labor and related costs of $1.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the S/P Combined
year ended December 31, 2020. These increases were a result of investments made related to the acquisition of Anthony's, costs associated with the operation of being a public
company beginning in December 2020, and the investments to support the increased development and growth of our restaurants.

Pre-opening Costs
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Pre-opening costs were $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to $0.2 million during the S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020
primarily as a result of opening ten new stores during the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to two stores during the S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020.
Pre-opening costs include all expenses incurred by a restaurant prior to the restaurant's opening for business. These pre-opening costs include costs to relocate and reimburse
restaurant management staff members, costs to recruit and train hourly restaurant staff members, wages, travel, and lodging costs for our training team and other support staff
members, as well as rent expense. Pre-opening costs can fluctuate significantly from period to period based on the number and timing of restaurant openings and the specific
pre-opening costs incurred for each restaurant.

Share-Based Compensation Expense

Stock compensation expense was $7.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to $0.8 million for the S/P Combined year ended December 31,
2020 primarily as a result of restricted stock unit awards under the Company’s 2020 Stock Incentive Plan in 2021. There were very limited awards for the S/P Combined year
ended December 31, 2020.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expenses were $10.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to $1.4 million for the S/P Combined year ended
December 31, 2020. The increase of $8.7 million was primarily due to the amortization of intangible assets during the year ended December 31, 2021. These intangible assets
were in relation to the BurgerFi acquisition in December 2020. The remaining increase was primarily attributable to operating more stores than in the prior period.

Brand Development and Co-op Advertising Expense

Brand development and co-op advertising expense increased by approximately $0.1 million, or 6% as compared to the S/P Combined year-ended December 31, 2020.
This increase relates to the signing of a new agency during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Other Income, net

Other income increased by approximately $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily as a result of $2.2 million of debt forgiveness on all of our PPP
loans, offset by loss on disposal of assets.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was approximately $1.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to $0.1 million during the S/P Combined year ended
December 31, 2020. This increase is primarily due to non-cash interest expense of $0.6 million in relation to our preferred stock and $0.7 million due to an increase in debt as a
result of the Anthony's acquisition.

Change in Value of Warrant Liability

The Company recorded a non-cash gain of approximately $13.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 related to change in the fair value of the warrant
liability as compared to a gain of $5.6 million during the Successor period from December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020. The increase in the gain is primarily attributable to
the decrease in value of the warrant liability primarily due to a decrease in the trading price of our common stock. There were no warrants outstanding in the Predecessor period.

Impairment Expense
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As part of the Company's annual goodwill assessment and impairment assessment at the end of each reporting period for long-lived assets and definite-lived intangible
assets, the Company recorded asset impairment charges of approximately $114.8 million. This impairment charge was primarily related to a goodwill impairment charge of
$106.5 million and a definite-lived intangible asset impairment charge of $7.7 million in relation to the Company's BurgerFi reporting unit. The majority of the goodwill
impairment amount was driven by the impact on the Company's market capitalization due to the decrease in stock price, coupled with significant decline to the equity values of
our peers. The impairment amount for definite-lived intangible assets was primarily the result of a change in estimate of the remaining life of a licensing agreement.

Income Tax Expense

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded income tax expense of $0.3 million, primarily as a result of a valuation allowance on the Company’s

deferred tax assets. This resulted in an effective tax rate of less than 1.0%. For the Successor period from December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020, the Company recorded
income tax benefit of $0.4 million.

Prior to the BurgerFi acquisition, the Predecessor had elected to be taxed as a partnership under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and similar state
provisions. Therefore, there was no income tax recorded by the Company for the comparable Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020.

Net (Loss) Income

Net loss was approximately $121.5 million and net income was approximately $6.0 million, for the year ended December 31, 2021 and for the S/P Combined year
ended December 31, 2020, respectively. This change is primarily the result of a non-cash impairment charge of approximately $114.8 million during the year ended December
31, 2021, which consisted of impairment of goodwill, long-lived assets, and definite-lived intangible assets. In addition, the Company's general and administrative expenses for
the year ended December 31, 2021 increased by approximately $9.5 million, or 122% as compared to the S/P Combined year ended December 31, 2020. $8.2 million of this
increase was primarily a result of investments made related to the acquisition of Anthony's, the operation of a public company beginning in December 2020, and the investments
to support the increased development and growth of our restaurants.

Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Measures

As appropriate, we supplement our reported U.S. GAAP financial information with certain non-U.S. GAAP financial measures, including earnings before interest,
income taxes, depreciation and amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”). We define Adjusted EBITDA as net (loss) income before the change in value of warrant liability, interest
expense (which includes the change in value of preferred stock), income tax (benefit) expense, depreciation and amortization, share-based compensation expense, pre-opening
costs, store closure costs, gain on extinguishment of debt, legal settlements, merger, acquisition, and integration costs, and impairment charges.

We use Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate our performance, both internally and as compared with our peers, because this measure excludes certain items that may not be
indicative of our core operating results, as well as items that can vary widely across different industries or among companies within the same industry. We believe that this
adjusted measure provides a baseline for analyzing trends in our underlying business.

We believe that this non-U.S. GAAP financial measure provides meaningful information and helps investors understand our financial results and assess our prospects
for future performance. Because non-U.S. GAAP financial measures are not standardized, it may not be possible to compare these financial measures with other companies’
non-U.S. GAAP financial measures having the same or similar names. These financial measures should not be considered in isolation from, as substitutes for, or alternative
measures of, reported net income or diluted earnings per share, and should be viewed in conjunction with the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial measures and the provided
reconciliations thereto. We believe this non-U.S. GAAP financial measure, when viewed together with our U.S. GAAP results and the related reconciliations, provides a more
complete understanding of our business. We strongly encourage investors to review our consolidated financial statements and publicly filed reports in their entirety and not rely
on any single financial measure.
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Below is a reconciliation of Non-GAAP Adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, net (loss) income on a consolidated basis and by segment:

Consolidated
S/P Combined
Successor Predecessor (non-GAAP)
12/16/2020 through 1/1/2020 through
(in thousands) 12/31/2021 12/31/2020 12/31/2020 12/31/2020
Net (Loss) Income Attributable to Common Shareholders
(successor) and Controlling Interests (predecessor) (121,494) $ 5,348 $ 615 $ 5,963
Gain on change in value of warrant liability (13,811) (5,597) — (5,597)
Interest expense 1,406 6 125 131
Income tax expense (benefit) 312 (366) — (366)
Depreciation and amortization expense 10,060 348 1,062 1,410
Share-based compensation expense 7,573 818 — 818
Pre-opening costs 1,905 48 166 214
Store closure (income) costs 324 — ?2) ?2)
Gain on extinguishment of debt (2,237) (791) — (791)
Legal settlements 689 — — —
Merger, acquisition, and integration costs 4,275 — 428 428
Non-cash impairment charge 114,797 — — —
Adjusted EBITDA 3,799 (186) 2,394 2,208
BurgerFi Anthony's
S/P Combined
Successor Predecessor (non-GAAP)
12/16/2020 through 1/1/2020 through
(in thousands) 12/31/2021 12/31/2020 12/31/2020 12/31/2020 12/31/2021

Net (Loss) Income Attributable to Common Shareholders
(successor) and Controlling Interests (predecessor) $ (121,352) $ 5348 [ $ 615 § 5963 $ (142)
Gain on change in value of warrant liability (13,811) (5,597) — (5,597) —
Interest expense 673 6 125 131 733
Income tax expense (benefit) 473 (366) — (366) (161)
Depreciation and amortization expense 8,694 348 1,062 1,410 1,366
Share-based compensation expense 7,573 818 — 818 —
Pre-opening costs 1,905 48 166 214 —
Store closure (income) costs 279 — 2) 2) 45
Gain on extinguishment of debt (2,237) (791) — (791) —
Legal settlements 689 — — — —
Merger, acquisition, and integration costs 4,119 — 428 428 156
Non-cash impairment charge 114,797 — — — —
Adjusted EBITDA 1,802 (186) 2,394 § 2,208 1,997
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Liquidity, Capital Resources, and COVID-19

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash from operations, cash and cash equivalents on hand. As of December 31, 2021, we maintained a cash and cash equivalents
balance of approximately $15 million.

Our primary requirements for liquidity are to fund our working capital needs, operating and finance lease obligations, capital expenditures and general corporate needs.
Our requirements for working capital are generally not significant because our guests pay for their food and beverage purchases in cash or on debit or credit cards at the time of
the sale and we are able to sell many of our inventory items before payment is due to the supplier of such items. Our ongoing capital expenditures are principally related to
opening new restaurants, remodels and maintenance, as well as investments in our digital and corporate infrastructure. We estimate our capital expenditures will be
approximately $4 million for the year ending December 31, 2022.

During March 2020, a global pandemic was declared by the World Health Organization related to the rapidly spreading outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus
designated COVID-19. The pandemic has significantly impacted economic conditions in the United States, where all of our Company restaurants are located. While the adverse
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have partially subsided, its effects vary by region, and uncertainties arising from the COVID-19 pandemic could continue to disrupt
economic conditions and business activities, particularly as new variants of COVID-19 arise. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic, including the recent and emerging
variants, could affect our business, operations and financial results is uncertain as it will depend upon numerous evolving factors that management may not be able to
accurately predict, including the duration and scope of the pandemic and the continued emergence of new strains of COVID-19. The acceptance and effectiveness of vaccines
and treatments, along with the length and extent of any continuing economic and market disruptions, are unknown, and therefore, any future impacts on our business, financial
condition and/or results of operations cannot be quantified or predicted with specificity.

We have implemented price increases to mitigate the inflationary effects of food and labor costs, however we cannot predict the long-term impact of these negative
economic conditions on our restaurant profitability. Although we have experienced some recovery since the initial impact of COVID-19 and are able to meet our obligations as
they become due with our cash flow from operations, the long-term impact of COVID-19 on the economy and on our business remains uncertain, the duration and scope of
which cannot currently be predicted. In addition, we continue to monitor the spread of new variants, including the pandemic’s emergence of variants.

We are currently able to pay our obligations as they become due for at least the next 12 months and for the foreseeable future, with our cash flow generated from
operations and our cash on hand balance of $15 million. We are committed to constructing four additional restaurants within the next 12 months. The total amount remaining
due on these contracts is approximately $1.0 million. We believe that we will be able to pay these commitments from our current cash balance. Should federal, state or
municipal government authorities impose mandatory restrictions in excess of what they currently are, we believe that our current cash balance will allow us the liquidity to meet
our commitments as they become due.

The following table presents the summary cash flow information for the periods indicated:

Successor Predecessor
December 16, 2020 January 1, 2020
Year Ended December 31, through through

(in thousands) 2021 January 1, 2020 December 15, 2020
Net cash (used in) provided by:

Operating activities $ (7,467) $ 938) | $ 2,696

Investing activities (5,015) (27,549) 620

Financing activities (13,012) — (2,943)
Net (decrease) increase in cash $ (25,494) $ (28,487) | $ 373
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Cash Flows Used in Operating Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2021, cash flows used in operating activities were approximately $7.5 million. The cash flows used in operating activities resulted
from a net loss of $121.5 million, which was primarily related to non-cash impairment charges of $114.8 million related to goodwill, definite-lived intangible assets and long-
lived assets, depreciation and amortization of $10.1 million, and share-based compensation of $7.6 million, offset by a gain on change in value of warrant liability of $13.8
million. Additionally, changes in operating assets and liabilities resulted in a net asset increase, which was mainly due to a decrease in accrued expenses, primarily as a result of
payment of acquisition-related costs associated with the Anthony's acquisition as well as payment of accrued compensation, offset by an increase in deferred rent and other
liabilities. Our deferred rent and other liabilities increase is due to the opening of new corporate-owned restaurants during the year ended December 31, 2021 as well as several
restaurants under construction as of December 31, 2021.

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2021, cash flows used in investing activities were approximately $5.0 million, which was primarily the result of construction
costs of $10.7 million, offset by a cash increase from the acquisition of Anthony's of approximately $5.5 million.

Cash Flows Used in Financing Activities

During the year ended December 31, 2021, cash flows used in financing activities were approximately $13.0 million, which was primarily related to a $3.0 million
repayment and termination of one of the Company's lines of credit and payments on notes payable of approximately $9.2 million.

Credit Agreement

On November 3, 2021 and as part of the Anthony's acquisition, the Company joined a credit agreement with a syndicate of commercial banks providing Anthony's
with up to $71.8 million in financing ("Credit Agreement"). The Credit Agreement, which terminates on June 15, 2024, provides the Company with lender financing structured
as a $57.8 million term loan, a $4 million revolving loan, and a $10 million delayed draw term loan facility (the “Delayed Draw Term Loan Facility”) provided by a related
party and a significant shareholder. The terms of the Credit Agreement require the Company to repay the principal of the term loan in quarterly installments of approximately
$0.8 million with the balance due at the maturity date. The principal amount of revolving loans is due and payable in full on the maturity date. The loan and revolving line of
credit are secured by substantially all of the Company’s assets and incurs interest on outstanding amounts at 4.75% per annum through June 15, 2023 and 6.75% from June 16,
2023 through maturity while the Delayed Draw Term Loan Facility is a non-interest bearing loan. Pursuant to the terms of an amendment to the Credit Agreement effective as
of March 9, 2022, certain of the covenants of (i) the Company and Plastic Tripod, Inc., as the borrowers (the "Borrowers"), and (ii) the subsidiary guarantors (the "Guarantors")
party to the Credit Agreement were amended, and the Borrowers and Guarantors agreed to pay incremental deferred interest of 2% per annum, in the event that the Credit
Agreement is not repaid on or prior to June 15, 2023; provided, however, that if no event of default has occurred and is continuing then (1) no incremental deferred interest will
be due if all of the obligations under the Credit Agreement have been paid on or prior to December 31, 2022, and (2) only 50% of the incremental deferred interest will be owed
if all of the obligations under the Credit Agreement have been paid from and after January 1, 2023 and on or prior to March 31, 2023.
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Redeemable Preferred Stock

On November 3, 2021, and as part of the Anthony's acquisition, the Company issued 2,120,000 shares of redeemable preferred stock as Series A Junior Preferred
Stock. The Series A Junior Preferred Stock is redeemable on November 3, 2027 and accrues dividends at 7.00% per annum compounded quarterly from June 15, 2024 with
such rate increasing by an additional 0.35% per quarter commencing with the three month period ending September 30, 2024 and (b) in the event that the Credit Agreement is
refinanced or repaid in full prior to June 15, 2024 and the Series A Junior Preferred Stock is not redeemed in full on such date, from and after such date, shall accrue dividends
at 5.00% per annum, compounded quarterly, until June 15, 2024.

The Series A Junior Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Common Stock and may be redeemed at the option of the Company at any time and must be redeemed by the
Company in limited circumstances. The Series A Junior Preferred Stock shall not have voting rights or conversion rights. The Series A Junior Preferred Stock is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value reported as interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based upon the Company’s consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires the Company to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as well as related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates
its estimates and judgments based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The Company reviews its financial reporting and disclosure practices and accounting policies quarterly to confirm that they provide accurate and transparent
information relative to the current economic and business environment. The Company believes that of its significant accounting policies, the following involve a higher degree
of judgment and/or complexity:

e Goodwill

We review goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate a possible impairment. The Company first assesses qualitative factors to
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. If management concludes that it is more
likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, management conducts a quantitative goodwill impairment test. The Company estimates
the fair values of its reporting unit using a combination of the income, or discounted cash flows approach and the market approach, which utilizes comparable companies’ data.
If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a goodwill impairment exists for the reporting unit and an impairment loss is recorded. The
estimated fair value of goodwill is subject to change as a result of many factors including, among others, any changes in our business plans, changing economic conditions and
the competitive environment. Refer to Note 14 Fair Value Measurements for more information.
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*  Long-lived assets and definite-lived intangible assets

We evaluate our long-lived assets and definite-lived intangible assets for impairment at the end of each reporting period or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets or asset group may not be recoverable. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment at least annually,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets may be impaired. Factors considered include, but are not limited to, negative cash flow,
significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner in which an asset is being used, an expectation that an
asset will be disposed of significantly before the end of its previously estimated useful life and significant negative industry or economic trends.

To estimate future cash flows, we make certain assumptions about expected future operating performance, such as revenue growth rates, royalties, gross margins, and
operating expense in relation to the current economic environment and the Company’s future expectations. Estimates of future cash flows are highly subjective judgments based
on the Company’s experience and knowledge of its operations. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by
which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their fair value.

For more information, refer to Note 6 Impairment and Note 14 Fair Value Measurements.
e Warrant Liability

The fair value of our warrant liability is measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis, classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value is calculated
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes model requires us to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the calculation, including
the expected term, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate, dividend rate and service period. Refer to Note 14 Fair Value Measurements for more information.

e Acquisitions

The determination of the fair value of net assets acquired in an acquisition requires estimates and judgments of future cash flow expectations for the acquired business
and the related identifiable tangible and intangible assets. Fair values of net assets acquired are calculated using expected cash flows and industry-standard valuation techniques.
For current assets and current liabilities, book value is generally assumed to equal fair value.

Due to the time required to gather and analyze the necessary data for each acquisition, U.S. GAAP provides a“measurement period” of up to one year in which to
finalize these fair value determinations. During the measurement period, preliminary fair value estimates may be revised if new information is obtained about the facts and
circumstances existing as of the date of acquisition, or based on the final net assets and working capital of the acquired business, as prescribed in the applicable purchase
agreement. Such adjustments may result in the recognition of, or an adjustment to the fair values of, acquisition-related assets and liabilities and/or consideration paid, and are
referred to as “measurement period adjustments.” Measurement period adjustments are recorded to goodwill. Other revisions to fair value estimates for acquisitions are
reflected as income or expense, as appropriate.

Consideration paid generally consists of cash and, from time to time, shares, and potential future payments that are contingent upon the acquired business achieving
certain levels of earnings in the future, also referred to as “acquisition-related contingent consideration” or “earn-outs.” Earn-out liabilities are measured at their estimated fair
values as of the date of acquisition. Subsequent to the date of acquisition, if future Earn-out payments are expected to differ from Earn-out payments estimated as of the date of
acquisition, any related fair value adjustments, including those related to finalization of completed earn-out arrangements, are recognized in the period that such expectation is
considered probable. Changes in the fair value of Earn-out liabilities for the Company’s traditional earn-outs, other than those related to measurement period adjustments, as
described above, are recorded within other income or expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Refer to Note 5 Acquisitions for additional information.

e Income Taxes

47



Table of Contents

We make certain estimates and judgments in the calculation of our provision for income taxes, in the resulting tax liabilities, and in the recoverability of deferred tax
assets. We record valuation allowances against our deferred tax assets, when necessary. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent on future taxable earnings and is
therefore uncertain. Refer to Note 12 Income Taxes for additional information.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which requires lessees to
recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months and disclose certain information about the leasing arrangements.
Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The Company will elect the
package of practical expedients, as well as the hindsight practical expedient, permitted under the new guidance, which includes allowing the Company to continue utilizing
historical classification of leases. In preparation for the adoption, the Company is implementing new accounting systems, business processes and internal controls to assist in the
application of the new guidance. As an emerging growth company, this guidance is effective for our fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The adoption of the
standard will result in the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for operating leases which will result in additional assets and corresponding liabilities of
approximately $60 million to $65 million on the consolidated balance sheet, with no material impact to its consolidated statement of operations, stockholders’ equity, or cash
flows. Our assessment is ongoing and subject to finalization such that the actual impact may differ from the estimated range.

The FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (“Topic 326”) in June 2016, subsequently amended by various standard updates. This guidance
replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology in current GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of
reasonable and supportable information when determining credit loss estimates and requires financial assets to be measured net of expected credit losses at the time of initial
recognition. As an emerging growth company, this guidance will be effective for our fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (“Topic 740”) as part of its Simplification Initiative. This guidance provides amendments to
simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740. The amendments also improve consistent application of and
simplify GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance. This guidance is effective for annual and interim reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2020, and early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this standard did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04 Reference Rate Reform (“Topic 848”) to provide optional guidance for a limited period of time, from March 12, 2020
through December 31, 2022, to ease the burden of financial reporting due to reference rate reform. An entity can elect to utilize the guidance at any time during the period. The
Company is currently evaluating the effect this guidance will have on the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in
Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40), an amendment that simplifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity, including
convertible instruments and contracts on an entity’s own equity. The amendment simplifies accounting for convertible instruments by removing major separation models
required under current accounting guidance. In addition, the amendment removes certain settlement conditions that are required for equity contracts to qualify for the derivative
scope exception, which will permit more equity contracts to qualify for the exception, and also simplifies the diluted earnings per share calculation in certain areas. The
amendment is effective beginning after December 15, 2023 for smaller reporting companies. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this guidance on our
consolidated financial statements.
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Sale of Dania Beach Restaurant to Franchisee

In February 2020, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with an unrelated third-party for the sale of substantially all of the assets used in connection
with the operation of BF Dania Beach, LLC for an aggregate purchase price of $1.3 million. From January to March 2020, the Company received three cash deposits totaling
$0.9 million in connection with this transaction. The closing of this transaction has been delayed due to additional negotiation that has been on-going through the report date of
April 14, 2022. In the event the transaction is terminated, the Company will resume operation of the restaurant, and return the $0.9 million to the unrelated third-party purchaser.
Assets used in the operations of BF Dania Beach, LLC have been classified as held for sale and the deposit is included within the December 31, 2021 consolidated balance
sheet.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Not applicable.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Shareholders and Board of Directors
BurgerFi International, Inc.
North Palm Beach, Florida

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of BurgerFi International, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company” or “Successor”) as of December 31, 2021 and
2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’/members’ equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the period
from December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020, and of BurgerFi International, LLC and Subsidiaries (“Predecessor”) for the period from January 1, 2020 to December 15,
2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31,
2021, for the period from December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020, and the results of the Predecessor's operations and its cash flows for the period from January 1, 2020 to
December 15, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Certified Public Accountants

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015.
West Palm Beach, Florida
April 14,2022
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BurgerFi International Inc., and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except for per share data)
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash
Cash - restricted
Accounts receivable, net
Inventory
Asset held for sale
Other current assets
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
PROPERTY & EQUIPMENT, net
DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES
GOODWILL
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, net
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
OTHER ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable - trade and other
Accrued expenses
Other liabilities
Short-term borrowings
Other deposit
Deferred revenue, current
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term borrowings

Redeemable preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, 2,120,000 shares issued and outstanding, $53 million
redemption value

Related party note

Warrant liability

Deferred revenue, net of current portion

Deferred rent

Deferred income taxes

TOTAL LIABILITIES

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - Note 8
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 21,303,500 and 17,541,838 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

December 31,

2021 2020
14,889 $ 37,150
— 3,233
1,689 718
1,387 268
732 732
2,526 1,607
21,223 43,708
29,035 8,004
— 74
98,000 119,542
168,723 116,824
— 713

738 251
317,719 289,116
7,841 1,678
5,302 1,203
6,481 430
3,331 4,450
907 907
468 490
24,330 9,158
56,797 1,522
47,525 —
8,724 —
2,706 16,516
2,109 2,816
900 29
1,353 —
144,444 30,041
2 2
296,992 261,298
(123,719) (2,225)
173,275 259,075
317,719 $ 289,116
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(in thousands, except for per share data)
REVENUE

Restaurant sales

Royalty and other fees

Royalty - brand development and co-op

Franchise fees

TOTAL REVENUE

Restaurant level operating expenses:

Food, beverage and paper costs

Labor and related expenses

Other operating expenses

Occupancy and related expenses
Impairment
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense
Share-based compensation expense
Brand development and co-op advertising expense
Pre-opening costs
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
OPERATING (LOSS) INCOME
Other income, net
Gain on change in value of warrant liability
Interest expense
(Loss) income before income taxes
Income tax (expense) benefit
Net (Loss) Income

BurgerFi International Inc., and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Net Income Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests (predecessor)

Net (Loss) Income Attributable to common shareholders (successor) and Controlling

Interests (predecessor)

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

Net (loss) income per common share:
Basic
Diluted

Successor Predecessor
January 1,
December 16, 2020 2020
through through
Year Ended December 31, December 15,
December 31, 2021 2020 2020
57,790 $ 1,333 23,683
8,021 255 6,116
1,987 74 1,441
1,069 25 1,055
68,867 1,687 32,295
17,153 406 7,212
16,272 304 6,187
12,039 254 4,999
4,940 19 2,702
114,797 — —
17,300 855 6,925
10,060 348 1,062
7,573 818 —
2,462 35 2,284
1,905 48 166
204,501 3,087 31,537
(135,634) (1,400) 758
2,047 791 2
13,811 5,597 —
(1,406) 6) (125)
(121,182) 4,982 635
312) 366 —
(121,494) 5,348 635
— — 20
(121,494) $ 5,348 615
18,408,247 17,541,838
18,624,447 21,426,115
(6.60) $ 0.30
(7.20) $ (0.01)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(in thousands)

Balance, December 31, 2019
Net Income

Distributions

Balance, December 15, 2020

(in thousands, except for share data)

Balance at December 16, 2020

Share-based compensation

Stock issued in acquisition of BurgerFi

Contingent consideration in acquisition of BurgerFi

Net income (December 16, 2020 to December 31,
2020)

Balance, December 31, 2020

Share-based compensation

Stock issued in acquisition of Anthony's
Shares issued for share-based compensation
Shares issued for warrant exercises
Exchange of UPO units

Net loss

Balance, December 31, 2021

BurgerFi International Inc., and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’’Members’ Equity

Predecessor
Total
Controlling Noncontrolling Members’
Interest Interest Equity
2,492 § 15 2,507
615 20 635
(5,972) (35) (6,007)
(2,865) $ — (2,865)
Successor
Common Stock
Additional Paid-in
Shares Amount Capital Accumulated Deficit Total
17,541,838 1 3 53,594 $ (7,573) 46,022
— — 818 — 818
— 1 103,679 — 103,680
— — 103,207 — 103,207
— — — 5,348 5,348
17,541,838 2 8 261,298 $ (2,225) 259,075
— — 7,381 — 7,381
3,362,424 — 28,120 — 28,120
107,500 — 192 — 192
8,069 1 — 1
283,669 — — —
— — — (121,494) (121,494)
21,303,500 2 8 296,992 $ (123,719) 173,275
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BurgerFi International Inc., and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
CASH FLOWS (USED IN) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net (loss) income

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

Impairment
Gain on change in value of warrant liability
Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation
Gain on extinguishment of debt
Forfeited franchise deposits
Deferred income taxes
Other non-cash interest
Provision for bad debts
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other assets
Accounts payable - trade
Accrued expenses
Deferred rent
Deferred revenue and other liabilities
NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of restaurant from franchisee
Deposit on sale
Purchase of property and equipment
Assets acquired, net, as part of the BurgerFi acquisition
Cash acquired as part of the Anthony's acquisition
Proceeds from sale of store
Advances to related companies
Repayments from related companies
Purchase of trademarks
NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds on borrowings
Payments on borrowings
Payment of direct costs on issuance of common stock
Members’ distributions
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of period

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of period

Successor Predecessor
December 16, January 1,
2020 2020
through through
Year Ended December 31, December 15,
December 31, 2021 2020 2020

$ (121,494) $ 5,348 635
114,797 — —
(13,811) (5,597) —
10,060 348 1,062
7,573 818 —
(2,237) (791) —
(834) — (693)
312 (370) —

841 — —

234 — 133

203 — —
(633) (339) 6
(142) 8) 10)

81 (552) 121

303 (275) 751
(4,045) 284 218
871 — —

454 196 473
(7,467) (938) 2,696
— — (385)

— — 907
(10,665) (265) (3,244)
— (27,210) —
5,522 — —
80 — —
— (74) (7,863)

74 — 11,205

(26) — —
(5,015) (27,549) 620
— — 5,393
(12,168) — (2,329)
(844) — —
— — (6,007)
(13,012) — (2,943)
(25,494) (28,487) 373
40,383 68,870 2,417
$ 14,889 § 40,383 2,790
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Supplemental cash flow disclosures:

Value of common stock issued and option shares assumed in Anthony's acquisition $ 28,965
Value of preferred stock issued in Anthony's acquisition 46,906
Cash paid for interest 551
Cash paid for income taxes paid 7
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1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

o

BurgerFi International, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (“BFI,” the “Company,” or “Successor,” also “we,” “us,” and “our”), is a multi-brand restaurant company
that develops, markets and acquires fast-casual and premium-casual dining restaurant concepts around the world, including corporate-owned stores and franchises located in the
United States, Puerto Rico and Saudi Arabia. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has 179 franchised and corporate-owned restaurants of the two following brands:

BurgerFi. BurgerFi is a fast-casual “better burger” concept with118 franchised and corporate-owned restaurants as of December 31, 2021, offering burgers, hot dogs,
crispy chicken, frozen custard, hand-cut fries, shakes, beer, wine and more.

Anthony’s. Anthony’s is a pizza and wing brand that operates61 corporate-owned casual restaurant locations, as of December 31, 2021. The concept is centered
around a coal fired oven, and its menu offers “well-done” pizza, coal fired chicken wings, homemade meatballs, and a variety of handcrafted sandwiches and salads.

Basis of presentation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

On December 16, 2020 (the "Closing Date"), the Company consummated its merger with Opes Acquisition Corp. ("OPES"). This acquisition (the "BurgerFi acquisition")
qualified as a business combination under ASC 805, and OPES was the legal and accounting acquirer in the transaction. The Company’s 2020 financial statement presentation
distinguishes the Company’s financial performance into two distinct periods, the period up to the Closing Date (labeled “Predecessor”’) and the period including and after that
date (labeled “Successor”). The BurgerFi acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting, and the Successor financial statements reflect a new basis
of accounting that is based on the fair value of the net assets acquired.

As a result of the application of the acquisition method of accounting for the BurgerFi acquisition, the accompanying consolidated financial statements include a black line
division which indicates that the Predecessor and Successor reporting entities shown are presented on a different basis and are therefore, not comparable.

The historical financial information of OPES (a special purpose acquisition company, or “SPAC”) prior to the BurgerFi acquisition has not been reflected in the Predecessor
financial statements as these historical amounts have been determined to be not useful information to a user of the financial statements. SPACs deposit the proceeds from their
initial public offerings into a segregated trust account until a business combination occurs, where such funds are then used to pay consideration for the acquiree and/or to pay
stockholders who elect to redeem their shares of common stock in connection with the business combination. The operations of a SPAC, until the closing of a business
combination, other than income from the trust account investments and transaction expenses, are nominal. Accordingly, no other activity in the Company was reported for the
period prior to December 16, 2020 besides BurgerFi’s operations as Predecessor.

On November 3, 2021, we completed the acquisition of Hot Air, Inc. (the "Anthony's acquisition”), which through its subsidiaries, owns and operates casual dining pizza
restaurants under the trade name Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza & Wings ("Anthony's"). The results of operations, financial position and cash flows of Anthony's is included in our
consolidated financial statements as of the closing date of the acquisition.

The Company operates on a calendar year-end. Anthony's uses a 52-week or 53-week fiscal year-end and its fiscal year ends on the Monday closest to December 31.
Differences arising from the different fiscal year-ends were not deemed material for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year presentation to conform to the current year presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements present the consolidated financial position, results from operations and cash flows of BurgerFi International, Inc., and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All material balances and transactions between the entities have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Successor consolidated financial statements include all amounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Predecessor consolidated financial statements include all amounts
of BurgerFi International, LLC and its subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosures of contingencies at the date of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Corporate-owned stores and Franchised stores

BurgerFi has prepared its Franchise Disclosure Document as required by the United States Federal Trade Commission and has registered or will register in those states where
required in order to legally sell its franchises. It is currently BurgerFi’s plan to offer franchises for sale in those states where demographics of the population represent a demand
for the services. BurgerFi grants franchises to independent operators who in turn pay an initial franchise fee, royalties and other fees as stated in the franchise agreement. Store
activity for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

2021 2020 *
Corporate-owned Franchised Total Corporate-owned Franchised Total
Total BurgerFi and Anthony's 86 93 179 17 102 119
BurgerFi stores, beginning of year 17 102 119 13 117 130
BurgerFi stores opened 10 6 16 2 9 11
BurgerFi stores transferred/sold 1) 1 — 2 ?) —
BurgerFi stores closed (1) (16) 17) — (22) (22)
BurgerFi total stores, end of year 25 93 118 17 102 119
Anthony's stores acquired 61 — 61 — — —
Anthony's total stores, end of year 61 — 61 — — —

* As Anthony's was acquired on November 3, 2021, Anthony's store activity is not included in the presentation above for 2020.

End of year store totals included 1 and 2 international stores at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Liquidity and COVID-19

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash from operations and cash on hand. As of December 31, 2021, we maintained a cash and cash equivalents balance of approximately 45
million.
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Our primary requirements for liquidity are to fund our working capital needs, operating and finance lease obligations, capital expenditures and general corporate needs. Our
requirements for working capital are generally not significant because our guests pay for their food and beverage purchases in cash or on debit or credit cards at the time of the
sale and we are able to sell many of our inventory items before payment is due to the supplier of such items. Our ongoing capital expenditures are principally related to opening
new restaurants, remodels and maintenance, as well as investments in our digital and corporate infrastructure.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operating and finance lease obligations, capital expenditures, and working capital needs for at
least the next 12 months and the foreseeable future.

During March 2020, a global pandemic was declared by the World Health Organization related to the rapidly spreading outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus designated
COVID-19. The pandemic has significantly impacted economic conditions in the United States, where all of our Company restaurants are located. While the adverse effects of
the COVID-19 pandemic have partially subsided, its effects vary by region, and uncertainties arising from the COVID-19 pandemic could continue to disrupt economic
conditions and business activities, particularly as new variants of COVID-19 arise. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic, including the recent and emerging variants,
could affect our business, operations and financial results is uncertain as it will depend upon numerous evolving factors that management may not be able to accurately predict,
including the duration and scope of the pandemic and the continued emergence of new strains of COVID-19. The acceptance and effectiveness of vaccines and treatments,
along with the length and extent of any continuing economic and market disruptions, are unknown, and therefore, any future impacts on our business, financial condition and/or
results of operations cannot be quantified or predicted with specificity.

Segment Reporting

The Company owns and operates BurgerFi and Anthony's restaurants in the United States, and also has domestic and international franchisees. The Company hastwo operating
and reportable segments:

*  BurgerFi, which includes our operations of corporate-owned and franchised BurgerFi restaurants, which offer a fast-casual “better burger” concept; and
*  Anthony's, which includes our operations of casual dining pizza restaurants under the name Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza & Wings.

The chief operating decision makers (“CODMs”) are the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief Financial Officer (CFO), and Executive Chairman as they assess the
performance of the reportable segments and make all the significant strategic decisions, including the allocation of resources.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less as cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents also include approximately $.1
million and $11,000 as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, of amounts due from commercial credit card companies, such as Visa, MasterCard,
Discover, and American Express, which are generally received within a few days of the related transactions. At times, the balances in the cash and cash equivalents accounts
may exceed federal insured limits. The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insures eligible accounts up to $250,000 per depositor at each financial institution. The Company
limits uninsured balances to only large, well-known financial institutions and believes that it is not exposed to significant credit risk on cash and cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of (i) cash held in escrow in an amount equal to the PPP loans as required by the SBA upon a change of control, and (ii) cash proceeds from the
BurgerFi acquisition, withheld for working capital purposes. The Company is the custodian of these account balances, but these accounts are in place for specific, restricted
purposes, which typically are resolved within twelve months. The Company classifies the restricted cash accounts as current assets.
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of amounts due from franchisees for training and royalties and are stated at the amount invoiced. Accounts receivable are stated at the amount
management expects to collect from balances outstanding at year end. Management provides for probable uncollectible amounts through a charge to earnings and a credit to
allowance for uncollectible accounts based on its assessment of the current status of individual accounts. Balances that are still outstanding after management has used
reasonable collection efforts are written off through a charge to the allowance for uncollectible accounts and a credit to accounts receivable. The allowance for uncollectible
accounts was approximately $31,000 at December 31, 2021, and $0 at December 31, 2020.

Inventories

Inventories primarily consist of food and beverages. Inventories are accounted for at lower of cost or net realizable value using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Spoilage is
expensed as incurred.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided by the straight-line method over an estimated useful life. Leasehold
improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset and the term of the related lease. The estimated lives for
kitchen equipment and other equipment, computers and office equipment, furniture and fixtures, and vehicles range from five to seven years. Maintenance and repairs which are
not considered to extend the useful lives of the assets are charged to operations as incurred. Expenditures for additions and improvements are capitalized. Expenditures for
renewals and betterments, which materially extend the useful lives of assets or increase their productivity, are capitalized. The Company capitalizes construction costs during
construction of the restaurant and will begin to depreciate them once the restaurant is placed in service. Wage costs directly related to and incurred during a restaurant’s
construction period are capitalized. Interest costs incurred during a restaurant’s construction period are capitalized. Upon sale or retirement, the cost of assets and related
accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the accounts and any resulting gains or losses are included in operating expense.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Definite-Lived Intangible Assets

The Company assesses the potential impairment of our long-lived assets on an annual basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of the
assets or asset group may not be recoverable. Factors considered include, but are not limited to, negative cash flow, significant underperformance relative to historical or
projected future operating results, significant changes in the manner in which an asset is being used, an expectation that an asset will be disposed of significantly before the end
of its previously estimated useful life and significant negative industry or economic trends. At any given time, we may be monitoring a small number of locations, and future
impairment charges could be required if individual restaurant performance does not improve or we make the decision to close or relocate a restaurant. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured at the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value. Assets to be disposed

of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis using the following estimated useful lives of the related classes of intangibles:7 years for franchise
agreements, 30 years for trade names, 10 years for the license agreement (adjusted to22 months at December 31, 2021), and 10 years for the VegeFi product.
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The Company reviews definite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the intangible asset may
not be recoverable. Indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment at least annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets
may be impaired. Our annual impairment test for indefinite-lived intangible assets may be completed through a qualitative assessment to determine if the fair value of the
indefinite-lived intangible assets is more likely than not greater than the carrying amount. If we elect to bypass the qualitative assessment, or if a qualitative assessment indicates
it is more likely than not that the estimated carrying value exceeds the fair value, we test for impairment using a quantitative process. If the Company determines that
impairment of its intangible assets may exist, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the excess of carrying value over fair value. Our estimates in the determination of
the fair value of indefinite-lived intangible assets include the anticipated future revenue of corporate-owned and franchised restaurants and the resulting cash flows.

Based on our review of long-lived assets, we performed impairment testing. Based on our impairment testing, we determined it was more likely than not that certain long-lived
assets relating to our property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets were impaired at the BurgerFi reporting unit. Accordingly, the Company recorded an
impairment charge of approximately $8.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2021. Additionally, as a result of impairment of the Company's licensing agreements at
December 31, 2021, the Company reevaluated the useful life of 10 years and determined that such useful life be adjusted to22 months. Refer to Note 6 Impairment.

Goodwill

The Company accounts for goodwill in accordance with FASB ASC No. 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (“ASC 350”). ASC 350 requires goodwill to be reviewed for
impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances indicate a possible impairment. The Company evaluates goodwill in the fourth quarter or more frequently if
management believes indicators of impairment exist. Such indicators could include but are not limited to (1) a significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate,
(2) unanticipated competition, or (3) an adverse action or assessment by a regulator.

The Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including
goodwill. If management concludes that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, management conducts a quantitative
goodwill impairment test. This impairment test involves comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying value (including goodwill). The Company estimates the
fair values of its reporting unit using a combination of the income, or discounted cash flows approach and the market approach, which utilizes comparable companies’ data. If
the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, a goodwill impairment exists for the reporting unit and an impairment loss is recorded.

Based on the results of our annual goodwill impairment test, we determined it was more likely than not that goodwill was impaired at the BurgerFi reporting unit. Accordingly,
the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of approximately $106.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2021. Refer to Note 6 Impairment.

The estimated fair value of goodwill is subject to change as a result of many factors including, among others, any changes in our business plans, changing economic conditions,
a potential decrease in our stock price and market capitalization, and the competitive environment. Should actual cash flows and our future estimates vary adversely from those
estimates we use, we may be required to recognize impairment charges in future years.

The following table represents changes to the Company's goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2021:

(in thousands)

Goodwill as of December 31, 2020 $ 119,542
Adjustments to other current liabilities 4,439
Goodwill impairment for BurgerFi reporting unit (106,476)
Goodwill acquired in connection with the Anthony's acquisition 80,495
Goodwill as of December 31, 2021 $ 98,000
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For details on the goodwill acquired in connection with the Anthony's acquisition, as well as the measurement period adjustment to goodwill (which related to other current
liabilities) associated with the purchase price accounting for the BurgerFi acquisition, refer to Note 5 Acquisitions. As it relates to impairment of goodwill, refer to Note 6
Impairment.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs relate to the Company’s debt instruments, the short and long-term portions of which are reflected as deductions from the carrying amounts of the
related debt instrument, including the Company’s Credit Agreement. Deferred financing costs are amortized over the terms of the related debt instruments using the effective
interest method. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company deferred $1.0 million of financing costs in connection with its Credit Agreement. Amortization expense
associated with deferred financing costs, which is included within interest expense, net, totaled $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.See Note 10 Debt.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company has granted share-based compensation awards to certain employees under the 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan ). The Company measures the
cost of employee services received in exchange for an equity award, which may include grants of employee stock options and restricted stock units, based on the fair value of
the award at the date of grant. The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense over the requisite service period unless the awards are subject to performance
conditions, in which case we recognize compensation expense over the requisite service period to the extent performance conditions are considered probable. The Company will
determine the grant date fair value of stock options using a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model (the “Black-Scholes Model”). The grant date fair value of restricted
stock unit awards ( “RSU Awards ") and performance-based awards are determined using the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant, as set forth
in the applicable plan document, unless the awards are subject to market conditions, in which case we use a Monte Carlo simulation model. The Monte Carlo simulation model
utilizes multiple input variables to estimate the probability that market conditions will be achieved.

Warrant Liability

The Company has certain warrants which include provisions that affect the settlement amount. Such variables are outside of those used to determine the fair value of a fixed-for-
fixed instrument, and as such, the warrants are accounted for as liabilities in accordance with ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging, with changes in fair value included in the
consolidated statement of operations.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the
asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A three-level fair value hierarchy is required to prioritize the inputs used to
measure fair value. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows:

. Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

° Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices
for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

. Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. This includes
certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

Net (Loss) Income per Common Share
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Net (loss) income per common share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. The Company has
considered the effect of (1) warrants outstanding to purchase 15,063,800 shares of common stock and (2)75,000 shares of common stock and warrants to purchase75,000
shares of common stock in the unit purchase option, (3) 1,503,698 shares of restricted stock unit grants in the calculation of income per share, and (4) the impact of any
dividends associated with our redeemable preferred stock.

The historical partnership equity structure of BurgerFi did not include outstanding member units and as such, earnings per share information is omitted for the Predecessor
period.

Reconciliation of Net (Loss) Income per Common Share

Basic and diluted net (loss) income per common share is calculated as follows:

Successor
December 16, 2020
Year Ended through
(in thousands, except for per share data) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Numerator:
Net (loss) income available to common shareholders $ (121,494) $ 5,348
Reversal of gain on change in value of warrant liability $ (12,619) $ (5,597)
Net loss available to common shareholders - diluted $ (134,113) § (249)
Denominator:
Weighted-average shares outstanding 18,408,247 17,541,838
Effect of dilutive securities
Warrants 211,854 3,468,872
UPOs 4,346 415,405
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding 18,624,447 21,426,115
Basic net (loss) income per common share $ (6.60) $ 0.30
Diluted net loss per common share $ (7.20) $ (0.01)

For the year ended December 31, 2021, there were dilutive warrants and UPOs during the interim period, as such the reversal of the change in value of warrant liability is
included for that period only to calculate the net loss available to common shareholders - diluted. The diluted weighted shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2021
represent the average dilutive warrant and UPOs share equivalents for the year ended December 31, 2021 including the impact of the dilutive warrants and UPOs share
equivalents during the interim period for which the warrant and UPOs were dilutive.

Concentration of Risk

Management believes there is no concentration of risk with any single franchisee or small group of franchisees whose failure or nonperformance would materially affect the

Company’s results of operations. The Company had no customers which accounted for 10% or more of consolidated revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021, or for the

Successor period from December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020, or for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020. As of December 31, 2021, the

Company had one main in-line distributor of food, packaging and beverage products, excluding breads, that provided approximately 90% of the Company's restaurants

purchasing in the U.S. and three additional in-line distributors of beverages that, in the aggregate, provided approximately 5% of the Company's restaurant purchasing in the U.S.
We believe that our vulnerability to risk concentrations related to significant vendors and sources of our raw materials is mitigated as we believe that there are other vendors

who would be able to service our requirements. However, if a disruption of service from any of our main in-line distributors was to occur, we could experience short-term

increases in our costs while distribution channels were adjusted.
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The Company's restaurants are principally located throughout the United States. The Company has corporate-owned and franchised locations in26 states, with the largest
number in Florida. We believe the risk of geographic concentration is not significant. We could be adversely affected by changing consumer preferences resulting from
concerns over nutritional or safety aspects of ingredients we sell or the effects of food safety events or disease outbreaks.

The Company is subject to credit risk through its accounts receivable consisting primarily of amounts due from franchisees for royalties and franchise fees. This concentration
of credit risk is mitigated, in part, by the number of franchisees and the short-term nature of the franchise receivables.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue consists of restaurant sales and franchise licensing revenue. Generally, revenue is recognized as performance obligations transfer to the customer in an amount that
reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

Restaurant Revenue

Revenue from restaurant sales is presented net of discounts and recognized when food, beverage and retail products are sold. Sales tax collected from customers is excluded
from restaurant sales and the obligation is included in sales tax payable until the taxes are remitted to the appropriate taxing authorities. Sales from our gift cards are deferred
and recognized upon redemption for goods or services. Revenue from restaurant sales is generally paid at the time of sale. Credit cards and delivery service partners sales are
generally collected shortly after the sale occurs.

The revenue from electronic gift cards is deferred when purchased by the customer and revenue is recognized when the gift cards are redeemed. The Company is a Delaware
corporation and is subject to Delaware escheatment laws. Delaware escheatment laws state that gift cards are presumed to be abandoned after five years and the balance
remitted should represent the maximum cost to the issuer of merchandise.

The Company contracts with delivery service partners for delivery of goods and services to customers. The Company has determined that the delivery service partners are
agents, and the Company is the principal. Therefore, restaurant sales through delivery services are recognized at gross sales and delivery service revenue is recorded as expense.

Franchise Revenue

The franchise agreements require the franchisee to pay an initial, non-refundable fee and sometimes continuing fees based upon a percentage of sales. Generally, payment for
the initial franchise fee is received upon execution of the licensing agreement. Owners can make a deposit equal to 50% of the total franchise fee to reserve the right to open
additional locations. The remaining balance of the franchise fee is due upon signing by the franchisee of the applicable location’s lease or mortgage. Franchise deposits received
in advance for locations not expected to open within one year are classified as long-term liabilities, while franchise deposits received in advance for locations expected to open
within one year are classified as short-term liabilities.

Franchise revenue is comprised of certain initial franchise fees and ongoing sales-based royalty fees from a franchised BurgerFi restaurant. Generally, the licenses granted to
develop, open and operate each BurgerFi franchise in a specified territory are the predominant performance obligations transferred to the licensee in our contracts, and represent
symbolic intellectual property. Ancillary promised services, such as training and assistance during the initial opening of a BurgerFi restaurant are typically combined with the
licenses and considered as one performance obligation per BurgerFi franchise. Certain initial services such as site selection and lease review are considered distinct services that
are recognized at a point in time when the performance obligations have been provided, generally when the BurgerFi franchise has been opened. We determine the transaction
price for each contract and allocate it to the distinct services based on their standalone selling price based on the costs to provide the service and a profit margin. On an annual
basis, we perform a review to reevaluate the amount of this initial franchise fee revenue that is recognized.
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The remainder of the transaction price is recognized over the remaining term of the franchise agreement once the BurgerFi restaurant has been opened. Because we are
transferring licenses to access our intellectual property during a contractual term, revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the license term. These payments are
initially deferred and recognized as revenue as the performance obligations are satisfied.

Franchise agreements and deposit agreements outline a schedule for store openings. Failure to meet the schedule can result in forfeiture of deposits made. Forfeiture of deposits
is recognized as terminated franchise fee revenue once contracts have been terminated for failure to comply. All terminations are communicated to the franchisee in writing
using formal termination letters. Additionally, a franchise store that is already open may terminate before its lease term has ended, in which case the remainder of the
transaction price is recognized as terminated franchise fee revenue.

Revenue from sales-based royalties (i.e. royalty and other fees, brand development and advertising co-op royalty) is recognized as the related sales occur. The sales-based
royalties are invoiced and collected from the franchisees on a weekly basis. Rebates from vendors received on franchisee’s sales are also recognized as revenue from sales-based
royalties.

Contract Balances

Opening and closing balances of contract liabilities and receivables from contracts with customers for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
(in thousands) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Franchising receivables $ 212§ 480
Gift card liability 2,587 430
Deferred revenue, current 468 490
Deferred revenue, long-term 2,109 2,816
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Franchise Revenue

Revenue recognized during the period ended which were included in the balance of deferred revenue at the beginning of the period are as follows:

Successor Predecessor
December 16, 2020 January 1, 2020
Year Ended through through

(in thousands) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 December 15, 2020
Franchise Fees $ 1,069 $ 41 $ 1,023
An analysis of deferred revenue is as follows:

Successor Predecessor
(in thousands) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 * December 15, 2020
Balance, beginning of period $ 3,306 $ 3,053 |$ 4,688
Initial franchise fees received 290 278 413
Revenue recognized for stores open during period (235) (25) (362)
Revenue recognized related to franchise agreement termination (834) (693)
Other deferred revenue 50 — —
Balance, end of period $ 2,577 $ 3306 |$ 4,046

eginning balance for the Successor period is reflective of a fair value adjustment.
* Begi g ball the S period 1 lue adjustment.

Presentation of Sales Taxes

The Company collects sales tax from customers and remits the entire amount to the respective states. The Company’s accounting policy is to exclude the tax collected and
remitted from revenue and cost of sales. Sales tax payable amounted to approximately $1.1 million and $0.2 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and is
presented in accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Adbvertising Expenses

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $.9 million. Advertising expense for the Successor period from
December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020 and for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020 was $23,000 and $0.5 million, respectively.

Brand Development Royalties and Expenses

The Company’s franchise agreements provide for franchisee contributions of a percentage of gross restaurant sales, which are recognized as royalty income. Amounts collected
are required to be used for advertising and related costs, including reasonable costs of administration. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company had brand
development royalties of approximately $1.5 million and brand development expenses of approximately $1.7 million. For the Successor period from December 16, 2020 to
December 31, 2020, and for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020, the Company had brand development royalties of approximately $55,000 and
$1.2 million, respectively, and approximately $35,000 and $1.6 million of brand development expenses, respectively.
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Adbvertising Co-Op Royalties and Expenses

Many of the Company's South Florida franchises contribute a percentage of gross restaurant sales, which are recognized as royalty income. Amounts collected are required to
be used for local advertising and related costs, including reasonable costs of administration. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company had advertising co-op
royalties of approximately $0.5 million and advertising co-op expenses of approximately $0.8 million. For the Successor period from December 16, 2020 to December 31,
2020, and for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020, the Company had advertising co-op royalties of approximately $19,000 and $0.3 million,
respectively, and approximately $0 and $0.6 million of advertising co-op expenses, respectively.

Pre-opening Costs

The Company follows ASC Topic 720-15, “Start-up Costs,” which provides guidance on the financial reporting of start-up costs and organization costs. In accordance with this
ASC Topic, costs of pre-opening activities and organization costs are expensed as incurred. Pre-opening costs include all expenses incurred by a restaurant prior to the
restaurant's opening for business. These pre-opening costs include costs to relocate and reimburse restaurant management staff members, costs to recruit and train hourly
restaurant staff members, wages, travel, and lodging costs for our training team and other support staff members, as well as rent expense. Pre-opening costs can fluctuate
significantly from period to period based on the number and timing of restaurant openings and the specific pre-opening costs incurred for each restaurant.

Pre-opening costs expensed for the year ended December 31, 2021 were $1.9 million. Pre-opening costs expensed for the Successor period from December 16, 2020 to
December 31, 2020 and for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020 were $48,000 and $0.2 million, respectively.

Deferred Rent

Rent expense on non-cancelable leases containing known future scheduled rent increases or free rent periods is recorded on a straight-line basis over the respective lease term.
The lease term begins when the Company has the right to control the use of the leased property and includes the initial non-cancelable lease term plus any periods covered by
renewal options that the Company is reasonably assured of exercising. The difference between rent expense and rent paid is accounted for as deferred rent and is amortized over
the lease term.

Operating Leases

The Company leases restaurant locations that have terms expiring between May 2022 and February 2033. The initial obligation period is generallylO years. The restaurant
facilities primarily have renewal clauses for two S-year periods orone 10-year period, exercisable at the option of the Company. The Company includesone 5-year renewal
option in its lease term.

Certain lease agreements contain one or more of the following: tenant improvement allowances, rent holidays, rent escalation clauses and/or contingent rent provisions. The
Company includes scheduled rent escalation clauses for the purpose of recognizing straight-line rent. Certain of these leases require the payment of contingent rentals based on a
percentage of gross revenue, as defined in such leases, and certain other rent escalation clauses are based on the change in the Consumer Price Index. The Company received
cash incentives from certain landlords for specified leasehold improvements which are deferred and accreted on a straight-line basis over the related lease term as a reduction of
rent expense.
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Business Combinations

The determination of the fair value of net assets acquired in a business combination requires estimates and judgments of future cash flow expectations for the acquired business
and the related identifiable tangible and intangible assets. Fair values of net assets acquired are calculated using expected cash flows and industry-standard valuation techniques.
For current assets and current liabilities, book value is generally assumed to equal fair value. Goodwill is the amount by which consideration paid exceeds the fair value of
acquired net assets. A bargain purchase gain results when the fair value of an acquired business’ net assets exceeds its purchase price. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred
and are included within general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

Due to the time required to gather and analyze the necessary data for each acquisition, U.S. GAAP provides a“measurement period” of up to one year in which to finalize these
fair value determinations. During the measurement period, preliminary fair value estimates may be revised if new information is obtained about the facts and circumstances
existing as of the date of acquisition, or based on the final net assets and working capital of the acquired business, as prescribed in the applicable purchase agreement. Such
adjustments may result in the recognition of, or an adjustment to the fair values of, acquisition-related assets and liabilities and/or consideration paid, and are referred to as
“measurement period adjustments."” Measurement period adjustments are recorded to goodwill. Other revisions to fair value estimates for acquisitions are reflected as income or
expense, as appropriate.

Consideration paid generally consists of cash and, from time to time, shares, and potential future payments that are contingent upon the acquired business achieving certain
levels of earnings in the future, also referred to as “acquisition-related contingent consideration” or “earn-outs.” Earn-out liabilities are measured at their estimated fair values
as of the date of acquisition. Subsequent to the date of acquisition, if future Earn-out payments are expected to differ from Earn-out payments estimated as of the date of
acquisition, any related fair value adjustments, including those related to finalization of completed earn-out arrangements, are recognized in the period that such expectation is
considered probable. Changes in the fair value of Earn-out liabilities for the Company’s traditional earn-outs, other than those related to measurement period adjustments, as
described above, are recorded within other income or expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. A deferred tax asset or liability is recognized whenever there are (1) future tax effects from
temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and (2) operating loss, capital loss and tax
credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to the years in which those differences are expected to be
recovered or settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent the Company believes these assets will more likely than not be realized. In evaluating the realizability of deferred tax assets, the
Company considers all available positive and negative evidence, including the interaction and the timing of future reversals of existing temporary differences, projected future
taxable income, recent operating results and tax-planning strategies. When considered necessary, a valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amount of the
deferred tax assets to their anticipated realizable value.

Prior to the BurgerFi acquisition, the Company, with the consent of its members, had elected to be taxed as a partnership under the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and
similar state provisions. Partnerships are generally not subject to federal and state income taxes; the partners reflect their respective share of the Company’s taxable income or
loss on their individual tax returns. Therefore, there was no federal income tax recorded by the Company for the period from January 1, 2020 through December 15, 2020. In
this period, there were neither liabilities nor deferred tax assets relating to uncertain income tax provisions taken or expected to be taken on the tax returns.

Income tax uncertainties

We measure income tax uncertainties in accordance with a two-step process of evaluating a tax position. We first determine if it is more likely than not that a tax position will
be sustained upon examination based on the technical merits of the position. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is then measured, for
purposes of financial statement recognition, as the largest amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon effective settlement. We currently have no
unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2021 or 2020.
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We accrue interest related to uncertain tax positions in “Interest expense” and penalties in “General and administrative expenses.” At December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had no
amounts accrued for interest and for penalties.

The statute of limitations for the Company’s state tax returns varies, but generally the Company’s federal and state income tax returns from its 2017 fiscal year forward remain
subject to examination.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued guidance which requires lessees to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12
months and disclose certain information about the leasing arrangements. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of
expense recognition in the income statement. The Company will elect the package of practical expedients, as well as the hindsight practical expedient, permitted under the new
guidance, which includes allowing the Company to continue utilizing historical classification of leases. In preparation for the adoption, the Company has implemented new
accounting systems, business processes and internal controls to assist in the application of the new guidance. As an emerging growth company, this guidance is effective for our

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The adoption of the standard will result in the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for operating leases which
will result in additional assets and corresponding liabilities of approximately $60 million to $65 million on the consolidated balance sheet, with no material impact to its
consolidated statement of operations, stockholders’ equity, or cash flows. Our assessment is ongoing and subject to finalization such that the actual impact may differ from the

estimated range.

In June 2016, the FASB issued guidance which was subsequently amended by various standard updates. This guidance replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology in
current GAAP with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information when
determining credit loss estimates and requires financial assets to be measured net of expected credit losses at the time of initial recognition. As an emerging growth company,
this guidance will be effective for our fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of the new standard on
the consolidated financial statements.

In July 2021, the FASB issued guidance that requires lessors to classify and account for a lease with variable lease payments that do not depend on a reference index or a rate as
an operating lease if (a) the lease would have been classified as a sales-type lease or a direct financing lease in accordance with lease classification criteria and (b) the lessor
would have otherwise recognized a day-one loss. As a public company, this amendment is effective for our fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption
permitted. This guidance may be applied either retrospectively to leases that commenced or were modified on or after the adoption of lease guidance we adopted in 2019 or
prospectively to leases that commence or are modified on or after the date that this new guidance is applied. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adoption of the
new standard on the consolidated financial statements.

In October 2021, the FASB issued guidance which requires entities to recognize contract assets and contract liabilities in a business combination. As a public company, this
standard will be effective for our fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years and will be applied prospectively to
business combinations occurring on or after the effective date of the amendments. Early adoption of the standard is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
of the adoption of the new standard on the consolidated financial statements.

2. Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consisted of the following:

(in thousands) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP ) amount held in escrow $ — 3 2,237
Cash proceeds from the BurgerFi acquisition, withheld for working capital purposes — 996
Total Restricted Cash $ — 3 35233
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3. Property & Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

(in thousands)

Leasehold improvements

Kitchen equipment and other equipment
Computers and office equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Vehicles

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization

Property and equipment — net

BurgerFi International Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
$ 19,900 $ 5,477
7,810 1,548

1,425 208

2,340 792

88 27

31,563 8,052

(2,528) (48)

$ 29,035 $ 8,004

Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 was £.5 million. Depreciation expense for the Successor period from December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020
was $48,000. Depreciation expense for the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020 was $.0 million. In conjunction with the BurgerFi acquisition and
Anthony's acquisition, the basis of all property and equipment was recognized at fair value in purchase accounting.

The Company's long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment at the end of each reporting period and whenever there are triggering events that require us to perform this
review. The Company recorded $0.6 million of property and equipment impairment during the year ended December 31, 2021. Refer to Note 6 Impairment.

4. Intangible Assets

The following is a summary of the components of intangible assets and the related amortization expense:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Accumulated Net Carrying Accumulated

(in thousands) Amount Amortization Value Amount Amortization Net Carrying Value
Franchise agreements $ 24,839 $ 3,696 $ 21,143 § 24,839 § 147 $ 24,692
Trade names / trademarks 143,750 3,220 140,530 83,033 115 82,918
Liquor license 6,678 — 6,678 — 235
License agreement 1,176 925 251 8,882 37 8,845
VegeFi product 135 14 121 1 134

$ 176,578 $ 7,855 $ 168,723 $ 117,124 ' $ 300 $ 116,824

Liquor license is considered to have an indefinite life, and in addition to the Company's definite-lived intangible assets, is reviewed for impairment at the end of each reporting
period and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. The Company recorded $7.7 million of
intangible asset impairment for the year ended December 31, 2021, in relation to the Company's license agreement. See Note 6 Impairment.

Amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $.6 million. Amortization expense for the Successor period from December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020
was $0.3 million. The intangible assets for the Predecessor period were determined to be indefinite life intangibles. As suchpo amortization expense was recognized for the
period from January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020. The estimated aggregate amortization expense for intangible assets over the next five years ending December 31 and

thereafter is as follows:
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(in thousands)

2022 $ 8,490
2023 8,467
2024 8,353
2025 8,353
2026 8,353
Thereafter 120,029
Total $ 162,045

5. Acquisitions
Acquisition of BurgerFi International, LLC

On December 16, 2020,the Company consummated its merger with OPES. This acquisition qualified as a business combination under ASC 80%. Accordingly, the Company
recorded all assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition-date fair values, with any excess recognized as goodwill.

The aggregate value of the consideration paid by OPES in the BurgerFi acquisition was approximately £36.9 million.

Consideration Paid

(in thousands)

Cash $ 30,000
Common Stock 103,680
Contingent consideration 103,207
Total Consideration $ 236,887

The total consideration includes a) a cash payment of $30.0 million, b) the issuance of 6,603,773 common stock shares valued at approximately $103.7 million, and c)
contingent earnout consideration (Contingent Consideration) valued at approximately $103.2 million.

The former members of BurgerFi International, LLC may be entitled to an additional9,356,459 shares of Successor common stock (“Earnout Share Consideration”) if prior to
December 16, 2022, 2023, and 2023, the last reported closing prices of the Company's common stock in any 20 trading days within any consecutive 30 trading day period is
greater than or equal to $19.00, $22.00, and $25.00 per share, respectively, in which case the Company shall issue 3,947,368, 3,409,091, and 2,000,000 shares of common stock,
respectively.

The fair values of the contingent consideration were determined using the trading price of the Company’s common stock at the Closing Date and using a Monte Carlo simulation
model. The contingent consideration is assessed to be non-compensatory and recorded in additional paid-in capital as reflected in the consolidated statement of changes in
stockholders’ / members’ equity.

The input variables are noted in the table below:

2020
Risk-free interest rate 0.37 %
Expected life in years 3
Expected volatility 60 %
Expected dividend yield * 0%

* The Monte Carlo method assumes a reinvestment of dividends.
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The Monte Carlo simulation model utilized multiple input variables to estimate the probability that the stock price targets will be achieved. Based on the features of the earnout,
a Monte-Carlo Simulation was used to value the Contingent Consideration. The traded price of the common stock was simulated in each trial using Geometric Brownian
Motion, and the simulated path was then analyzed to determine which, if any, earnout tranches would be payable within the given trial. The estimated payments were calculated
by multiplying the shares earned for a given tranche by the simulated price as of the date that the earnout tranche was earned. The result was present valued using the risk-free
rate. The average of all trials resulted in the valuation conclusion, which was determined to be approximately $103.2 million.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, which have been finalized during the measurement period:

Fair Value

(in thousands) December 16, 2020
Cash $ 2,179
Cash - restricted 611
Accounts receivable 378
Inventory 260
Other current assets 1,235
Property and equipment 8,520
Intangible assets 117,124
Other assets 199
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other current liabilities (7,740)
Revolving line of credit (3,012)
Current portion of deferred franchise fees (521)
Other deposit (907)
Deferred initial franchise fees, net of current portion (2,531)
Notes payable (2,889)
Fair Value of Tangible and Identifiable Intangible assets and liabilities assumed $ 112,906
Consideration paid 236,887
Goodwill $ 123,981

Goodwill is recognized as the excess of consideration over the net assets acquired of BurgerFi and represents the value derived by BurgerFi’s market share and expected growth
in the market.

Acquired personal property assets consist of leasehold improvements, kitchen equipment, and restaurant furniture and fixtures, computer and point of sale systems, and audio

and video equipment (“Personal Property”), which were valued on in-use basis. The Company enlisted a third-party consultant to assist in the valuation of the Personal
Property (the “Valuation”).

Identifiable intangible assets acquired consist of customer relationships of franchise agreements, trade names and trademarks, liquor licenses, license agreements, and the
VegeFi product. The above were valued using the multi-period excess earnings method.
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Identifiable intangible assets acquired consisted of customer relationships of $24.8 million, trade names of $83.0 million and license agreements of $8.9 million. The customer
relationships were valued using the multi-period excess earnings method. The Company determined the useful life of the customer relationships to be 7 years. This is based on
the average remaining terms of our franchise agreements with our franchisees. The trade names were valued using the relief-from-royalty method. The Company determined the
useful life of the trade names to be 30 years. The license agreements and the customer relationships were valued using the multi-period excess earnings method. The Company
determined the useful life of the license agreements to be 10 years. The identifiable intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over their respective useful
lives.

The allocation of the excess purchase price was based upon preliminary estimates and assumptions and was subject to revision when the Company received final information.
Accordingly, the measurement period for such purchase price allocations ended on December 15, 2021 or twelve months from the date of acquisition. Adjustments to goodwill
during the measurement period were made to reflect the facts and circumstances in existence as of the Closing Date and include updates to estimates of provisional amounts
recorded as of the Closing Date. The adjustments primarily related to updating the fair value recorded for a provisional estimate of lease guarantees provided by the Company.
The adjustment resulted in an increase to goodwill and other liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The following table represents changes to goodwill
from the initial purchase price allocation:

(in thousands)

Goodwill as of December 31, 2020 $ 119,542
Adjustments to other current liabilities (measurement period adjustments) $ 4,439
Goodwill as of December 31, 2021 (prior to impairment charges recorded) $ 123,981

Acquisition of Hot Air, Inc.

On November 3, 2021, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares and voting interest of Anthony's. The results of Anthony's operations have been
included in the consolidated financial statements since that date. Anthony's, through its subsidiaries, owns and operates casual dining pizza restaurants under the trade name
Anthony's Coal Fired Pizza & Wings. As of the acquisition date, Anthony's had 61 restaurants open and operational in Florida, Delaware, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, New York,
Massachusetts, Maryland, and Rhode Island.

The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred totaled $75.9 million, which consisted of the following:
Consideration Paid

(in thousands)

Common Stock $ 25,562
Preferred Stock 46,906
Option Consideration Shares 3,403
Total Consideration $ 75,871

The fair value of the common shares issued and option consideration shares was determined based on the closing market price of the Company’s common shares on the day
preceding the acquisition date. The fair value of the preferred stock was determined using a discounted cash flow methodology. The expected future redemption payment was
forecasted based on the contractual PIK (payment in kind) interest and estimated redemption date of December 31, 2024.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. The Company determined the fair value of certain
intangible assets. The Company is in the process of finalizing its assessment of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed; thus, the provisional measurements
of intangible assets, goodwill and deferred income taxes are subject to change. The allocation of the excess purchase price was based upon preliminary estimates and
assumptions and is subject to revision. The measurement period for such purchase price allocations end on November 3, 2022 or twelve months from the date of acquisition.
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Fair Value

(in thousands) November 3, 2021
Cash $ 5,522
Accounts receivable 597
Inventory 986
Other current assets 1,662
Property and equipment 13,534
Intangible assets 67,344
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other current liabilities (15,451)
Long-term borrowings (77,063)
Deferred tax liability $ (1,755)
Fair Value of Tangible and Identifiable Intangible assets and liabilities assumed $ (4,624)
Consideration paid 75,871
Goodwill $ 80,495

Of the $67.3 million of acquired intangible assets, $60.7 million was assigned to registered trademarks with a30-year useful life and $6.6 million was assigned to acquired

liquor licenses with an indefinite life. The goodwill recognized is attributable primarily to expected synergies and the assembled workforce of Anthony's. None of the goodwill is
expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The Company recognized $3.1 million of acquisition-related costs that were expensed in the current period. These costs are included in the consolidated statement of operations
within General and administrative expenses. The Company also recognized $0.8 million in costs associated with issuing and registering the shares issued as consideration in the
Anthony's acquisition. Those costs were deducted from the recognized proceeds of issuance within stockholders’ equity.

The accounting for the Anthony's acquisition is considered provisional because we have not finalized certain aspects of the purchase price allocation including theutilization of
the U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards which may be subject to a substantial annual limitation under Sections 382 and 383 of the IRC and corresponding
provisions of state law, due to ownership changes that have occurred previously as well as the valuation of certain assets and contingencies.

The amounts of revenue and net loss for Anthony's included in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the period from November 3, 2021, the acquisition date,
through December 31, 2021 are as follows:

(in thousands) 2021
Revenue $ 22,419
Net Loss (142)

Proforma Information (Unaudited)

The following represents the unaudited proforma consolidated statement of operations as if the BurgerFi acquisition and Anthony's acquisition had been included in the
consolidated results of the Company for the entire years ending December 31, 2021 and 2020:

(in thousands) 2021 2020
Revenue $ 168,906 $ 107,160
Net Loss (138,490) (19,890)
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These amounts have been calculated after applying the Company’s accounting policies and adjusting the results of Anthony's to reflect the additional depreciation and
amortization that would have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments to property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets had been applied on January 1, 2020,
together with the consequential tax effects.

6. Impairment

The Company recognized a non-cash impairment charge of approximately $114.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2021.This consisted of the following:

(in thousands) 2021
Goodwill $ 106,476
Definite-lived intangible assets 7,706
Long-lived assets 615
Total non-cash impairment charge $ 114,797

Based on the results of our annual goodwill impairment test, we determined it was more likely than not that goodwill was impaired at the BurgerFi reporting unit. Accordingly,
the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of approximately $106.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The majority of the goodwill impairment was
driven by the impact on the Company's market capitalization due to the decrease in stock price, coupled with significant declines to the equity values of our peers.

Based on our review at the end of each reporting period of definite-lived intangible assets, we performed impairment testing for the related asset group for which there are
independently identifiable cash flows. Based on our impairment testing at December 31, 2021, we determined that it was more likely than not that our definite-lived intangible
assets related to the Company's licensing agreements were impaired at the BurgerFi reporting unit, and accordingly, the Company recorded impairment charges of
approximately $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.The impairment amount was primarily the result of lower cash flow estimates associated with the licensing
agreements as well as a change in estimate of the related useful life.

Based on our review at the end of each reporting period of long-lived assets, we performed impairment testing for the related asset group for which there are independently
identifiable cash flows. Based on our impairment testing, we determined it was more likely than not that certain long-lived assets relating to our property and equipment at
certain corporate-owned restaurants were impaired at the BurgerFi reporting unit, and accordingly, the Company recorded impairment charges of approximately $0.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021.

As it relates to determining the fair values of the assets we performed impairment testing for, refer to Note 14 Fair Value Measurements.
7. Related Party Transactions

The Company is affiliated with various entities through common control and ownership. The accompanying consolidated balance sheets reflect amounts related to periodic
advances between the Company and these entities for working capital and other needs as due from related companies or due to related companies, as appropriate. The amounts
due from related companies are not expected to be repaid within one year and accordingly, are classified as non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
These advances are unsecured and non-interest bearing.

There were no amounts due from or due to related companies as of December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2020, there were approximately $4,000 included as due from
related companies in the consolidated balance sheet.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company received royalty revenue from franchisees related to a significant shareholder totaling approximately $.3 million. For the
Successor period from December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020 and the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020, the Company received royalty
revenue from franchisees related through common control and ownership totaling approximately $17,000 and $0.3 million, respectively.
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The Company leases building space for its corporate office from an entity under common ownership with a significant shareholder. This lease had a36-month term, effective
January 1, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2021, rent expense was approximately $0.2 million. For the Successor period from December 16, 2020 to December 31,
2020 and the Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020, rent expense was approximately $1,000 and $0.2 million, respectively. In January 2022, we
exercised our right to terminate this North Palm Beach lease effective as of July 2022. Pursuant to an amended lease we entered into in February 2022, we also lease
approximately 16,500 square feet (expanding to approximately 18,500 square feet in July 2022) in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, for a term expiring in 2032, with an option to
renew. This building space for our new combined BurgerFi and Anthony’s corporate office is leased from an entity controlled by the Company's Executive Chairman.

The Company also leases building space for a restaurant located in Virginia from an entity (i) in which the Company's Executive Chairman of the Board has an indirect
minority ownership interest, and (ii) which is managed by an entity in which the Company's Executive Chairman of the Board has an indirect ownership interest. This lease,
entered into on October 21, 2020, is for a ten-year term effective on the earlier to occur of the date the tenant opened for business and180 days from the date the landlord
delivered possession of the premises to the tenant. Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $46,000 and $0, respectively.

In April 2021, the Company entered into an independent contractor agreement with a corporation (the “Consultant”) for which the Chief Operating Officer (the "Consultant
Principal”) of Lionheart Capital, LLC, an entity controlled by the Company’s Executive Chairman of the Board, serves as President. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the
Consultant shall provide certain strategic advisory services to the Company in exchange for total annual cash compensation and expense reimbursements of $0.1 million,
payable in twelve (12) equal monthly payments beginning in April 2021. The Consultant also received an additional $29,000 of cash compensation for services provided in
April 2021. In addition, in July 2021, the Consultant Principal received an award of 50,000 restricted stock units, which shall vest infive equal annual installments, subject to
the Company achieving certain annual revenue targets starting in 2021, and in November 2021, the Consultant Principal received a $250,000 bonus in connection with the
Company's Anthony's acquisition. For the year ended December 31, 2021, 10,000 of these units vested, resulting in stock compensation expense of $.2 million, which has
been recorded in connection with the vesting of these restricted stock units. Further, effective January 3, 2022, the Consultant Principal was granted 37,959 unrestricted shares
of common stock of the Company.

In connection with the acquisition of Anthony's, the Company issued redeemable preferred stock and assumed certain liabilities, including the Delayed Draw Term Loan
Facility, which was provided by a related party and a significant shareholder. The Delayed Draw Term Loan is a non-interest bearing loan which matures on June 15, 2024.
Refer to Note 9 Redeemable Preferred Stock and Note 10 Debt.

8. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company has entered into various operating leases. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Successor period from December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020, and the
Predecessor period from January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020, rent expense was approximately $4.9 million, $19,000, and $2.7 million, respectively. These lease agreements
expire on various dates through 2033 and have renewal options. Approximate future minimum payments on these operating leases for the years ended December 31 are as
follows:

(in thousands)

2022 $ 11,159
2023 12,911
2024 11,287
2025 9,520
2026 7,733
Thereafter 22,542
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Sale Commitment

In February 2020, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with an unrelated third party for the sale of substantially all of the assets used in connection with the
operation of BF Dania Beach, LLC for an aggregate purchase price of $1.3 million. During January to April 2020, the Company received three cash deposits totaling $0.9
million in connection with this transaction. The closing of this transaction has been delayed due to additional negotiation that has been on-going through the report date of April
14, 2022. In the event the transaction is terminated, the Company will keep operating the restaurant, and return the $0.9 million to the unrelated third-party purchaser. Assets
used in the operations of BF Dania Beach, LLC totaling $0.7 million have been classified as held for sale in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Contingencies

Eric Gilbert v. BurgerFi International, Inc., Ophir Sternberg, et al. (Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, Case No. 2022-0185- , filed on February 25, 2022Mr.
Gilbert filed a class action lawsuit against BurgerFi International, Inc. and each of the members of the Board of Directors alleging that the Company’s Amended and Restated
Bylaws improperly contains a provision restricting written consents by the shareholders. Mr. Gilbert is seeking an amendment to the bylaws, as well as attorney”’ fees and costs.
At this preliminary stage, it is difficult to provide an evaluation of the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome or a reasonable estimate of the amount or range of potential loss.
Based on the information known to date, the Company’s potential liability appears to be reasonably possible, but the amount of potential loss cannot be reasonably estimated;
any losses, however, may be material to the Company's financial position and results of operations.

BurgerFi International, LLC v Shree at Philly Downtown, LLC, et. al.(U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida, Case No. 15-81544-CIV filed November 10,
2015). BurgerFi filed this suit against Shree at Philly Downtown LLC, a franchisee and its principals (collectively, “Shree”). BurgerFi seeks declaratory judgments and
damages in an amount to be proven at trial for various breaches of the applicable franchise agreements resulting from the Shree’s closure of the New Brunswick, New Jersey
restaurant, its failure to open the Secaucus, New Jersey restaurant, and its operational defaults at the Philadelphia, Pennsylvania restaurant. In April 2016, Shree filed a
counterclaim, asserting that it had no responsibility for its losses, and instead, alleged that we have engaged in breach of contract, fraud, misrepresentation, conversion in
connection with the operation of the restaurant, and various other allegations, seeking damages of over $5 million. We denied any wrongdoing. On December 30, 2016, the
court stayed the case pending the resolution of the bankruptcy filings made by some of the defendants. No further action has occurred. Management is unable to determine the
likelihood of a loss or range of loss, if any, which may result from the case described above, therefore, no contingent liability has been recorded as of December 31, 2021; any
losses, however, may be material to the Company's financial position and results of operations.

Corey Winograd v BurgerFi International, LLC (Fifteenth Judicial Circuit Court of Palm Beach County, Florida, Case No. 502019-CA015256, filed December 1, 2019). Corey
Winograd, the former chief executive officer of the Company, filed this suit against BurgerFi for certain alleged breaches of an employment agreement, claiming damages in
excess of $15 million. BurgerFi filed a motion to dismiss the complaint on February 13, 2020. On May 20, 2020, the motion to dismiss was heard, which was granted in part and
denied in part. The portion of the complaint not dismissed was answered by BurgerFi with affirmative defenses raised on July 7, 2020. The plaintiff served various discovery
requests (including notices of non-party subpoenas) on July 9, 2020 as well as a motion to strike BurgerFi’s affirmative defenses on July 16, 2020. BurgerFi filed objections to
the non-party subpoenas on July 20, 2020. On September 11, 2020, BurgerFi filed a motion to dismiss and certain claims were dismissed by the court. The complaint now
involves claims for alleged breach of contract (count I) and alleged action for equitable relief including an accounting and constructive lien (count II). On September 4, 2020,
the parties met for mediation but were unable to resolve this matter. We believe that all claims are meritless, and we plan to vigorously defend these allegations. Management is
unable to determine the likelihood of a loss or range of loss, if any, which may result from the case described above, therefore, no contingent liability has been recorded as of
December 31, 2021; any losses, however, may be material to the Company's financial position and results of operations.
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Second 82nd SM, LLC v. BF NY 82, LLC, BurgerFi International, LLC and BurgerFi International, Inc. {n the Supreme Court of the State of New York County of New York,
having index No. 654907/2021 filed August 11, 2021). A lawsuit was filed by Second 82 " SM, LLC (“Landlord”) against BF NY 82, LLC (“Tenant’) whereby Landlord
brought a seven-count lawsuit for, among other things, breach of the lease agreement and underlying guaranty of the lease. The amount of damages Landlord is seeking is over
$0.5 million, which constitutes back rent, late charges, real estate taxes, illuminated sign charges and water/sewer charges. On November 3, 2021, the Company filed a Motion
to Dismiss the Complaint. On November 17, 2021, the Tenant filed an Answer to Landlord’s Complaint and a cross claim against the Company, which the Company answered
on December 7, 2021. On December 22, 2021, the Company filed its Response in Opposition to Landlord’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Memo in further Support of its
Motion to Dismiss. The parties continue to discuss a settlement, including turning over possession of the premises to the Landlord. The Company is unable to predict the
ultimate outcome of this matter, however, losses may be material to the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

Lion Point Capital Allegation. Beginning March 9, 2021 through March 11, 2022, the Company received letters from counsel to Lion Point Capital, LLC, a shareholder of the
Company, alleging that the Company failed to timely register Lion Point’s shares in violation of the Registration Rights Agreement, which allegedly resulted in losses of
$11 million. The Company responded to each claim denying that any breach had occurred or that Lion Point incurred any damages caused by the delay in the filing of the
Registration Statement. We believe that all claims are meritless, and we plan to vigorously defend these allegations. While no further action has occurred, management is
unable to determine the likelihood of a loss or range of loss, if any, which may result from the cases described above, therefore, no contingent liability has been recorded as of
December 31, 2021; any losses, however, may be material to the Company's financial position and results of operations.

John Rosatti, as Trustee of the John Rosatti Revocable Trust U/A/D 08/27/2001 (the "JR Trust") v. BurgerFi International, Inc(In the Circuit Court for the Eleventh Judicial
Circuit, Florida, File No. 146578749). On March 28, 2022, the JR Trust filed a suit against BurgerFi alleging that the JR Trust suffered losses in excess of §50,000 relating to
BurgerFi’s alleged failure to timely file a registration rights agreement. The Company believes this case is without merit and intends to defend the case vigorously. Management
is unable to determine the likelihood of a loss or range of loss, if any, which may result from the case, therefore, no contingent liability has been recorded as of December 31,
2021; any losses, however, may be material to the Company's financial position and results of operations.

Burger Guys of Dania Pointe, et. al. v. BFI, LLC(in the Circuit Court of the 15" Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida, Case No. 50-2021-CA -006501-
XXXX-MB filed May 21, 2021). In response to a demand letter issued by the Company to Gino Gargiulo, a former franchisee, demanding that Mr. Gargiulo pay the balance
owed under an asset purchase agreement wherein BurgerFi sold the Dania Beach, Florida BurgerFi location to Mr. Gargiulo, Mr. Gargiulo claims that no further monies are
owed under the asset purchase agreement and alleges that the Company is responsible for one of Gargiulo’s failed franchises in Sunny Isles, Florida, losses he has allegedly
sustained at his Dania Beach location, and reimbursement of expenses in connection with his marketing company. Mr. Gargiulo seeks damages in excess of $2 million in the
aggregate. We believe that all claims are meritless, and we plan to vigorously defend these allegations. The parties attended mediation on January 20, 2022, but it ended in an
impasse. Management is unable to determine the likelihood of a loss or range of loss, if any, which may result from the cases described above, therefore, no contingent liability
has been recorded as of December 31, 2021; any losses, however, may be material to the Company's financial position and results of operations.

Employment Related Claims.

In July 2021, the Company received a demand letter from the attorney of one of our now former hourly restaurant employees. The letter alleges that the former employee was
sexually harassed by one of her co-workers. The demand letters claim that we discriminated and retaliated against the former employee based on her gender and age and also
alleged intentional infliction of emotional distress, negligent hiring, negligent training, and negligent supervision.

In February 2020, a former employee filed a charge of discrimination with the EEOC alleging age discrimination. In June 2021, the claimant filed a demand for arbitration. The
parties agreed to mediate the matter before commencing the arbitration proceedings but were unable to resolve the case.

78



Table of Contents
BurgerFi International Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

While we believe that all claims of thetwo above mentioned Employment Related Claims, which are covered under the Company’s insurance policies, are meritless, and we
plan to defend these allegations, it is reasonably possible that the Company may ultimately be required to pay substantial damages to the claimants, which could be up to $0.8
million or more in aggregate compensatory damages, attorneys’ fees and costs. Management believes that any liability, in excess of applicable insurance coverages or accruals,
which may result from these claims, would not be significant to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

General Liability and Other Claims.

The Company is subject to other legal proceedings and claims that arise during the normal course of business, including landlord disputes and slip and fall cases. While we
intend to vigorously defend these matters, it is reasonably possible that the Company may be required to pay substantial damages to the claimants, which could be up to
$0.4 million or more in aggregate compensatory damages, attorney’s fees and costs related to such identified matters. Management believes that any liability, in excess of
applicable insurance coverages or accruals, which may result from these claims, would not be significant to the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

9. Redeemable Preferred Stock

On November 3, 2021, and as part of the Anthony's acquisition, the Company issued 2,120,000 shares of redeemable preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share, as Series A
Preferred Stock (the "Series A Junior Preferred Stock'). The Series A Junior Preferred Stock is redeemable on November 3, 2027 and accrues dividends at 7.00% per annum
compounded quarterly from June 15, 2024 with such rate increasing by an additional 0.35% per quarter commencing with the three month period ending September 30, 2024
and (b) in the event that the Credit Facility is refinanced or repaid in full prior to June 15, 2024 and the Series A Junior Preferred Stock is not redeemed in full on such date,
from and after such date, shall accrue dividends at 5.00% per annum, compounded quarterly, until June 15, 2024.

The Series A Junior Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Common Stock and may be redeemed at the option of the Company at any time and must be redeemed by the Company
in limited circumstances. The Series A Junior Preferred Stock shall not have voting rights or conversion rights. The Series A Junior Preferred Stock is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value reported as interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

As of December 31, 2021, the fair value of the redeemable preferred stock was $7.5 million and the redemption amount was $53 million. During the year ended December 31,
2021, as it relates to fair value adjustment, the Company recorded interest expense on the redeemable preferred stock in the amount of $0.6 million.

10. Debt
December 31, December 31,

(in thousands) 2021 2020

Term loan $ 57,761 $ —
Related party note 10,000 —
Revolving line of credit 2,500 3,012
Notes payable 706 555
Other notes payable, no recourse to the general credit of the Company 168 168
Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) — 2,237
Total Debt $ 71,135 $ 5,972
Less: Unamortized debt discount to related party note (1,276) —
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs (1,007) —
Total Debt, net 68,852 5,972
Less: Short-term borrowings 3,331) (4,450)
Total Long-term borrowings and related party note $ 65,521 § 1,522
Credit Agreement
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On November 3, 2021, and in connection with the acquisition of Anthony's, the Company joined a credit agreement with a syndicate of commercial banks providing Anthony's
with up to $71.8 million in financing (“Credit Agreement ), which is reflective of the $8.3 million that the Company paid down at the acquisition date. The Credit Agreement,
which terminates on June 15, 2024, provides the Company with lender financing structured as a $57.8 million term loan, a $4 million revolving loan, and a $10 million delayed
draw term loan facility (the “Delayed Draw Term Loan Facility”) provided by a related party and a significant shareholder. The terms of the Credit Agreement require the
Company to repay the principal of the term loan in quarterly installments with the balance due at the maturity date, as follows:

in thousands

2022 $ 3,254
2023 3,254
2024 51,253
Total $ 57,761

The loan and revolving line of credit are secured by substantially all of the Company’s assets and incurs interest on outstanding amounts at4.75% per annum through 6/15/2023
and 6.75% from 6/16/2023 through maturity. The Delayed Draw Term Loan Facility is a non-interest bearing loan and accordingly has been recorded at fair value which
resulted in a debt discount of approximately $1.3 million which is being amortized over the period of the Delayed Draw Term Loan Facility. For the year ended December 31,
2021, the Company recorded $0.1 million as amortization of the debt discount which is included within interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. Pursuant to the terms of an amendment to the Credit Agreement effective as of March 9, 2022, certain of the covenants of (i) the Company and Plastic Tripod, Inc.,
as the borrowers (the "Borrowers”), and (ii) the subsidiary guarantors (the "Guarantors") party to the Credit Agreement were amended, and the Borrowers and Guarantors
agreed to pay incremental deferred interest of 2% per annum, in the event that the Credit Agreement is not repaid on or prior to June 15, 2023; provided, however, that if no
event of default has occurred and is continuing then (1) no incremental deferred interest will be due if all of the obligations under the Credit Agreement have been paid on or
prior to December 31, 2022, and (2) only 50% of the incremental deferred interest will be owed if all of the obligations under the Credit Agreement have been paid from and
after January 1, 2023 and on or prior to March 31, 2023.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company deferred $1.0 million of financing costs in connection with its Credit Agreement. Amortization expense associated with
deferred financing costs, in the amount of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021is included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.

Notes Payable

Note payable relates to a note payable to an individual, issued in connection with the Company’s acquisition of a franchised restaurant, which requires monthly payments of
$9,000 over a seven-year amortization including 7% interest, with a maturity date of May 1, 2027. The other notes payable relates to an Economic Injury Disaster Loan from
the Small Business Administration (“SBA ") and is primarily for one corporate-owned restaurant.

Line of Credit

The Company had a revolving line of credit agreement (“LOC”) of $5 million. In January 2021, the Company terminated the LOC and paid the total amount due of $ million.
As of December 31, 2020, the outstanding balance on the LOC was $3 million. The annual interest on advances under the LOC was equal to the LIBOR Daily Floating rate plus
0.75%.

PPP Loans
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On May 11, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the amount of $£.2 million under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”). During the year ended December 31,
2021, all PPP loans amounting to $2.2 million were forgiven by the SBA. The SBA may undertake a review of a loan of any size during the six-year period following
forgiveness of the loan; however, loans in excess of $2 million are subject to a mandatory audit. The audit will include the loan forgiveness application, as well as whether the
Company met the eligibility requirements of the program and received the proper loan amount. The timing and outcome of any SBA review is not known.

The following table represents the future annual principal obligations under our various debt instruments as of December 31, 2021:

in thousands

2022 $ 3,332
2023 3,339
2024 63,845
2025 98
2026 105
Thereafter 416
Total $ 71,135

11.  Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities

On April 1, 2020, the Company acquired a restaurant from a franchisee, with financing on a note payable of .6 million. As described in Note 5 Acquisitions, consideration
issued in the BurgerFi acquisition included shares of stock valued at $103.7 million, and contingent consideration valued at $103.2 million.

As described in Note 5 Acquisitions, consideration issued in the Anthony's acquisition included redeemable preferred stock of approximately $53 million (carrying value of
approximately $46.9 million at November 3, 2021 and fair value of approximately $47.5 million at December 31, 2021) and shares of common stock of approximately £9.0
million. The fair value of the preferred stock was determined using a discounted cash flow methodology. The expected future redemption payment was forecasted based on the
contractual PIK (payment in kind) interest and estimated redemption date of December 31, 2024.
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12. Income Taxes

The provision for (benefit) from income taxes is set forth below:

(in thousands)
Current:
U.S. Federal
State
Total current income tax expense
Deferred:
U.S. Federal
State
Total deferred income tax benefit
Valuation allowance

Income tax expense (benefit)

BurgerFi International Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% to our effective tax rate is set forth below:

(in thousands)

Income tax provision at the U.S. federal statutory rate
Permanent differences

Share-based compensation

State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Change in derivative liability

Goodwill impairment

True-up

Change in valuation allowance

Change in rate

Tax credits

Total income tax (benefit) expense

Successor
December 16, 2020
Year Ended through
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

$ — 3 4
— 4

(7,833) (314)

(2,192) (56)

(10,025) (370)

10,337 —

312 (370)

$ 312 $ (366)

Successor
December 16, 2020
Year Ended through
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

(25,407) $ 1,046
402 (181)

496 —
(1,888) (56)
(2,900) (1,175)

19,820 —

42 —

10,337 —

(406) —

(184) —

312§ (366)

The components of the Company's deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 are set forth below:
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Successor
Year Ended December 16, 2020 through
(in thousands) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 57 $ 33
Goodwill 2,794 —
Deferred franchise fees 684 752
Deferred rent 239 7
Stock compensation 1,250 203
Net operating losses, Federal 11,215 1,550
Net operating losses, State 2,066 —
Deferred payroll taxes 217 —
Interest expense 3,540 —
Tax credits 713 —
Other 1,075 151
Gross deferred tax assets 23,850 2,696
Valuation allowance (11,383) —
Net deferred tax assets 12,467 2,696
Fixed assets (520) (1,876)
Intangible assets (13,300) 87)
Goodwill — (20)
Deferred tax liabilities (13,820) (1,983)
Total net deferred tax (liabilities) assets $ (1,353) $ 713

As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s federal net operating loss carryforwards for income tax purpoes was $53.4 million. On a tax-effected basis, the Company also had
net operating losses of $2.1 million related to various state jurisdictions. $44.9 million of the federal net operating loss carryforwards will be carried forward indefinitely and
will be available to offset 80% of taxable income. The remaining amount of the federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire at varying dates through 2037.

Pursuant to Sections 382 and 383 of the IRC and corresponding provisions of state law, the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits may be limited as a
result of a cumulative change in stock ownership of more than 50% over a three year period. The Company underwent such a change and consequently, the utilization of a
portion of the net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits is subject to certain limitations.

In assessing the realizability of deferred income tax assets, ASC 740 requires that a more likely than not standard be met. If the Company determines that it is more likely than
not that deferred income tax assets will not be realized, a valuation allowance must be established. The realization of deferred tax assets depends on the generation of future
taxable income during the periods in which the temporary differences become deductible. Management considers reversal of deferred income tax liabilities, projected future
taxable income, and tax planning strategies when making this determination. The Company has experienced cumulative losses in recent years which is significant negative
evidence that is difficult to overcome in order to reach a determination that a valuation allowance is not required. Based on the Company's evaluation of its deferred tax assets, a
valuation allowance of approximately $11.4 million has been recorded against the deferred tax asset.

The following table summarizes the Company's unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2021 and December 30, 2020:
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Successor
Year Ended December 16, 2020 through
(in thousands) December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Beginning balance $ — 3 —
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year $ — S —
Additions for tax positions of prior years $ 660 $ =
Ending balance $ 660 $ —

The Company had outstanding federal refund claims of approximately $0.7 million as of December 31, 2021. In March 2022, the Company received approximately $0.7 million
of those refund claims.

13.  Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of common stock with a par value of $.0001 per share. Holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to one
vote for each share. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, there were 21,303,500 shares and 17,541,838 shares of common stock outstanding, respectively.

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share with such designation, rights and preferences as may be
determined from time to time by the Company’s Board of Directors.

On November 3, 2021, and as part of the Anthony's acquisition, the Company issued 2,120,000 shares of redeemable preferred stock. As of December 31, 2020, there wereno
shares of preferred stock issued or outstanding. See Note 9 Redeemable Preferred Stock.

Warrants

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had the following warrants and options outstanding:15,063,800 warrants outstanding, each exercisable for one share of common stock
at an exercise price of $11.50 including 11,468,800 in Public Warrants, 3,000,000 in Private Placement Warrants, 445,000 in Private Warrants and 150,000 in Working Capital
Warrants, 75,000 Unit Purchase Option “UPO” units that are exercisable for one share of common stock at an exercise price of $0.00 and warrants exercisable for one share
of common stock at an exercise price of $11.50. The Public Warrants expire in December 2025.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company exchanged675,000 UPO units for283,669 common shares in a cashless exercise, issued100 shares for warrants
exercised in cash and issued 7,969 shares in cashless warrant exercises.

The Public Warrants became exercisable 30 days after the completion of the BurgerFi acquisition, provided that the Company has an effective registration statement under the
Securities Act covering the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the Public Warrants and a current prospectus relating to them is available. Warrant holders may,

during any period when the Company shall have failed to maintain an effective registration statement, exercise warrants on a cashless basis pursuant to the exemption provided
by Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act, provided that such exemption is available. If that exemption, or another exemption, is not available, holders will not be able to exercise
their warrants on a cashless basis.

The Company may redeem the Public Warrants:

*  in whole and not in part;
» ataprice of $0.01 per warrant;
*  atany time during the exercise period;
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*  upon a minimum of 30 days' prior written notice of redemption; and

+ if, and only if, the last sale price of the Company's common stock equals or exceeds §8.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the
third business day prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

» if, and only if, there is a current registration statement in effect with respect to the shares of common stock underlying such warrants.

If the Company calls the Public Warrants for redemption, management will have the option to require all holders that wish to exercise the Public Warrants to do so on a
“cashless basis,” as described in the warrant agreement. The exercise price and number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants may be adjusted in
certain circumstances including in the event of a stock dividend, or recapitalization, reorganization, merger or consolidation. However, the warrants will not be adjusted for
issuance of common stock at a price below its exercise price. Additionally, in no event will the Company be required to net cash settle the warrants.

The Private Placement Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants, except that the Private Placement Warrants and the common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Private
Placement Warrants became transferable, assignable or salable after the completion of the BurgerFi acquisition, subject to certain limited exceptions. Additionally, the Private
Placement Warrants will be exercisable on a cashless basis and be non-redeemable so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the Private
Placement Warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the Private Placement Warrants will be redeemable by the Company
and exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants. Due to this provision, the Private Placement Warrants are accounted for as liabilities.

The Private Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants, except that the Private Warrants and the common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Private Warrants became
transferable, assignable or salable after the completion of the BurgerFi acquisition, subject to certain limited exceptions. Additionally, the Private Warrants may be exercisable
on a cashless basis and be non-redeemable so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the Private Warrants are held by someone other
than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the Private Warrants will be redeemable by the Company and exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the
Public Warrants. Due to this provision, the Private Warrants are accounted for as liabilities.

The Working Capital Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants, except that the Working Capital Warrants and the common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Working
Capital Warrants became transferable, assignable or salable after the completion of the BurgerFi acquisition, subject to certain limited exceptions. Additionally, the Working
Capital Warrants will be exercisable on a cashless basis and be non-redeemable so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the Working
Capital Warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the Working Capital Warrants will be redeemable by the Company and
exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants. Due to this provision, the Working Capital Warrants are accounted for as liabilities.

Unit Purchase Options

The Company has an outstanding Unit Purchase Option Agreement with an investos, to purchase up to 750,000 Units (Units include 1 common share and 1 warrant per Unit)
exercisable at $10.00 per Unit. The unit purchase option may be exercised for cash or on a cashless basis, at the holder’s option, and expires on March 17, 2023. The option
grants to holders demand and “piggyback” rights for periods of five and seven years, respectively, from March 13, 2018 with respect to the registration under the Securities Act
of the securities directly and indirectly issuable upon exercise of the option. The Company will bear all fees and expenses attendant to registering the securities, other than
underwriting commissions which will be paid for by the holders themselves. The exercise price and number of units issuable upon exercise of the option may be adjusted in
certain circumstances including in the event of a stock dividend, or the Company’s recapitalization, reorganization, merger or consolidation. However, the option will not be
adjusted for issuances of common stock at a price below its exercise price. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company exchanged 675,000 UPO units for283,669
common shares in a cashless exercise and issued 7,969 shares in cashless warrant exercises.
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Share-Based Compensation

The Company has the ability to grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, other stock-based awards and performance compensation
awards to current or prospective employees, directors, officers, consultants or advisors under the Plan. The Plan was established to benefit the Company and its stockholders, by
assisting the Company to attract, retain and provide incentives to key management employees, directors, and consultants of the Company, and to align the interests of such
service providers with those of the Company’s stockholders. Accordingly, the Plan provides for the granting of Non-qualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options,
Restricted Stock Unit Awards, Restricted Stock Awards, Stock Appreciation Rights, Performance Stock Awards, Performance Unit Awards, Unrestricted Stock Awards,
Distribution Equivalent Rights or any combination of the foregoing.

The initial aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under the Plan shall not exceed Two Million €,000,000) Shares. The aggregate number of Shares reserved for
Awards under the Plan (other than Incentive Stock Options) shall automatically increase on January 1 of each year, for a period of not more than ten ( 10) years, commencing on
January 1 of the year following the year after the date the Plan became effective in an amount equal to five percent (5%) of the total number of shares of common stock
outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, provided that the Committee may determine prior to the first day of the applicable fiscal year to lower the amount
of such annual increase. On January 3, 2022, the Company filed a Registration Statement with the SEC to register 1,065,175 additional shares of common stock, $0.0001 par
value per share, of the Company under the Plan, pursuant to the “evergreen” provision of the Plan providing for an automatic increase in the number of shares reserved for
issuance under the Plan.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, there were approximately 126,302 and 700,000 shares of common stock available for future grants under the 2020 Plan, respectively.
Restricted Stock Unit Awards

The Company grants RSU Awards with service, performance and market conditions. The RSU Awards granted with service conditions generally vest over4 years. The market
conditions include an index to the market value of the stock price of BurgerFi, and the performance conditions are based on key performance indicators, as identified in the
employment agreements. The fair value of restricted stock units granted is determined using the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant, as set
forth in the applicable plan document.

The following table summarizes activity of restricted stock units during2021:

‘Weighted

Number of Average Grant

Restricted Stock Units Date Fair Value
Non-vested at December 31, 2020 1,250,000 $ 15.28
Granted 1,445,600 13.02
Vested (118,750) 12.85
Forfeited (793,152) 13.68
Non-vested at December 31, 2021 1,783,698 $ 14.18

Share-based compensation recognized during year ended December 31, 2021 was approximately $7.6 million, inclusive of restricted stock unit grants of$7.4 million and stock
grants of $0.2 million. Share-based compensation recognized for financial reporting purposes during the Successor period December 16, 2020 through December 31, 2020 was
$0.8 million, comprised of restricted stock unit grants. As of December 31, 2021, there was approximately $9.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to
unvested restricted stock units or performance-based restricted stock unit awards to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1-4 years.

The unrecognized portion of share-based compensation for unvested market condition restricted stock units (included in above) is approximately $.2 million over 1.47 years.
As detailed below, the fair value of the market condition restricted stock units was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model.
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Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Awards

The Company grants performance-based awards (restricted stock units) to certain officers and key employees. The vesting of these awards is contingent upon meeting one or
more defined operational or financial goals (a performance condition) or common stock share prices (a market condition) or employment conditions.

The fair values of the performance condition awards granted were determined using the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Share-based
compensation expense recorded for performance condition awards is reevaluated at each reporting period based on the probability of the achievement of the goal. Certain goals
were achieved as of December 31, 2021. Accordingly, the Company recognized share-based compensation expense of approximately $4.6 million in relation to these awards
during the year ended December 31, 2021.

The fair value of market condition awards granted were estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation model. The Monte Carlo simulation model utilizes multiple input variables
to estimate the probability that the market conditions will be achieved and is applied to the trading price of our common stock on the date of grant. In July 2021, the Company
modified the terms related to certain market condition awards that the Compensation Committee previously approved. As a result of this modification, the Company recorded
additional share-based compensation of $54,000 during the year ended December 31, 2021 for these modifications.

The input variables are noted in the table below:

2021 2020
Risk-free interest rate 1.03 % 0.18 %
Expected life in years 2.99 3
Expected volatility 65.9 % 65.9 %
Expected dividend yield * 0 % 0%

* The Monte Carlo method assumes a reinvestment of dividends.

Share-based compensation expense is recorded ratably for market condition awards during the requisite service period and is not reversed, except for forfeitures, at the vesting
date regardless of whether the market condition is met. During the year ended December 31, 2021 and the Successor period, $1.5 million and $33,000, respectively, was
recognized ratably as share-based compensation expense for the market condition awards.

Service-Based Restricted Stock Unit Awards

The Company grants service-based awards (restricted stock units) to certain officers and key employees. The vesting of these awards is contingent upon meeting the requisite
service period. The fair value of restricted stock unit awards is determined using the publicly-traded price of our common stock on the grant dateDuring the year ended
December 31, 2021 and the Successor period, $1.3 million and $0.8 million, respectively, was recognized ratably as share-based compensation expense for the market condition
awards.
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The following table summarizes activity of the restricted stock units during2021:

Performance Condition Service Condition Market Condition
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Restricted Stock Grant Date Restricted Stock Grant Date Restricted Stock Grant Date
Units Fair Value Units Fair Value Units Fair Value
Non-vested at December 31, 2020 950,000 $ 15.70 200,000 $ 15.70 100,000 $ 10.45
Granted 888,600 14.65 97,000 12.74 460,000 9.91
Vested (58,750) 15.66 (45,000) 8.81 (15,000) 14.01
Forfeited (528,152) 15.20 — — (265,000) 10.63
Non-vested at December 31, 2021 1,251,698 $ 15.15 252,000 $ 15.79 280,000 $ 8.42

14. Fair Value Measurements

Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using public market prices, quotes from financial institutions, and other available information. The fair values of cash
equivalents, receivables, net, accounts payable and short-term debt approximate their carrying amounts due to their short duration.

The following tables summarize the fair values of financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Items Measured at Fair Value at December 31, 2021

Quoted prices in active
market for identical assets
(liabilities) (Level 1)

Significant other observable
inputs (Level 2)

Significant unobservable

(in thousands) inputs (Level 3)

Redeemable preferred stock $ — 3 47,525 $ —
Related party note — 8,724 —
Warrant liability — — 2,706
Total $ — $ 56,249 $ 2,706

Items Measured at Fair Value at December 31, 2020

Quoted prices in active
market for identical assets
(in thousands) (liabilities) (Level 1)

Warrant liability $ — 3
$ — $

Significant other observable
inputs (Level 2)

Significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3)

16,516
16,516

— 3
— 8

Total

The fair value of the preferred stock was determined using a discounted cash flow methodology. The expected future redemption payment was forecasted based on the
contractual PIK (payment in kind) interest and estimated redemption date of December 31, 2024.

The fair value of the related party note, which is classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, is determined based on market prices or, if market prices are not available, the
present value of the underlying cash flows discounted at our incremental borrowing rates.
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The fair value of non-financial assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis, classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, is determined based on third-party market
appraisals. The fair value of our warrant liability is measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis, classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the private
placement warrants, private warrants, and working capital warrants are determined using the publicly-traded price of our common stock on the valuation dates of $5.67 on
December 31, 2021 and $13.69 on December 31, 2020. The fair value is calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes model requires us to make
assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the calculation, including the expected term, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate, dividend rate and service period.

The fair value of private warrants for the Successor period from December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020 were estimated using a Dynamic Black-Scholes model. This process
relies upon inputs such as shares outstanding, estimated stock prices, strike price, risk free interest rate and volatility assumptions. The calculated warrant price for private
warrants was $0.75 and $4.60 on December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

The input variables for the Black-Scholes are noted in the table below:

2021 2020
Risk-free interest rate 111 % 0.36 %
Expected life in years 3.96 5
Expected volatility 41.8 % 30.0 %
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis include our long-lived assets and definite-lived intangible assets that we performed impairment
testing for. In determining fair value, we used an income-based approach. As a number of assumptions and estimates were involved that are largely unobservable, they are
classified as Level 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy. Assumptions used in these forecasts are consistent with internal planning, and include revenue growth rates, royalties,
gross margins, and operating expense in relation to the current economic environment and the Company’s future expectations.

15.  Segment Information

Prior to the Anthony's acquisition in November 2021, the Company had one operating and reportable segment. As such, segment information is presented for the year ended
December 31, 2021, but not prior periods as all information in prior periods relates to the BurgerFi brand. Following the Anthony's acquisition, the Company has two operating
and reportable segments:

*  BurgerFi, which includes our operations of corporate-owned and franchised BurgerFi restaurants, which offer a fast-casual “better burger” concept; and
*  Anthony's, which includes our operations of casual dining pizza restaurants under the name Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza & Wings.

The CODMs are the CEO, CFO, and Executive Chairman as they assess the performance of the reportable segments and make all the significant strategic decisions, including
the allocation of resources.

External sales are derived principally from food and beverage sales, royalty and franchise revenue. We do not rely on any major customers as a source of sales, and the
customers and long-lived assets of our reportable segments are predominantly in the U.S. There were no material transactions among reportable segments.

The following tables present revenue, capital expenditures, depreciation and amortization, pre-opening costs, interest expense, and net (loss) income by segment:
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(in thousands)
Revenue:
BurgerFi
Anthony's
Total

Capital expenditures:
BurgerFi

Anthony's

Total

Depreciation and amortization:

BurgerFi
Anthony's
Total

Pre-opening costs:
BurgerFi
Anthony's

Total

Interest expense:
BurgerFi
Anthony's

Total

Net (loss) income:
BurgerFi
Anthony's

Total

BurgerFi International Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

* Amounts for Anthony's are only presented from November 3, 2021, the date of acquisition.

Total assets by segment are as follows:

(in thousands)
Total assets:
BurgerFi
Anthony's
Total

December 31, 2021 *

Year Ended
December 31, 2021 *

46,448
22,419

68,867

10,348
317

10,665

8,694
1,366

10,060

1,905

1,905

673
733

1,406

(121,352)
(142)

(121,494)

Year Ended
December 31, 2020

289,116
N/A

* Amounts for Anthony's are only presented from November 3, 2021, the date of acquisition.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. As of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K, our management, with the participation of our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e)
under the Exchange Act. We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted by us under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on management’s evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2021.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In making its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO criteria”) in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and to our Board of
Directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls over financial reporting of Hot Air that
was acquired during the year ended December 31, 2021. Hot Air's total assets constituted approximately 46% of the Company’s total assets as of December 31, 2021 and
represented approximately 33% and less than 1% of the Company’s revenue and net loss, respectively, for the year then ended.

Based on this assessment, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2021 as a result of the
material weakness identified below.
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Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives, as specified above. Our management recognizes that any control system, no matter how well designed and operated, is based upon certain judgments and
assumptions and cannot provide absolute assurance that its objectives will be met.

A “material weakness” is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Material Weakness in Internal Control. In connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021,
management identified a material weakness related to the design and implementation of controls over the accounting for income taxes. Specifically, management did not
maintain controls over the Company’s assessment of its ability to realize historical deferred tax assets on its acquired businesses in accordance with Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code and the Company’s tax provision controls were not designed to detect certain errors and omissions in calculating the impact of certain transactions on the income
tax provision during the period. This material weakness resulted in the identification of errors that were corrected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Remediation Plan. We have identified and begun to implement steps, as further described below, designed to remediate the material weakness
described in this Item 9A and to enhance our overall control environment. Although we intend to complete the remediation process as promptly as possible, we cannot at this
time estimate how long it will take to remediate this material weakness, and our remediation plan may not prove to be successful. We will not consider the material weakness
remediated until our enhanced controls are operational for a sufficient period of time and tested, enabling management to conclude that the enhanced controls are operating
effectively.

Our remediation plan includes, but is not limited to improving our existing tax controls relating to business combinations to include additional analysis of changes in
ownership that could lead to limitations on our ability to realize deferred tax assets and to reflect the related impact in our consolidated financial statements with the appropriate
level of precision. This will include an assessment of the sources of income necessary to result in the realization or impairment of those assets. The analysis will also verify that
the positive evidence being relied upon is allowed to be considered under the authoritative accounting guidance contained within ASC 740 related to the recognition and
measurement of deferred tax assets. In addition, the Company will perform a comprehensive Section 382 analysis. The Company will also allocate additional accounting
resources to prepare and review the income tax provision.

While the foregoing measures are intended to effectively remediate the material weakness described in this Item 9A, it is possible that additional remediation steps will
be necessary. As such, as we continue to evaluate and implement our plan to remediate the material weakness, our management may decide to take additional measures to
address the material weakness or modify the remediation steps described above. Until this material weakness is remediated, we plan to continue to perform additional analyses
and other procedures to help ensure that our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Remediation of Previously Identified Material Weaknesses in Internal Control. As disclosed under Item 9A. Controls and Procedures, in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, during 2020 management concluded that material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting existed as of
December 31, 2020. Although management did not conduct a formal assessment of internal control over financial reporting in connection with the audit of our financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, management identified a number of material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, as follows:

* lack of controls over the financial closing and reporting process relating to a sufficient segregation of duties in the preparation of our financial statements and related
notes, and, for the Successor period, the valuation and recognition of stock-based compensation and warrant liabilities;

* lack of resources to perform and review the application of accounting standards for revenue, leases, and variable interest entities "VIEs");

»  specifically with respect to VIEs, our internal control over financial reporting failed to detect errors related to consolidating variable interest entities for which we are the
primary beneficiary;

* lack of effective controls over the accounting for deferred rent and accounting for initial franchise fees and brand development revenue in connection with the adoption
of our new revenue recognition standard; and
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* lack of controls during the Successor period related to the valuation of contingent consideration issued in the BurgerFi acquisition.
In response to these material weaknesses, management implemented changes to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, including:

* we hired accounting and finance resources with public company experience, in addition to utilizing third-party consultants to ensure complex accounting transactions,
inclusive of accounting for stock-based compensation, warrant liabilities, leases, variable interest entities, deferred rent, initial franchise fees, brand development
revenue and contingent consideration, are properly analyzed, documented and reviewed,

* we enhanced controls to formalize roles and review responsibilities to align the team’s skills and experience, including segregation of duties considerations and
automated controls; and

» we enhanced the financial reporting close process to ensure there is adequate segregation of duties between the preparation and review of significant areas within the
financial close process and in connection with the preparation of the overall financial statements and footnotes.

Management has determined that the remediation actions discussed above were effectively designed and demonstrated effective operation for a sufficient period of
time to enable management to conclude that the previously disclosed material weaknesses have been remediated as of December 31, 2021.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Other than as described above, there have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Our current directors and executive officers are as follows:
Name Age Class Position
Ophir Sternberg 52 C Executive Chairman of the Board
Ian Baines 66 N/A Chief Executive Officer
Michael Rabinovitch 52 N/A Chief Financial Officer
Martha Stewart 80 A Director
Vivian Lopez-Blanco 64 B Director
Gregory Mann 50 A Director
Allison Greenfield 49 B Director
Andrew Taub 53 C Director
Directors

Ophir Sternberg has been the Company’s Executive Chairman of the Board since December 2020, having served as a member of our Board of Directors since
October 2019, Chairman since April 2020, and Chief Executive Officer from June 2020 to December 2020. Mr. Sternberg has over 26 years of experience investing in all
segments of the real estate industry, including land acquisitions, luxury residential, hospitality, commercial and retail. Mr. Sternberg has served as the Chief Executive Officer,
President and Chairman of Lionheart Acquisition Corporation II (Nasdaq: LCAP) since December 2019. He is the Founder of Lionheart Capital, LLC, a Miami-based,
diversified investment firm focused on value and growth investments and has served as its Chief Executive Officer since its formation in 2009. From 1993 to 2009, Mr.
Sternberg was the Founder and Managing Partner of Oz Holdings, LLC, a private real estate investment and management company. Once a member of an elite Israeli Defense
Force unit, Mr. Sternberg studied finance at Sy Syms School of Business at Yeshiva University. We believe Mr. Sternberg is well-qualified to serve on our Board of Directors
due to his business experience and contacts and relationships.

Allison Greenfield has served as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors since June 2020. Ms. Greenfield has over two decades of experience in real estate
development. Ms. Greenfield is the Chief Development Officer and has been a partner of Lionheart Capital, LLC, since it was founded in 2009 and has over 25 years of
experience in the entitlement, design, construction and management of projects in all segments of the real estate industry, including industrial, retail, hospitality, and ultra-luxury
residential condominiums. At Lionheart Capital, LLC, she has been responsible for the successful acquisition, development, and repositioning of real estate assets around the
world. Prior to her tenure at Lionheart Capital, LLC, Ms. Greenfield ran the development and construction arm of Oz Holdings, LLC as a partner from 2001-2010. Ms.
Greenfield studied Architecture at The New School University, Parsons School of Design and holds a B.A. in History from Barnard College/Columbia University. We believe
Ms. Greenfield is well-qualified to serve on our Board of Directors due to her business experience, contacts and relationships.

Vivian Lopez-Blanco has served as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors since July 2021. Ms. Lopez-Blanco also serves on the board of Jumptuit Health,
Inc. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Lopez-Blanco served as an advisory board member of BBVA, South Florida operations, from 2019 until June 2021, Chief Financial
Officer of Mednax, Inc. (NYSE: MD) from 2010 until 2018, Vice President and Treasurer of Mednax, Inc. from 2008 to 2010 and Chief Financial Officer of Carrols
Corporation’s Hispanic Restaurants Division, which includes the Pollo Tropical and Taco Cabana concepts, from 2003 to 2008. Ms. Lopez-Blanco joined Pollo Tropical in
1997 as Controller and was promoted to Chief Financial Officer in 1998, and led the company through its acquisition by Carrols Corporation, developed and realigned key
business processes and implemented several financial systems. Earlier in her career, Ms. Lopez-Blanco spent years in an international accounting firm where she progressed
through different management roles and gained extensive experience in public company reporting and capital market expansions. Ms. Lopez-Blanco earned a bachelor’s degree
in accounting from Florida International University and is a certified public accountant. We believe Ms. Lopez-Blanco is well-qualified to serve on our Board of Directors due
to her business experience, including her experience in public accounting and as the Chief Financial Officer of public companies, her contacts and relationships.
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Gregory Mann has served as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors since December 2020. Mr. Mann has over 20 years of experience in delivering
outstanding results for leading U.S. and global companies. Mr. Mann has served as Chief Marketing Officer for Trustly, Inc. He has also served at Hydrus Technology as a
Board member and in a variety of advising, consulting, leadership, and managerial roles where he developed the firm’s commercialization and go to market (GTM) strategy that
led to the company’s first long-term commercial contract. Prior to Hydrus, from March 2017 to November 2018, Mr. Mann created a stand-alone P&L division at Catalina
Marketing as President of Emerging Brands where he architected and implemented a new three-year business strategy that included the launch of new data and marketing
services which significantly increased new client deal size and improved client retention. Mr. Mann also developed and drove the vision and general management for the newly
founded Emerging Brands division focused on thousands of consumer-packaged goods companies. Prior to Catalina, Mr. Mann worked as the Chief Marketing Officer for
LoopPay, where he was part of the founding team which was then acquired by Samsung in order to develop and launch Samsung Pay. Mr. Mann holds an MBA from The
Wharton School and a Master’s Degree in International Studies from the University of Pennsylvania’s Lauder Institute. We believe that Mr. Mann’s experience as an
entrepreneurial executive and corporate innovator that has built and led established startup, turnaround, and hyper-growth companies and divisions globally will continue to be
a valuable asset to the Company’s Board of Directors.

Martha Stewart has served as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors since February 2021. Ms. Stewart is a businesswoman, writer, and television
personality. As founder of Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, “MSLO,” she gained success through a variety of business ventures, encompassing publishing, broadcasting,
merchandising and e-commerce. She has written numerous bestselling books, is the publisher of Martha Stewart Living magazine and hosted two syndicated television
programs: Martha Stewart Living, which ran from 1993 to 2004, and Martha, which ran from 2005 to 2012. Ms. Stewart currently serves as the Chief Creative Officer of
Marquee Brands, a position she has held since June 2019. Prior to that, Ms. Stewart served as Chief Creative Officer of Sequential Brands Group, Inc. from December 2015 to
June 2019. Ms. Stewart has served on the board of directors of the Sequential Brands Group, Inc. since December 2015. Ms. Stewart has also served on the board of
AppHarvest, Inc. since May 2020. Ms. Stewart was Founder, Chief Creative Officer and Non-Executive Chairman of the board of directors of MSLO from 1996 through June
2003. She also served as Chief Executive Officer from 1996 through June 2003. Ms. Stewart earned a bachelor's degree in European history and architectural history from
Barnard College. We believe Ms. Stewart is well-qualified to serve on the Company’s Board of Directors due to her business experience, extensive contacts and relationships.

Andrew Taub has served as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors since November 2021. Mr. Taub has been a Managing Partner of L Catterton, where he
focuses on the Flagship Buyout Fund, since 1996. L Catterton is the world’s largest consumer-focused private equity firm, with approximately $30 billion of equity capital
across six fund strategies in 17 offices globally, and has advised certain funds affiliated with the entity that sold Anthony’s to the Company and has provided advisory services
to subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Taub’s investment and operating expertise spans the consumer and healthcare services landscape through investments in the pet, optical,
restaurant, food and marketing services industries. In addition to serving on the Company’s Board of Directors, Mr. Taub currently serves as a director of several L Catterton
portfolio companies, including JustFoodForDogs, PatientPoint Health Technologies, and FYidoctors. Mr. Taub holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Finance and Accounting from
the University of Michigan at Ann Arbor and a Master of Business Administration degree from Columbia Business School. We believe Mr. Taub is qualified to serve on our
Board of Directors due to his extensive business experience. Mr. Taub was selected as a director pursuant to Cardboard’s right under the Amended and Restated Stock Purchase
Agreement, dated November 3, 2021, by and among the Company, Cardboard and Hot Air (the "A&R Purchase Agreement") whereby, for so long as Cardboard, its affiliates or
certain related persons of Cardboard, directly or indirectly, hold collectively 42.5% or more of the shares of Common Stock issued to Cardboard at the Anthony's Closing,
Cardboard shall have the option and the right (but not the obligation), to designate one director.

Executive Officers
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Ian Baines has served as our Chief Executive Officer since November 2021. Mr. Baines served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of ACFP Management,
Inc. from January 2020 until November 2021. Mr. Baines has over four decades of experience in the restaurant and hospitality business, beginning as a classically trained chef
in his native England, followed by 25 years in Canada with ever increasing roles and responsibilities culminating into Chief Operating Officer of SIR Corp restaurants. In 2004,
Mr. Baines was actively recruited to join Brinker International, Inc. where he served in various executive roles. He joined Darden Restaurants Inc. and led the Smokey Bones
brand as President before the sale to Sun Capital Partners, Inc., where he continued for several years as President and Chief Executive Officer. He was recruited back to Brinker
International, Inc. in 2011 as Senior Vice President of Strategic Innovation. From 2013 to 2014, Mr. Baines served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Uno Restaurant
Holdings Corporation. From 2014 to 2018, he served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Cheddar’s Scratch Kitchen ("Cheddar's"); after the sale of Cheddar’s to
Darden Restaurants Inc. in 2017 he continued as Brand President. In 2019, he was Chief Executive Officer of Del Frisco’s Restaurant Group, Inc. during the transition from a
public company to three independent brands and ultimately the sale of the steak division. Except for the A&R Purchase Agreement, there are no arrangements or understandings
between Mr. Baines and any other person pursuant to which he was appointed.

Michael Rabinovitch joined the Company on February 26, 2021 and assumed the position of Chief Financial Officer on May 3, 2021. Mr. Rabinovitch served as
Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer of Tech Data Corporation from March 2018 until September 2020. Prior thereto, Mr. Rabinovitch was employed at Office
Depot, where he served as Vice President of Finance, North America from January 2015 to March 2017 and Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Accounting Officer from
March 2017 to February 2018. From 2005 through 2015, he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Birks Group (a/k/a Mayors Jewelers), a North
American manufacturer and retailer of fine jewelry and luxury timepieces. Prior to joining Birks Group, Mr. Rabinovitch was Vice President of Finance of Claire’s Stores, Inc.,
a specialty retailer of fashion jewelry and accessories, from 1999 to 2005. Mr. Rabinovitch began his career as an auditor with Price Waterhouse LLP. Mr. Rabinovitch is a
licensed certified public accountant (inactive) and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Board Composition

BurgerFi’s business affairs are managed under the direction of its Board of Directors. The Company’s Board of Directors consists of six members. The Board of
Directors is classified into three classes, each comprising as nearly as possible one-third of the directors to serve three-year terms. Class A directors shall serve until 2023, Class
B directors shall serve until 2024 and Class C directors shall serve until 2022. On December 16, 2020, we entered into the Voting Agreement with our Sponsor, certain of the
Initial Stockholders, the Members, and our officers and directors, pursuant to which all such stockholders agreed to vote their shares of the Company in favor of Ophir
Sternberg, Allison Greenfield, Vivian Lopez-Blanco, Gregory Mann and Martha Stewart, or, if any of them ceases to serve as a director, such other person designated by our
Chairman, in consultation with John Rosatti. In connection with the Anthony's acquisition, on November 3, 2021, we entered into an additional Voting Agreement with
Cardboard, Ophir Sternberg and a Lionheart entity, pursuant to which all such stockholders agreed to vote their shares of the Company in favor of Ophir Sternberg, Allison
Greenfield, Vivian Lopez-Blanco, Gregory Mann, Martha Stewart and Andrew Taub (or any successor director designee or Cardboard) for a period of one year from the
Anthony's Closing.

Committees of the Board of Directors

The standing committees of our Board currently include an audit committee, a compensation committee, and a nominating committee. Each of the committees reports
to the Board as they deem appropriate and as the Board may request. The composition, duties and responsibilities of these committees are set forth below.

Audit Committee

Ms. Greenfield, Ms. Lopez-Blanco, and Mr. Mann serve on the Audit Committee. Ms. Lopez-Blanco qualifies as the Audit Committee financial expert as defined in
Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act and serves as Chairperson of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee operates under a written
charter adopted by the Board of Directors. The charter contains a detailed description of the scope of the Audit Committee’s responsibilities and how they will be carried out.
The Audit Committee’s charter is available on our website at https://ir.burgerfi.com/corporate-governance/governance-documents, under “Governance Documents.”
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According to its charter, the Audit Committee consists of at least three members, each of whom shall be a non-employee director who has been determined by the
Board to meet the independence requirements of Nasdaq, and also Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of the SEC, subject to the exemptions provided in Rule 10A-3(c). The Audit Committee
Charter describes the primary functions of the Audit Committee, including the following:

» reviewing and discussing with management and the independent auditor the annual audited financial statements, and recommending to the Board whether the audited
financial statements should be included in our Form 10-K;

«  discussing with management and the independent auditor significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection with the preparation of our financial
statements;

»  discussing with management major risk assessment and risk management policies;

*  monitoring the independence of the independent auditor;

«  verifying the rotation of the lead (or coordinating) audit partner having primary responsibility for the audit and the audit partner responsible for reviewing the audit as
required by law;

» reviewing and approving all related-party transactions;

*  inquiring and discussing with management our compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

* pre-approving all audit services and permitted non-audit services to be performed by our independent auditor, including the fees and terms of the services to be
performed;

«  appointing or replacing the independent auditor;

*  determining the compensation and oversight of the work of the independent auditor (including resolution of disagreements between management and the independent
auditor regarding financial reporting) for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or related work;

» establishing procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by us regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or reports which raise
material issues regarding our financial statements or accounting policies; and

*  approving reimbursement of expenses incurred by our management team in identifying potential target businesses.

Compensation Committee

Ms. Greenfield, Mr. Mann, and Ms. Lopez-Blanco serve on the Compensation Committee. Ms. Greenfield serves as the Chairperson of the Compensation Committee.
The Compensation Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors. The charter contains a detailed description of the scope of the Compensation
Committee’s responsibilities and how they will be carried out. The Compensation Committee’s charter is available on our website at https://ir.burgerfi.com/corporate-
governance/governance-documents, under “Governance Documents.” The Compensation Committee may delegate any of its responsibilities to one or more subcommittees as
the Compensation Committee may from time to time deem appropriate.

The Compensation Committee’s duties, which are specified in our Compensation Committee Charter, include, but are not limited to:

* reviewing and approving on an annual basis the corporate goals and objectives relevant to our Chief Executive Officer’s compensation, evaluating our Chief Executive
Officer’s performance in light of such goals and objectives and determining and approving the remuneration (if any) of our Chief Executive Officer based on such
evaluation;

» reviewing and approving the compensation of all other executive officers;

*  reviewing our executive compensation policies and plans;

* implementing and administering our incentive compensation equity-based remuneration plans;

*  assisting management in complying with our proxy statement and annual report disclosure requirements;

« approving all special perquisites, special cash payments and other special compensation and benefit arrangements for our executive officers and employees;

» ifrequired, producing a report on executive compensation to be included in our annual proxy statement; and

* reviewing, evaluating, and recommending changes, if appropriate, to the remuneration for directors.
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The charter also provides that the Compensation Committee may, in its sole discretion, retain or obtain the advice of a compensation consultant, legal counsel or other
adviser and will be directly responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of any such adviser. However, before engaging or receiving advice from a
compensation consultant, external legal counsel or any other adviser, the Compensation Committee will consider the independence of each such adviser, including the factors
required by Nasdaq and the SEC. In addition, members of our senior management may report on the performance of the other executive officers of the Company and make
compensation recommendations to the Compensation Committee, which will review and, as appropriate, approve the compensation recommendations.

Nominating Committee

Ms. Greenfield, Ms. Lopez-Blanco, and Mr. Mann serve on the Nominating Committee. Ms. Greenfield serves as the Chairperson of the Nominating Committee. The
Nominating Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors. The charter contains a detailed description of the scope of the Nominating
Committee’s responsibilities and how they will be carried out. The Nominating Committee’s charter is available on our website at https://ir.burgerfi.com/corporate-
governance/governance-documents, under “Governance Documents.”

The Nominating Committee will identify, evaluate and recommend candidates to become members of the Board with the goal of creating a balance of knowledge and
experience. The Nominating Committee has no specific minimum qualifications for director candidates. However, the Nominating Committee will consider several
qualifications relating to management and leadership experience, background and integrity and professionalism in evaluating a person’s candidacy for membership on the Board
of Directors. The Nominating Committee may require certain skills or attributes, such as financial or accounting experience, to meet specific Board needs that arise from time
to time and will also consider the overall experience and makeup of its members to obtain and maintain a broad and diverse mix of Board members, including with respect to
race, gender, ethnicity, background, experience and viewpoints of the Board. The Nominating Committee does not distinguish among nominees recommended by stockholders
and other persons.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to our directors, executive officers and employees that complies with the rules and regulations of Nasdaq. Our Code of
Ethics is available on our website at https://ir.burgerfi.com/corporate-governance/governance-documents, under “Governance Documents.” The information on this website is
not incorporated by reference into, or a part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, a copy of the Code of Ethics will be provided without charge upon request to us
in writing at S. Highway 1, North Palm Beach, FL 33408. We intend to disclose any amendments to or waivers of certain provisions of our Code of Ethics in a Current Report
on Form 8-K.

Indemnification Agreements and Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws limit the personal liability of our directors to our stockholders or us for
monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability (1) for any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to us or our stockholders, (2) for acts or
omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (3) under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corporate Law (“DGCL”) or
(4) for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit. Our Amended and Restated Bylaws also provide for such limitation of liability with
respect to our officers. In addition, our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides for indemnification of each of our directors and officers who is or was a
party to, or is threatened to be made a party to, any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director or officer
of ours or is or was serving at our request as a director, officer, partner, trustee or employee of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, to the
fullest extent permitted by the DGCL. Our Amended and Restated Bylaws also provide for such indemnification other than with respect to an action by or in the right of the
Company and so long as such director or officer acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company,
and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful, and our Amended and Restated Bylaws provide for
similar indemnification with respect to actions by or in the right of the Company. In addition, we maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to provide our directors and
officers with insurance coverage for losses arising from claims based on breaches of duty, negligence, errors and other wrongful acts.

Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports
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Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act requires our executive officers and directors, and persons who own more than 10% of our common stock, to file reports
regarding ownership of, and transactions in, our securities with the Securities and Exchange Commission and to provide us with copies of those filings. To the Company's
knowledge, based solely on a review of the copies of such reports furnished to the Company and written representations that no other reports were required, all such filing
requirements applicable to the Company's directors, executive officers and greater than 10% beneficial owners were complied with during the year ended December 31, 2021,
except that: (i) Cardboard did not timely file its Form 3; (ii) Enrique M. Gonzalez did not timely file his Form 3; (iii) the John Rosatti Revocable Trust Dated 8/27/2001 did not
timely file two Form 4s, each representing one transaction (iv) Mr. Sternberg did not timely file one Form 4 representing four transactions; (v) Lionheart Equities, LLC did not
timely file one Form 4 representing seven transactions and (vi) Ms. Stewart did not timely file one Form 4 representing one transaction. In addition, during the year ended
December 31, 2020, Mr. Ramirez did not timely file his Form 3.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The following table presents information regarding the total compensation awarded to, earned by, and paid to the named executive officers of BurgerFi for services
rendered to BurgerFi in all capacities for the years indicated.

All Other
Salary Bonus Stock Awards Compensation Total
Name and Principal Position Year ($) ($) ($) (%) ($)
Ophir Sternberg 2021 — — — — —
Executive Chairman 2020 — — 14,535,000  (4)(5) — 14,535,000
Ian Baines 2021 543,000 178,000 — — 721,000
Chief Executive Officer (1) 2020 — — — — —
Julio Ramirez 2021 225,000 — — — 225,000
Former Chief Executive Officer (2) 2020 55,000 — 5,355,000  (5)(6) — 5,410,000
Michael Rabinovitch 2021 215,000 250,000 3,295,000  (7)(8) — 3,760,000
Chief Financial Officer (3) 2020 — — — — —

(1) Mr. Baines was appointed as Chief Executive Officer in November 2021.

(2) Mr. Ramirez's role as Chief Executive Officer was removed in November 2021.

(3) Mr. Rabinovitch was appointed as Chief Financial Officer in February 2021.

(4) Represents the grants of 250,000 restricted stock units and 700,000 incentive restrictive stock units granted, for financial reporting purposes, on December 16, 2020. The
legal grant date of the restricted stock units was July 13, 2021, the date that applicable grant award agreement were executed by the Company and Mr. Sternberg. The
applicable restricted stock unit agreement provides that 73% (511,000) of the total incentive restricted stock units would not be issued (deemed or otherwise) under the
BurgerFi International, Inc. Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan") until the aggregate number of shares reserved for awards under the Plan was increased consistent
with Section 5.1 of the Plan, which occurred on January 1, 2022. See the Outstanding Equity Awards table in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2020 for additional information relating to these grants.

(5) The amounts reflected in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the awards made during 2020, as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.
For additional information related to the measurement of stock-based compensation awards, refer to Note 14 to the financial statements included in the Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

(6) Represents the grants of 250,000 restricted stock units and 100,000 benchmark restrictive stock units granted, for financial reporting purposes, on December 16, 2020. The
legal grant date of the restricted stock units was July 13, 2021, the date that applicable grant award agreements were executed by the Company and Mr. Ramirez. The
applicable restricted stock unit agreement provided that 36% (89,000) of the total 250,000 incentive restricted stock units and 100% (100,000) of the total 100,000
benchmark restricted stock units would not be issued (deemed or otherwise) under the Plan until the aggregate number of shares reserved for awards under the Plan was
increased consistent with Section 5.1 of the Plan, which occurred on January 1, 2022. However, Mr. Ramirez left the Company prior to such date and all of such restricted
stock units were forfeited except for 50,000 of such restricted stock units that immediately vested following such departure. See the Outstanding Equity Awards table in the
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 for additional information relating to these grants.

(7) Represents the grants of 52,000 restricted stock units, 78,000 incentive restrictive stock units, and 100,000 benchmark restricted stock units, granted on July 13, 2021. See
the Outstanding Equity Awards table below for additional information relating to these grants.
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(8) The amounts reflected in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the awards made during 2021, as computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.
For additional information related to the measurement of stock-based compensation awards, refer to Note 13 to the financial statements included in this annual report.

Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table

For 2021, the principal elements of compensation provided to the named executive officers were base salaries, grants of equity-based compensation and broad-based
employee benefits. Base salaries are generally set at levels deemed necessary to attract and retain individuals with superior talent commensurate with their relative expertise and
experience. Grants of restricted stock units vest in installments over a number of years subject to continued employment, the Company’s achievement of certain performance
benchmarks, satisfaction of certain key performance indicators set by the Compensation Committee or by meeting certain share price thresholds of the Company’s common
stock. See the Outstanding Equity Awards table below for additional information relating to these grants.

Employment Agreements. We have entered into Employment Agreements with Ophir Sternberg, Ian Baines, and Michael Rabinovitch.
Employment Agreement with Ophir Sternberg

Under the terms of Mr. Sternberg’s employment agreement, Mr. Sternberg serves as our Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and does not receive a base
salary. Mr. Sternberg has the ability to earn restricted stock grants (““ Restricted Stock Grants”) and incentive restricted stock grants (“Incentive Restricted Stock Grants”) and
has been granted restricted stock unit grants (the “Sternberg RSU Grants™) in lieu of such Restricted Stock Grants and Incentive Restricted Stock Grants. During the term of Mr.
Sternberg’s employment agreement, which is initially five years, subject to earlier termination or extension, Mr. Sternberg will be bound by confidentiality and non-
disparagement obligations. If there is a Change of Control (as defined in Mr. Sternberg’s employment agreement) during the term of employment all unearned Restricted Stock
Grants and Incentive Restricted Stock Grants, therefore, effectively, all Sternberg RSU Grants, shall be deemed to have been earned immediately prior to the Change of
Control.

Employment Agreement with lan Baines

In connection with the Anthony's acquisition, the Company entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Baines to serve as the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer. Under the terms of his employment agreement, he will earn a base salary of not less than $523,628, subject to annual review by the Board. In addition,
Mr. Baines is eligible to receive an annual cash performance bonus of up to 60% of his base salary, based upon the achievement of individual and Company performance
objectives as mutually agreed by the Board and Mr. Baines.

In relation to Mr. Baines’ previous role as Chief Executive Officer of Anthony's, Mr. Baines received options to purchase common stock of Hot Air (the “4nthony’s
Options”) pursuant to a Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (the “Option Agreement”) dated September 30, 2020 under the Hot Air, Inc. Amended and Restated 2016 Stock
Option Plan (the “Hot Air Plan”). In relation to the consummation of the Anthony's acquisition, the Company and Mr. Baines entered into an Amendment to the Option
Agreement pursuant to which the Anthony’s Options held by Mr. Baines were converted (the “ Option Conversion”) into 211,662 shares of common stock of the Company (the
“Baines Issued Shares”). Except with respect to certain permitted transfers by operation of law, to permitted transferees or to pay up to forty percent (40%) of his federal and
state income tax obligations arising from the Option Conversion, Mr. Baines may not, without the express written consent of the Board, (i) transfer any Baines Issued Shares
until June 20, 2022 or (ii) during the period beginning on June 20, 2022 and ending on December 31, 2022, transfer more than 50% of any Baines Issued Shares then held by
Mr. Baines. Except as otherwise determined by the Committee (as defined in the Hot Air Plan) or the Board, all restrictions on the transfer of Baines Issued Shares shall cease as
of December 31, 2022.

During the term of Mr. Baines’s employment agreement, Mr. Baines will be bound by non-competition and non-solicitation obligations. Upon a termination of Mr.
Baines’ employment without Cause (as defined in his employment agreement) or the resignation by Mr. Baines for Good Reason (as defined in his employment agreement), Mr.
Baines will be entitled to receive all accrued, determined and unpaid compensation, a pro-rata bonus payment for the fiscal year of termination based on actual performance
results for the full annual performance period and severance payment of Mr. Baines’ base salary for a period of twelve (12) months after the date of termination.

Amended Employment Agreement with Michael Rabinovitch
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Under the terms of Mr. Rabinovitch’s amended employment agreement, he will earn a base salary of$400,000 (subject to annual review) and will be entitled to receive
such performance bonuses as determined by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors in its sole discretion in consultation with the Executive Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer. Mr. Rabinovitch has the ability to earn Restricted Stock Grants and benchmark restricted stock grants ( “Benchmark Restricted Stock Grants”) and has been
granted restricted stock unit grants (the “Rabinovitch RSU Grants”™) in lieu of such Restricted Stock Grants and Benchmark Restricted Stock Unit Grants. During the term of Mr.
Rabinovitch’s employment agreement Mr. Rabinovitch will be bound by non-competition and non-solicitation obligations. If there is a Change of Control during the term of
employment all unearned Restricted Stock Grants and Benchmark Restricted Stock Grants, therefore, effectively, all Rabinovitch RSU Grants, shall be deemed to have been
earned and vested immediately prior to the Change of Control. If Mr. Rabinovitch is terminated without cause, or resigns due to good reason, as defined in the employment
agreement, all unvested portions of the Restricted Stock Grant and the Benchmark Restricted Stock Grant, therefore, effectively, the Rabinovitch RSU Grants, scheduled to vest
in the year of such termination or resignation shall be deemed to have been earned and vested immediately; provided, that the grant agreement for the Rabinovitch RSU Grant
subject to benchmarks further provides that in no event shall the number of unearned restricted stock units underlying such Rabinovitch RSU Grant that can vest in 2022 in
accordance with such provision exceed 20,000 restricted stock units.

Employment Agreement with Julio Ramirez

Under the terms of Mr. Ramirez’s employment agreement, as supplemented, Mr. Ramirez initially served as our Chief Executive Officer and subsequently served as
our BurgerFi Brand — CEO and President and earned a base salary of $275,000. Mr. Ramirez was eligible to earn an annual incentive bonus (the “Incentive Bonus™) of up to
$100,000 payable in common stock, based on the achievement of certain key performance indicators. Mr. Ramirez also could earn Restricted Stock Grants and Benchmark
Restricted Stock Grants and was granted restricted stock unit grants (the “Ramirez RSU Grants”) in lieu of such Restricted Stock Grants and Benchmark Restricted Stock
Grants. During the term of Mr. Ramirez’s employment agreement, which was initially one year, subject to earlier termination or extension, Mr. Ramirez was bound by non-
competition obligations. If there was a change of control (as defined in Mr. Ramirez’s employment agreement) during the term of employment all Restricted Stock Grants and
Benchmark Restricted Stock Grants, therefore, effectively, all Ramirez RSU Grants, would have been deemed to have been earned and vested immediately prior to the Change
of Control. If Mr. Ramirez was terminated without cause, as defined in the employment agreement, the Incentive Bonus and all unearned Restricted Stock Grants scheduled to
vest in the year of such termination or resignation would have been deemed to have been earned and vested immediately; provided, that the grant agreement for the Ramirez
RSU Grant subject to benchmarks provided that all restricted stock units subject to such Ramirez RSU Grant that were not vested as of the date of Mr. Ramirez’s termination of
service for any reason would automatically, and without notice, terminate and be forfeited upon the termination of service.

In connection with Mr. Ramirez’s termination, the Company and Mr. Ramirez entered into a Separation and General Release Agreement, pursuant to which Mr.
Ramirez has undertaken limited continuing obligations to the Company until the date that is six (6) months from December 10, 2021 and provided a release of claims against
the Company in exchange for an award of 5,000 unrestricted shares of common stock of the Company, pursuant to an award agreement.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control
Except as discussed above, no named executive officer has a contractual or other entitlement to severance or other payments upon termination or a change in control.
Director Compensation

Annually, each independent director is granted restricted stock units in an amount equal to $150,000 divided by the closing price on the last trading day of the fiscal
year, generally to vest on the one-year anniversary of the date of grant and be settled in shares of common stock, subject to such director’s continuous service as a director until
such time and earlier vesting due to a change of control. In addition, each Director is entitled to receive annual cash compensation of $7,500.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End
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Stock Awards
Number of shares or units of stock that have Market value of shares or units of stock that

Name not vested (#) have not vested (6)
Ophir Sternberg 200,000 (1) $1,134,000

700,000 (2) $3,969,000
Michael Rabinovitch 78,000 (3) $442.260

100,000 (4) $567,000

52,000 (5) $294,840

(1) Represents restricted stock units granted, for financial reporting purposes, on December 16, 2020. The legal grant date of the restricted stock units was July 13, 2021, the date
that applicable grant award agreements were executed by the Company and Mr. Sternberg. The restricted stock units vest in five equal parts, with 20% vesting on the grant
date and an additional 20% vesting on January 1 for each of the ensuing four years of employment, beginning on January 1, 2022. If there is a change of control (as defined
in the employment agreement) or certain termination or resignation events occur during the term of employment all unearned restricted stock units shall be deemed to have
been earned immediately prior to the change of control or termination or resignation event.

(2) Represents incentive restricted stock units granted, for financial reporting purposes, on December 16, 2020. The legal grant date of the restricted stock units was July 13,
2021, the date that applicable grant award agreements were executed by the Company and Mr. Sternberg. The restricted stock units vest upon achievement by the Company
of the following benchmarks: (i) 20%, or 140,000 incentive restricted stock units, if Company revenue for fiscal year 2021, as calculated and presented in the Company’s
audited financial statements included in the Form 10-K report for the relevant year, is 10% or greater than $34,382,000 (the “Base Year Revenue’); (ii) 20%, or 140,000
incentive restricted stock units, if Company revenue for fiscal year 2022 is 20% or greater than Base Year Revenue; (iii) 20%, or 140,000 incentive restricted stock units, if
Company revenue for fiscal year 2023 is 30% or greater than Base Year Revenue; (iv) 20%, or 140,000 incentive restricted stock units, if Company revenue for fiscal year
2024 is 40% or greater than Base Year Revenue; (v) 20%, or 140,000 incentive restricted stock units, if Company revenue for fiscal year 2025 is 50% or greater than Base
Year Revenue. If there is a change of control (as defined in the employment agreement) or certain termination or resignation events occur during the term of employment all
unearned incentive restricted stock units shall be deemed to have been earned immediately prior to the change of control.

(3) Represents restricted stock units granted on July 13, 2021. The restricted stock units vest in equal amounts at the yearly anniversary of his commencement date (February 26,
2021) for each of the first four years of employment, subject to the achievement of annual key performance indicators, including the Company’s adjusted EBITDA target, and
diversity targets as set by the Compensation Committee. If there is a change of control (as defined in the employment agreement) during the term of employment all unearned
restricted stock units shall be deemed to have been earned and vested immediately prior to the change of control.

(4) Represents benchmark restricted stock units granted on July 13, 2021. The benchmark restricted stock units vests as follows: (i) 20,000 restricted stock units, if the last
reported closing price of Company’s common stock for any 20 trading days within any consecutive 30 trading day period is greater than or equal to $19.00 per share during
the calendar year 2021 and if not achieved then shall rollover to calendar year 2022 and shall vest if the last reported closing price of Company’s common stock for any 20
trading days within any consecutive 30 trading day period is greater than or equal to $11.00 per share during the calendar year 2022; (ii) 20,000 restricted stock units, if the
last reported closing price of the Company’s common stock for any 20 trading days within any consecutive 30 trading day period is greater than or equal to $11.00 per share
during the calendar year, 2022; (iii) 20,000 restricted stock units, if the last reported closing price of the Company’s common stock for any 20 trading days within any
consecutive 30 trading day period is greater than or equal to $13.00 per share during the calendar year, 2023; and (iv) 40,000 restricted stock units, if the last reported closing
price of the Company’s common stock for any 20 trading days within any consecutive 30 trading day period is greater than or equal to $15.00 per share during the calendar
year, 2024. If there is a change of control (as defined in the employment agreement) during the term of employment all unearned benchmark restricted stock units shall be
deemed to have been earned and vested immediately prior to the change of control. If Mr. Rabinovitch is terminated without cause, or resigns due to good reason, as defined
in the employment agreement, all unvested portions of the restricted stock unit grant scheduled to vest in the year of such termination or resignation shall be deemed to have
been earned and vested immediately; provided, that the grant agreement for such benchmark restricted stock units further provides that in no event shall the number of
unearned restricted stock units underlying such grant that can vest in 2022 in accordance with such provision exceed 20,000 restricted stock units.
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(5) Represents restricted stock units granted on July 13, 2021. The restricted stock units vest in four equal parts on February 26 for each of the ensuing four years of employment.
If there is a change of control (as defined in the employment agreement) during the term of employment all unearned restricted stock units shall be deemed to have been
earned immediately prior to the change of control.

(6) Market value of the restricted stock units was determined using the $5.67 closing price of the Company’s common stock on December 31, 2021.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The following table sets forth as of April 11, 2022, the number of shares of BurgerFi common stock beneficially owned by (i) each person who is known by us to be
the beneficial owner of more than five percent of our issued and outstanding common stock, (ii) each of our named executive officers and directors; and (iii) all of our current
executive officers and directors as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules and includes voting or investment power with respect to securities. Except as indicated by the
footnotes below, the Company believes, based on the information furnished to it, that the persons and entities named in the table below will have sole voting and investment
power with respect to all stock that they beneficially own, subject to applicable community property laws. All of the Company’s shares of common stock subject to options or
Warrants exercisable within 60 days are deemed to be outstanding and beneficially owned by the persons holding those options or Warrants for the purpose of computing the
number of shares beneficially owned and the percentage ownership of that person. They are not, however, deemed to be outstanding and beneficially owned for the purpose of
computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

Subject to the paragraph above, the percentage ownership of issued shares is based on 22,042,583 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of April 11,

2022.

Amount and Nature of
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1) Beneficial Ownership Percent of Class
Ophir Sternberg (2) 2,524,068 10.9%
Ian Baines (3) 126,997 *
Julio Ramirez 32,589 *
Michael Rabinovitch (3) 111,237 *
Allison Greenfield (4) 30,000 *
Martha Stewart 13,000 *
Vivian Lopez-Blanco 10,000 &
Gregory Mann 10,000 *
Andrew Taub — *
All directors and executive officers as a group (nine individuals) 2,825,302 12.2%
Greater than 5% Beneficial Owners
Lionheart Equities, LLC (5) 2,010,112 8.7%
The John Rosatti Revocable Trust U/A DTD 8/27/2001 — Custody (6) 3,740,540 17.0%
Lion Point Capital, LP (7) 2,745,938 12.5%
Cardboard Box LLC (8) 3,076,031 14.0%
Ionic Capital Management LLC (9) 1,160,931 5.3%
* Less than one percent.

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the business address of each of the individuals is ¢/o BurgerFi International, Inc., 105 US Highway 1, North Palm Beach, Florida 33408.
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(2) Consist of (i) 720,725 shares of common stock, 150,000 shares (the “Unit Shares”) of common stock underlying units and 1,139,387 shares of common stock underlying
warrants to purchase one share of common stock each, which are currently exercisable, owned directly by Lionheart Equities and (ii) 453,956 shares owned by Mr. Sternberg
and 60,000 shares of common stock underlying warrants to purchase one share of common stock each, which are currently exercisable, owned by Mr. Sternberg. Does not
include 140,000 shares underlying performance-based restricted stock units that are subject to vesting within 60 days of the date set forth above to the extent that
performance objectives are achieved. Mr. Sternberg, as manager of Lionheart Equities, has sole voting and dispositive control over the Unit Shares and Warrants held by
Lionheart Equities. The business address for Lionheart Equities is 4218 NE 2nd Avenue, Miami, FL 33137. The business address for Mr. Sternberg is 4218 NE 2nd Avenue,
Miami, FL 33137.

(3) Does not include 15,000 shares underlying performance-based restricted stock units that are subject to vesting within 60 days of the date set forth above to the extent that
performance objectives are achieved.

(4) Consist of 20,000 shares of common stock owned by Allison Greenfield, and 10,000 shares of common stock owned by Leviathan Group, LLC. Ms. Greenfield possesses sole
voting and dispositive control over the shares.

(5) Consist of 720,725 shares of common stock, 150,000 Unit Shares and 1,139,387 shares of common stock underlying warrants to purchase one share of common stock each,
which are currently exercisable, owned directly by Lionheart Equities. Mr. Sternberg, as manager of Lionheart Equities, has sole voting and dispositive control over the Unit
Shares and Warrants held by Lionheart Equities. The business address for Lionheart Equities is 4218 NE 2nd Avenue, Miami, FL 33137.

(6) Shares of common stock held by The John Rosatti Family Trust U/A DTD 8/27/2001—Custody (the “JR Trust”). The business address of the JR Trust is 101 US Highway 1,
North Palm Beach, FL 33408. John Rosatti, as trustee of the JR Trust, may be deemed to beneficially own the securities beneficially owned by the JR Trust and has sole
voting and dispositive power over the shares held by the JR Trust. Information included in this footnote is derived from a Form 4 filed on April 7, 2022.

(7) Shares of common stock held by Lion Point. The business address of Lion Point is 250 West 55th Street, 33rd Floor, New York, NY 10019. Lion Point is the investment
manager to its investment fund client Lion Point Master, LP. Lion Point Holdings GP, LLC ( “Lion Point Holdings”) is the general partner of Lion Point. Didric Cederholm
is a Founding Partner and Chief Investment Officer of Lion Point. Mr. Cederholm is also a Member and a Manager of Lion Point Holdings. Mr. Freeman is a Founding
Partner and Head of Research of Lion Point. Mr. Freeman is also a Member and a Manager of Lion Point Holdings. By virtue of these relationships, each of Lion Point, Lion
Point Holdings, Mr. Cederholm and Mr. Freeman may be deemed to beneficially own the securities beneficially owned by its investment fund client. Information included in
this footnote is derived from a Schedule 13G/A filed on January 11, 2021.

(8) Shares of common stock held by Cardboard. The business address of Cardboard is 599 West Putnam Avenue, Greenwich, CT 06830. CP7 Warming Bag, L.P. (“CP7
Warming Bag”) is the member of Cardboard holding a majority of the outstanding equity interests of Cardboard. CP7 Management, LLC (‘CP7 Management”) is the
general partner of CP7 Warming Bag. Scott Dahnke is a managing member of CP7 Management. J. Michael Chu is a managing member of CP7 Management. By virtue of
these relationships, each of CP7 Warming Bag, CP7 Management, Mr. Dahnke and Mr. Chu may be deemed to beneficially own the securities beneficially owned by
Cardboard. Each of Cardboard, CP7 Warming Bag, CP7 Management, Mr. Dahnke and Mr. Chu disclaims beneficial ownership of all shares of Common Stock held by
Cardboard. Cardboard, CP7 Warming Bag, CP7 Management, Mr. Dahnke and Mr. Chu each possess shared voting power and shared dispositive control over 3,076,031 of
the shares. Information included in this footnote is derived from a Form 4 filed on March 22, 2022.

(9) Shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants beneficially owned by Ionic Capital Management LLC (“lonic Capital”’). The business address of Ionic
Capital is 475 Fifth Avenue, 9th Floor, New York, New York 10017. Ionic Capital possesses shared voting power and shared dispositive control over all 1,160,931 of the
shares issuable upon exercise of such warrants. Information included in this footnote is derived from a Schedule 13G filed on February 14, 2022.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
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Number of securities remaining

Number of securities to be issued upon  Weighted-average exercise price of available for future issuance under
exercise of outstanding options, outstanding options, warrants and equity compensation plans (excluding
warrants and rights rights securities reflected in column (a))
Plan Category (a) (b) (c)

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders (1) 1,857,448 (2) N/A 35,052
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders — N/A —
Total 1,857,448 (2) $ — 35,052

(1) The equity compensation plan approved by security holders is the 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, which allows for an initial allotment of 2,000,000 shares. The
aggregate number of shares reserved for awards under the plan (other than Incentive Stock Options) will automatically increase on January 1 of each year, for a period of not
more than ten (10) years, commencing on January 1 of the year following the year after the date the plan became effective, in an amount equal to five percent (5%) of the total
number of shares of common stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, provided that the Company’s Compensation Committee may determine prior to
the first day of the applicable fiscal year to lower the amount of such annual increase.

(2) Represents the maximum number of shares of common stock to be issued upon the vesting of outstanding RSUs.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
Related Party Policy

Our Code of Ethics requires us to avoid, wherever possible, all related party transactions that could result in actual or potential conflicts of interests, except under
guidelines approved by the Board of Directors (or the Audit Committee). Related-party transactions are defined as transactions in which (1) the aggregate amount involved will
or may be expected to exceed the lesser of $120,000 or one percent (1%) of the average of the Company’s total assets at year end for the last two completed fiscal years, (2) we
or any of our subsidiaries is a participant, and (3) any (a) executive officer, director or nominee for election as a director, (b) greater than 5% beneficial owner of our shares of
common stock, or (¢) immediate family member, of the persons referred to in clauses (a) and (b), has or will have a direct or indirect material interest (other than solely as a
result of being a director or a less than 10% beneficial owner of another entity). A conflict-of-interest situation can arise when a person takes actions or has interests that may
make it difficult to perform his or her work objectively and effectively. Conflicts of interest may also arise if a person, or a member of his or her family, receives improper
personal benefits as a result of his or her position.

We also require each of our directors and executive officers to annually complete a directors’ and officers’ questionnaire that elicits information about related party
transactions.

Our Audit Committee, pursuant to its written charter, is responsible for reviewing and approving related-party transactions to the extent we enter into such transactions.
All ongoing and future transactions between us and any of our officers and directors or their respective affiliates or other persons listed above will be on terms believed by us to
be no less favorable to us than are available from unaffiliated third parties. Such transactions will require prior approval by our Audit Committee and a majority of our
uninterested “independent” directors, or the members of our Board who do not have an interest in the transaction, in either case who had access, at our expense, to our attorneys
or independent legal counsel. We will not enter into any such transaction unless our Audit Committee and a majority of our disinterested “independent” directors determine that
the terms of such transaction are no less favorable to us than those that would be available to us with respect to such a transaction from unaffiliated third parties.

These procedures are intended to determine whether any such related party transaction impairs the independence of a director or presents a conflict of interest on the
part of a director, employee or officer.

Advances and Promissory Notes
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During 2020 and through the date of the closing of the BurgerFi acquisition, the Sponsor advanced to OPES an aggregate of $1,500,000 to fund working capital
purposes. Such advances were non-interest bearing and due on demand. On the date of closing of the BurgerFi acquisition, the advances were converted into units, each
consisting of one share of Common Stock and one warrant exercisable into one share of Common Stock.

Administrative Service Fee

Prior to the change in management of our predecessor in April 2020, we maintained our executive offices at Park Plaza Torre I, Javier Barros Sierra 540, Of. 103, Col.
Santa Fe, 01210 México City, México. The cost for this space was included in the $10,000 per-month fee that an affiliate of Axis Public Ventures charged us for general and
administrative services pursuant to a letter agreement between us and our initial sponsor, Axis Capital Management (the "Initial Sponsor"). During the year ended December
31, 2020, we incurred approximately $30,000 in fees for these services, of which such amount is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses at December 31, 2020.
Commencing in April 2020, we changed our executive offices to ¢/o Lionheart Equities, 4218 NE 2nd Avenue, Miami, FL 33137, and the $10,000 per-month administrative fee
was payable instead to an affiliate of our Sponsor. That payment accrued, and the accrued amount was paid to such affiliate of our Sponsor upon the consummation of the
BurgerFi acquisition.

Contingent Forward Purchase Contract

In connection with the consummation of the BurgerFi acquisition, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Forward Purchase Contract with each of Lion
Point and Lionheart Equities for the purchase of forward purchase units (“Forward Purchase Units”), each Forward Purchase Unit consisting of one share of Common Stock
and one warrant exercisable into one share of Common Stock. Lion Point purchased 2,000,000 Forward Purchase Units and Lionheart Equities purchased 1,000,000 Forward
Purchase Units under the Amended and Restated Forward Purchase Agreement. In addition, OPES agreed to register a total of 4,829,376 shares of OPES common stock owned
by Lion Point as of the consummation of the BurgerFi acquisition, which comprised of (i) 662,500 of Founders’ Shares, (ii) 83,438 shares of OPES common stock underlying
the (A) 400,000 units (each consisting of one share of Common Stock and one warrant exercisable into one share of Common Stock purchased by our Initial Sponsor, Lion
Point Capital, L.P. and certain of our Initial Stockholders who held Founders’ Shares prior to the IPO and (B) additional 45,000 units sold in connection with the underwriter’s
over-allotment option in connection with our IPO (together with A, the “Private Placement Units”) and 83,438 shares of OPES common stock underlying the private warrants,
each of which entitles the holder thereof to purchase one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share, and (iii) 2,000,000 shares of OPES common stock
underlying the Forward Purchase Units and 2,000,000 shares of OPES common stock underlying the warrants that are part of the Forward Purchase Units, which shares have
priority registration rights over all other shares of OPES common stock to be registered under the New Registration Rights Agreement (as defined below).

Registration Rights

Pursuant to a registration rights agreement, dated as of March 15, 2018 (the ‘Original Registration Rights Agreement’), those initial stockholders who held the
Founders’ Shares issued and outstanding prior to the IPO, as well as the holders of the Private Placement Units and any units the Initial Sponsor, the initial stockholders, their
affiliates, officers, directors or third parties may be issued in payment of working capital loans made to us, were entitled to registration rights.
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In connection with the BurgerFi acquisition, all of the parties to the Original Registration Rights Agreement (and those parties who as a result of the transfer of
Founders’ Shares became a party to the Original Registration Rights Agreement), along with the Members and all other holders of certain securities (the "Registrable
Securities") of the Company (other than the holders of Public Warrants), entered into a new registration rights agreement (the ‘New Registration Rights Agreement’) covering
the registration of Registrable Securities held by such parties. Pursuant to the New Registration Rights Agreement, the Company filed with the SEC a registration statement
covering the resale of certain Registrable Securities held by the parties in accordance with SEC guidance and caused the registration statement to be declared effective under the
Securities Act, and must use its commercially reasonable efforts to keep such registration statement continuously effective under the Securities Act until all Registrable
Securities covered by such registration statement have been sold or may be sold without volume or manner-of-sale restrictions pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act
(“Rule 144”), without the requirement that the Company be in compliance with the current public information requirement under Rule 144. Additionally, Lion Point Capital,
LLC made a written demand for registration under the Securities Act of all or part of certain securities (the “Lion Point Securities”) held by Lion Point Capital, LLC. The
Company is not obligated to effect more than two demand registration statements in respect of the Lion Point Securities. The New Registration Rights Agreement also provides
the holders of the Registrable Securities with certain piggy-back registration rights.

In connection with the Anthony's acquisition, on November 3, 2021, we entered into a registration rights and lock-up agreement with Cardboard (the “RRA/Lock-Up ™)
covering certain securities of the Company (the “New Registrable Securities”) held by Cardboard. Pursuant to the RRA/Lock-Up, the Company will file with the SEC a
registration statement covering the resale of the New Registrable Securities in accordance with SEC guidance and will use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the
registration statement to be declared effective under the Securities Act as promptly as practicable after the filing thereof and will use its commercially reasonable efforts to keep
such registration statement continuously effective under the Securities Act until all New Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement have been sold or certain
other events with respect to the New Registrable Securities have occurred. Additionally, Cardboard is entitled to make, from time to time, a written demand for registration
under the Securities Act of all or part of the New Registrable Securities.

The Company is not obligated to effect more than three demand registration statements in respect of the New Registrable Securities. The RRA/Lock-Up also provides
the holders of the New Registrable Securities with certain piggy-back registration and underwritten shelf offering rights, and subjects certain New Registrable Securities, except
with respect to transfers to certain permitted assignees, to a lock-up until twelve (12) months after the Anthony's Closing, subject to (i) earlier expiration as follows: (A) 30% of
such New Registrable Securities may be transferred, if after the Anthony's Closing, the last reported closing price of the Common Stock for any twenty (20) trading days within
any consecutive thirty (30) trading day period equals or exceeds $23.00 per share, (B) 30% of such New Registrable Securities may be transferred, if after the Anthony's
Closing, the last reported closing price of the Common Stock for any twenty (20) trading days within any consecutive thirty (30) trading day period equals or exceeds $25.00
per share, and (C) 40% of such New Registrable Securities may be transferred, if after the Anthony's Closing, the last reported closing price of the Common Stock for any
twenty (20) trading days within any consecutive thirty (30) trading day period equals or exceeds $28.00 per share; and (ii) all applicable holding periods and requirements under
the Securities Act, and the rules and regulations thereunder. In addition, such New Registrable Securities are subject to a lock-up for 180 days after the Anthony's Closing.

Other Transactions

We lease building space for our previous BurgerFi corporate office from an entity under common ownership with The John Rosatti Revocable Trust U/A DTD
8/27/2001, a significant stockholder. Rent expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $0.2 million each. The Company intends to terminate this lease
agreement in mid-2022. In January 2022, we exercised our right to terminate this North Palm Beach lease effective as of July 2022.

The Company also leases building space for our new combined BurgerFi and Anthony’s corporate office from an entity controlled by Ophir Sternberg, our Executive
Chairman. In February 2022, the Company amended the lease agreement to, among other things, extend the term to ten years beginning as of March 1, 2022 add additional
square footage in order to combine headquarters following the Anthony's acquisition. Rent expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was approximately
$4.9 million and $2.7 million, respectively.
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We also lease building space for a restaurant located in Virginia from an entity (i) in which Ophir Sternberg, the Executive Chairman of the Board, has an indirect
minority ownership interest, and (ii) which is managed by an entity in which Mr. Sternberg has an indirect ownership interest. This lease, entered into on October 21, 2020, is
for a ten-year term effective on the earlier to occur of the date the tenant opened for business and 180 days from the date the landlord delivered possession of the premises to the
tenant. Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $46,000 and $0, respectively.

In addition, in April 2021, we entered into an independent contractor agreement with a corporation (the “Consultant”) for which the Chief Operating Officer (the
“Consultant Principal”) of Lionheart Capital, LLC, an entity controlled by Ophir Sternberg, the Executive Chairman of the Board, serves as President. Pursuant to the terms of
the agreement, the Consultant shall provide certain strategic advisory services to the Company in exchange for total annual cash compensation and expense reimbursements of
$0.1 million, payable in 12 equal monthly payments beginning in April 2021. The Consultant also received an additional $29,000 of cash compensation for services provided in
April 2021. In addition, in July 2021, the Consultant Principal received an award of 50,000 restricted stock units, which shall vest in five equal annual installments, subject to
the Company achieving certain annual revenue targets starting in 2021, and in November 2021, the Consultant Principal received a $250,000 bonus in connection with the
Company's Anthony's acquisition. Further, effective January 3, 2022, the Consultant Principal was granted 37,959 unrestricted shares of common stock of the Company.

Director Independence

The Board of Directors has determined that four of the Company’s six members of the Board of Directors, Allison Greenfield, Vivian Lopez-Blanco, Gregory Mann,
and Martha Stewart, qualify as “independent directors” within the meaning of the independent director guidelines of Nasdaq and applicable SEC rules.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

AUDITORS FEES AND SERVICES
BDO USA, LLP

The following table lists the fees for services rendered by BDO USA, LLP (‘BDO") for the successor period from December 16, 2020 to December 31, 2020, and to
BurgerFi International LLC for the predecessor period January 1, 2020 to December 15, 2020, and the year ended December 31, 2021:

2021 2020

Audit Fees $ 594,900 $ 433,241
Audit Related Fees _

Tax Fees — o
All Other Fees —

Total Fees $ 594,900 $ 433,241

Audit Fees

“Audit Fees " relate to fees and expenses billed by BDO for the annual audit, including the audit of our financial statements, review of our quarterly financial statements and for
Form S-1 and merger proxy filings related to corporate transactions. Fees for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 include $99,400 and $168,241, respectively, for the
audit services and Form S-1 filings performed in connection with the Anthony's acquisition and issuance of merger proxy filings related to the BurgerFi acquisition,
respectively.

Audit Related Fees

“Audit Related Fees” consist of fees and expenses for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial
statements that are not “Audit Fees.”
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Tax Fees

“Tax Fees” consist of fees and related expenses billed for professional services for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. These services include assistance regarding
federal and state tax compliance and tax planning and restructuring.

All Other Fees

3

“All Other Fees” consist of fees and expenses for products and services that are not “Audit Fees,” Audit Related Fees” nor “Tax Fees.’
Marcum, LLP

On December 22, 2020, the audit committee of BurgerFi International, Inc.’s board of directors dismissed Marcum, LLP (‘Marcum ), OPES’s independent registered
public accounting firm prior to the BurgerFi acquisition, as BurgerFi International, Inc.’s independent registered public accounting firm. The table below represents aggregate
fees billed to provide audit services during 2020 in the following categories by Marcum, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm through December 22,
2020:

2020
Audit Fees $ 159,135
Audit Related Fees —
Tax Fees o
All Other Fees —
Total Fees $ 159,135

“Audit Fees " relate to fees and expenses billed by Marcum for the annual audit, including the audit of our financial statements, review of our quarterly financial statements and
for merger proxy filings related to corporate transactions.

“Audit Related Fees,” “Tax Fees” and “All Other Fees " relate to the same types of fees as described above under the heading, “BDO US4, LLP.”
POLICY FOR APPROVAL OF AUDIT AND PERMITTED NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The Audit Committee has adopted a policy and related procedures requiring its pre-approval of all audit and non-audit services to be rendered by its independent
registered public accounting firm. These policies and procedures are intended to ensure that the provision of such services do not impair the independent registered public
accounting firm’s independence. These services may include audit services, audit related services, tax services and other services. The policy provides for the approval by the
Audit Committee of fees for various types of audit services, audit related services, tax services and the services that are within the scope of such fees are deemed to be pre-
approved by the Audit Committee. The independent registered public accounting firm is required to provide to the Audit Committee back up information with respect to the
performance of such services.

All services provided by BDO and Marcum during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 were approved by the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee has delegated to its Chair the authority to pre-approve services, up to a specified fee limit, to be rendered by the independent registered public accounting firm
and requires that the Chair report to the Audit Committee pre-approved decisions made by the Chair at the next scheduled meeting of the Audit Committee.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) We have filed the following documents as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

The financial statements listed in the "Index to Financial Statements" in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data are filed as part of this report.

2. Financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.
3. Exhibits included or incorporated herein: See below.
Exhibit Index
Exhibit
Number Description

2.1 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant
on June 30, 2020)

22 Amendment Agreement to the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed by the registrant on October 1, 2020)

2.3 Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Agreement dated November 3, 2021 by and among Hot Air, Inc., Cardboard Box LLC and the Company
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on November 5, 2021)

3.1* Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, effective on December 16, 2020

32 Certificate of Designation of Series A Preferred Stock of the Company, dated November 3, 2021 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Company’s registration statement on Form S-8 filed by the Company on November 3, 2021)

33 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by
the Company on March 24, 2022)

4.1* Description of Capital Stock

4.2% Specimen Common Stock Certificate

4.3% Specimen Warrant Certificate

4.4 Warrant Agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and the Registrant (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 18, 2018)

10.1 Registration Rights Agreement dated December 16, 2020 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed by
the registrant on December 23, 2020)

10.2 Amendment to IPO Escrow Agreement dated December 16, 2020 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by the registrant on December 23, 2020)

10.3 Indemnification Escrow Agreement dated December 16, 2020 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by the registrant on December 23, 2020)

10.4 Director Voting Agreement dated December 16, 2020 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the
registrant on December 23, 2020)

10.5+ 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on
December 23, 2020)

10.6 Standstill Letter (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on December 23, 2020)

10.7

Loan Agreement dated July 13, 2018 between BurgerFi International, LLC and Bank of America, N.A., as amended by the Amendment No. 1 to Loan
Agreement dated October 31, 2019 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on
December 23, 2020)
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000121390020029315/ea127631ex2-1_opesac.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001723580/000119312521321756/d236685dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000119312521318587/d252386dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000119312521318587/d252386dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000119312522083874/d328491dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000119312522083874/d328491dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000119312522083874/d328491dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000119312522083874/d328491dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000119312522083874/d328491dex32.htm
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000161577418001913/s109358_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000121390020044181/ea131555ex10-1_opesacq.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000121390020044181/ea131555ex10-2_opesacq.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000121390020044181/ea131555ex10-3_opesacq.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000121390020044181/ea131555ex10-4_opesacq.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000121390020044181/ea131555ex10-5_opesacq.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000121390020044181/ea131555ex10-6_opesacq.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000121390020044181/ea131555ex10-9_opesacq.htm
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10.8

10.9+

10.10*
10.11+

10.12+

10.13

10.14+

10.15+

10.16+

10.17+

10.18+

10.19+

10.20+

10.21+

10.22+

10.23+

10.24+*
10.25+

Form of Franchise Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on
December 23, 2020)

Employment Agreement with Mr. Sternberg (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the
registrant on December 23, 2020)

Independent Contractor Agreement between BurgerFi International, Inc. and The Ivy Companies, Inc., dated April 23, 2021

Employment Agreement between the Company and Michael Rabinovitch (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed by the registrant on March 3, 2021)

Amended Employment Agreement between Michael Rabinovitch and BurgerFi International, Inc., dated March 4, 2022 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on March 10, 2022)

Escrow Agreement between the Company, Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, and the initial stockholders (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on March 15, 2018)

Employment Agreement between James Esposito and the Company, dated July 13, 2021 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on July 16, 2021)

Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement between James Esposito and the Company, dated July 13, 2021 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on July 16, 2021)

Benchmark Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement between James Esposito and the Company, dated July 13, 2021 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on July 16, 2021)

Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement between Ophir Sternberg and the Company, dated July 13, 2021 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on July 16, 2021)

Benchmark Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement between Ophir Sternberg and the Company, dated July 13, 2021 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on July 16, 2021)

Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement between Michael Rabinovitch and the Company, dated July 13, 2021 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8
to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on July 16, 2021)

Amended Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement between Michael Rabinovitch and BurgerFi International, Inc., dated March 4, 2022 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on March 10, 2022)

Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement between Michael Rabinovitch and BurgerFi International Inc., dated January 3, 2022
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on January 6, 2022)

Form of Independent Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement with the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on July 16, 2021)

Separation Agreement dated September 28, 2021 by and between the Company and Ross Goldstein (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on October 4, 2021)

Separation and General Release Agreement dated December 29, 2021 by and between the Company and Julio Ramirez

Form of Amendment to the Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the Hot Air, Inc. Amended and Restated 2016 Stock Option Plan
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-8 filed by the Company on November 3, 2021)
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000119312521217456/d197553dex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1723580/000119312521217456/d197553dex104.htm
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10.26+

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32*

10.33

10.34+

10.35+

10.36+

21.1*
23.1*
31.1%*

31.2%

32.1%*

Form of Amendment to the Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the Hot Air, Inc. Amended and Restated 2016 Stock Option Plan
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-8 filed by the Company on November 3, 2021)

Share Escrow Agreement, dated November 3, 2021, by and among the Company, Cardboard Box LLC and the Escrow Agent (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on November 5, 2021)

Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement, dated November 3, 2021, by and between Cardboard Box LLC and the Company (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on November 5, 2021)

Restrictive Covenants Agreement, dated November 3, 2021, by and among Catterton Partners VII, L.P., Catterton Partners VII Offshore, L.P. and
Catterton Partners VII Special Purposes, L.P., on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on November 5, 2021)

Voting Agreement, dated November 3, 2021, by and among the Company, Cardboard Box LLC, Ophir Sternberg and Lionheart Equities, LLC
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on November 5, 2021)

Tenth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Joinder, dated November 3, 2021, by and among the Company, the Company’s subsidiaries, Plastic Tripod,
Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, Regions Bank, as administrative agent for the lenders, collateral agent for the lenders, a lender, swingline
lender and issuance bank, Cadence Bank, as a lender, Webster Bank, National Association, as a lender, Synovus Bank, as a lender, CP7 Warming Back, LP
as a lender and the other lenders party from time to time thereto (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed by the registrant on November 5, 2021)

Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated November 23, 2021, by and among the Company, the Company’s subsidiaries, Plastic Tripod, Inc., the
subsidiary guarantors party thereto, Regions Bank, as administrative agent for the lenders, collateral agent for the lenders, a lender, swingline lender and
issuance bank, Cadence Bank, as a lender, Webster Bank, National Association, as a lender, Synovus Bank, as a lender, CP7 Warming Back, LP as a
lender and the other lenders party from time to time thereto

Twelfth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated March 9, 2022, by and among the Company, the Company’s subsidiaries, Plastic Tripod, Inc., the
subsidiary guarantors party thereto, Regions Bank, as administrative agent for the lenders, collateral agent for the lenders, a lender, swingline lender and
issuance bank, Cadence Bank, as a lender, Webster Bank, National Association, as a lender, Synovus Bank, as a lender, CP7 Warming Back, LP as a
lender and the other lenders party from time to time thereto (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
by the registrant on March 10, 2022)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated November 4, 2021, by and between ACFP Management, Inc., the Company and Ian Baines
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the registrant on November 5, 2021)

Amendment to the Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the Hot Air, Inc. Amended and Restated 2016 Stock Option Plan, dated November
3,2021, by and between the Company and Ian Baines (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed by
the registrant on November 5, 2021)

Hot Air, Inc. 2016 Amended and Restated 2016 Option Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-8
filed by the Company on November 3, 2021)

Subsidiaries of Registrant
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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32.2%% Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104 The cover page from the Company’s Annual Report on form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 has been formatted in Inline XBRL.

*  Filed herewith.
**  Furnished.
+ Indicates a management contract or a compensatory plan or agreement.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 23 and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this amended report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: April 14, 2022

BurgerFi International, Inc.

By: /s/ Ian Baines
Ian Baines
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ Ian Baines Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) April 14,2022
Ian Baines
[s/ Michael Rabinovitch Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer) April 14,2022
Michael Rabinovitch
/[s/ Ophir Sternberg Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors April 14,2022
Ophir Sternberg
[s/ Martha Stewart Director April 14,2022
Martha Stewart
/s/ Vivian Lopez-Blanco Director April 14,2022
Vivian Lopez-Blanco
[s/ Gregory Mann Director April 14,2022
Gregory Mann
[s/ Allison Greenfield Director April 14,2022
Allison Greenfield
[s/ Andrew Taub Director April 14,2022
Andrew Taub
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Exhibit 3.1

AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF

BURGERFI INTERNATIONAL, INC.







Execution Version
Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
BURGERFI INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Pursuant to Section 245 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law

OPES ACQUISITION CORP., a corporation existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Corporation™), by its Chief
Executive Officer, hereby certifies as follows:

FIRST: The name of the corporation is BurgerFi International, Inc. (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the “Corporation”).

SECOND: The registered office of the Corporation is to be located at 1013 Centre Road, Suite 403-B, Wilmington, New
Castle County, Delaware, 19805. The name of its registered agent at that address is VCorp Services, LLC.

THIRD: The purpose of the Corporation shall be to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be
organized under the GCL. In addition to the powers and privileges conferred upon the Corporation by law and those incidental thereto,
the Corporation shall possess and may exercise all the powers and privileges that are necessary or convenient to the conduct, promotion
or attainment of the business or purposes of the Corporation.

FOURTH: The total number of shares of all classes of capital stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is
110,000,000, of which 100,000,000 shares shall be common stock of the par value $.0001 per share (“Common Stock™) and 10,000,000
shares shall be preferred stock of the par value of .0001 per share (“Preferred Stock™).

A. Preferred Stock. The Board of Directors is expressly granted authority to issue shares of the Preferred Stock, in one or
more series, and to fix for each such series such voting powers, full or limited, and such designations, preferences and relative,
participating, optional or other special rights and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof as shall be stated and expressed
in the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors providing for the issue of such series (a “Preferred Stock
Designation™) and as may be permitted by the GCL. The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock may be increased or decreased
(but not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power
of all of the then outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting
together as a single class, without a separate vote of the holders of the Preferred Stock, or any series thereof, unless a vote of any such
holders is required pursuant to any Preferred Stock Designation.







B. Common Stock. Except as otherwise required by law or as otherwise provided in any Preferred Stock Designation, the
holders of the Common Stock shall exclusively possess all voting power and each share of Common Stock shall have one vote. Subject
to the rights of holders of any series of outstanding Preferred Stock, holders of shares of Common Stock shall have equal rights of
participation in the dividends and other distributions in cash, stock, or property of the Corporation when, as and if declared thereon by
the Board of Directors from time to time out of assets or funds of the Corporation legally available therefor and shall have equal rights
to receive the assets and funds of the Corporation available for distribution to stockholders in the event of any liquidation, dissolution,
or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary.

FIFTH: The size of the Board as of the date hereof shall be fixed at five (5); provided that such number may be increased or
decreased from time to time in such manner as prescribed by the By-laws of the Corporation. Directors need not be stockholders.

SIXTH: Classified Board. The Board of Directors shall be divided into three classes: Class A, Class B, and Class C. The
number of directors in each class shall be as nearly equal as possible. At the first election of directors by the incorporator, the
incorporator shall elect a Class C director for a term expiring at the Corporation’s third Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Class C
director shall then appoint additional Class A, Class B, and Class C directors, as necessary. The directors in Class A shall be elected for
a term expiring at the first Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the directors in Class B shall be elected for a term expiring at the second
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and the directors in Class C shall be elected for a term expiring at the third Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. Commencing at the first Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and at each annual meeting thereafter, directors elected to
succeed those directors whose terms expire shall be elected for a term of office to expire at the third succeeding annual meeting of
stockholders after their election. Except as the GCL may otherwise require, in the interim between annual meetings of stockholders or
special meetings of stockholders called for the election of directors and/or the removal of one or more directors and the filling of any
vacancy in that connection, newly created directorships and any vacancies in the Board of Directors, including unfilled vacancies
resulting from the removal of directors for cause, may be filled by the vote of a majority of the remaining directors then in office,
although less than a quorum (as defined in the Corporation’s Bylaws), or by the sole remaining director. All directors shall hold office
until the expiration of their respective terms of office and until their successors shall have been elected and qualified. A director elected
to fill a vacancy resulting from the death, resignation or removal of a director shall serve for the remainder of the full term of the
director whose death, resignation or removal shall have created such vacancy and until his successor shall have been elected and
qualified.

SEVENTH: The following provisions are inserted for the management of the business and for the conduct of the affairs of the
Corporation, and for further definition, limitation and regulation of the powers of the Corporation and of its directors and stockholders:

A. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors.







B. Election of directors need not be by ballot unless the Bylaws of the Corporation so provide.

C. The Board of Directors shall have the power, without the assent or vote of the stockholders, to make, alter, amend, change,
add to or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation as provided in the Bylaws of the Corporation.

D. The directors in their discretion may submit any contract or act for approval or ratification at any annual meeting of the
stockholders or at any meeting of the stockholders called for the purpose of considering any such act or contract, and any contract or
act that shall be approved or be ratified by the vote of the holders of a majority of the stock of the Corporation which is represented in
person or by proxy at such meeting and entitled to vote thereat (provided that a lawful quorum of stockholders be there represented in
person or by proxy) shall be as valid and binding upon the Corporation and upon all the stockholders as though it had been approved or
ratified by every stockholder of the Corporation, whether or not the contract or act would otherwise be open to legal attack because of
directors” interests, or for any other reason.

E. In addition to the powers and authorities hereinbefore or by statute expressly conferred upon them, the directors are hereby
empowered to exercise all such powers and do all such acts and things as may be exercised or done by the Corporation; subject,
nevertheless, to the provisions of the statutes of Delaware, of this Certificate of Incorporation, and to any Bylaws from time to time
made hy the stockholders; provided, however, that no Bylaw so made shall invalidate any prior act of the directors which would have
been valid if such Bylaw had not been made.

EIGHTH: LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION

A. Limitation of Personal Liability. A director of the Corporation shall not be personally liable to the Corporation or its
stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability (1) for any breach of the director’s
duty of loyalty to the Corporation or its stockholders, (2) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional
misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (3) under Section 174 of the GCL, or (4) for any transaction from which the director derived
an improper personal benefit. If the GCL is amended to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability
of directors, then the liability of a director of the Corporation shall be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the GCL,
as s0 amended. Any repeal or modification of this paragraph A by the stockholders of the Corporation shall not adversely affect any
right or protection of a director of the Corporation with respect to events occurring prior to the time of such repeal or modification.







B. Indemnification. The Corporation shall indemnify, to the fullest extent authorized or permitted by the DGCL, as now or
hereafter in effect, any director or officer of the Corporation who was or is a party to, or is threatened to be made a party to, any
threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or otherwise, by
reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the
Corporation as a director, officer, partner, trustee or employee of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise, and such right to indemnification shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director or officer of the Corporation
and shall inure to the benefit of such person’s heirs, executors and personal and legal representatives. The right to indemnification
conferred by this Paragraph B shall include the right to be paid by the Corporation the expenses incurred in defending or otherwise
participating in any proceeding in advance of its final disposition, provided that such director or officer presents to the Corporation a
written undertaking to repay such amount if it shall ultimately be determined that such director or officer is not entitled to be
indemnified by the Corporation under this Article EIGHTH or otherwise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, except for proceedings to
enforce any director’s or officer’s rights to indemnification or to advancement of expenses, the Corporation shall not be obligated to
indemnify or advance expenses to any director or officer (or such director’s or officer’s heirs, executors or personal or legal
representatives) in connection with any proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such person unless such proceeding (or part thereof)
was autharized by the Board of Directors.

C. Insurance. The Corporation shall have power to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a
director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer,
employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any expense, liability or loss
incurred by such person in any such capacity or arising out of such person’s status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have
the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the DGCL.

D. Non-Exclusivity of Rights. The rights and authority conferred in this Article EIGHTH shall neither be exclusive of, nor be
deemed in limitation of, any rights to which any person may otherwise be or become entitled or permitted under this Certificate of
Incorporation, the Bylaws, any statute, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.

E. Persons Other Than Directors and Officers. This Article EIGHTH shall not limit the right of the Corporation, to the extent
and in the manner permitted by law, to indemnify and to advance expenses to, or to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of,
persons other than those persons described in the first sentence of Paragraph B of Article EIGHTH or to advance expenses 1o persons
other than directors and officers of the Corporation.

F. Effect of Modifications. Any amendment, repeal or modification of any provision contained in this Article EIGHTH shall,
unless otherwise required by law, be prospective only (except to the extent such amendment or change in law permits the Corporation
to further limit or eliminate the liability of directors or officers) and shall not adversely affect any right or protection of any current or
former director or officer of the Corporation existing at the time of such amendment, repeal or modification with respect to any acts or
omissions occurring prior to such amendment, repeal or modification.







NINTH: STOCKHOLDERS

A. Special Meetings. Except as otherwise expressly provided by the terms of any series of Preferred Stock permitting the
holders of such series of Preferred Stock to call a special meeting of the holders of such series, special meetings of the stockholders of
the Corporation may be called only by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation or the
Board of Directors. The ability of the stockholders to call a special meeting of the stockholders is hereby specifically denied.

B. Advance Notice. Advance notice of stockholder nominations for the election of directors and of business to be brought by
stockholders before any meeting of the stockholders of the Corporation shall be given in the manner and to the extent provided in the
Bylaws.

C. Whenever a compromise or arrangement is proposed between this Corporation and its creditors or any class of them and/or
between this Corporation and its stockholders or any class of them, any court of equitable jurisdiction within the State of Delaware
may, on the application in a summary way of this Corporation or of any creditor or stockholder thereof or on the application of any
receiver or receivers appointed for this Corporation under Section 291 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code or on the application of trustees
in dissolution or of any receiver or receivers appointed for this Corporation under Section 279 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code, order a
meeting of the creditors or class of creditors, and/or of the stockholders or class of stockholders of this Corporation, as the case may be,
to be summoned in such manner as the said court directs. If a majority in number representing three fourths in value of the creditors or
class of creditors, and/or of the stockholders or class of stockholders of this Corporation, as the case may be, agree to any compromise
or arrangement and to any reorganization of this Corporation as a consequence of such compromise or arrangement, the said
compromise or arrangement and the said reorganization shall, if sanctioned by the court to which the said application has been made,
be binding on all the creditors or class of creditors, andfor on all the stockholders or class of stockholders, of this Corporation, as the
case may be, and also on this Corporation.

TENTH: FORUM FOR CERTAIN ACTIONS

A. Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for any
stockholder (including a beneficial owner) to bring (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (ii)
any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee of the Corporation to the
Corporation or the Corporation’s stockholders, (ii1) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the GCL, this
Certificate of Incorporation or the Corporation’s Bylaws, or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine
shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, another state court
located within the State of Delaware, or if no state court located within the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal district court
for the District of Delaware) in all cases subject to the court’s having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as
defendants.

B. If any action the subject matter of which is within the scope of Section A immediately above is filed in a court other than a
court located within the State of Delaware (a “Foreign Action™) in the name of any stockholder, such stockholder shall be deemed to
have consented to (i) the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located within the State of Delaware in connection with
any action brought in any such court to enforce paragraph A immediately ahove (an “FSC Enforcement Action™) and (ii) having
service of process made upon such stockholder in any such FSC Enforcement Action by service upon such stockholder’s counsel in the
Foreign Action as agent for such stockholder.







C. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Section 27 of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™)
creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and
regulations thereunder. Section 22 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) creates concurrent jurisdiction for
federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations
thereunder. As a result, the exclusive forum provision set forth in this Article TENTH will not apply to suits brought to enforce any
duty or liability created by the Exchange Act, the Securities Act, or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive
jurisdiction. Stockholders cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

D. If any provision or provisions of this Article TENTH shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable as applied to any
person or entity or circumstance for any reason whatsoever, then, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the validity, legality and
enforceability of such provisions in any other circumstance and of the remaining provisions of this Article TENTH (including, without
limitation, each portion of any sentence of this Article TENTH containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable that is not itself held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) and the application of such provision to other persons or
entities and circumstances shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring
any interest in shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the provisions of this
Article TENTH.

ELEVENTH: AMENDMENT

A. Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation. The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter or repeal any provision
contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by this Certificate of Incorporation and the
DGCL, and all rights, preferences and privileges herein conferred upon stockholders of the Corporation by and pursuant to this
Certificate of Incorporation in its present form or as hereafter amended are granted subject to the right reserved in this Article
ELEVENTH. In addition to any other vote that may be required by law, applicable stock exchange rule or the terms of any series of
Preferred Stock, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the voting power of all then outstanding shares of capital
stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to
amend, alter, repeal or adopt any provision of this Certificate of Incorporation. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Certificate
of Incorporation, and in addition to any other vote that may be required by law, applicable stock exchange rule or the terms of any
series of Preferred Stock, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the voting power of all then outstanding shares of capital
stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to
amend, alter, repeal or adopt any provision of this Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with the purpose and intent of Article
FIFTH, Article SIXTH, Article SEVENTH, Article EIGHTH, Article NINTH, Article TENTH or this Article ELEVENTH (including,
without limitation, any such Article as renumbered as a result of any amendment, alteration, repeal or adoption of any other Avrticle).

B. Amendment of Bylaws. In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by the DGCL, the Board of Directors
is expressly authorized to adopt, amend, alter or repeal the Bylaws. The Bylaws may also be adopted, amended, altered or repealed by
the stockholders of the Corporation by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 75% of the voting power of all then outstanding
shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.

TWELFTH: Section 203. The Corporation will be governed by Section 203 of the DGCL.







IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the Corporation has caused this Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation to be signed asof the 16th day of December, 2020.

/s/ Ophir Sternberg

Ophir Sternberg,
Chairman of the Board
andChief Executive
Officer

Attested to:

/s/ Ross Goldstein

Ross Goldstein, Secretary







STATE OF DELAWARE
CERTIFICATE OF CHANGE OF REGISTERED AGENT
AND/OR REGISTERED OFFICE

The corporation organized and existing under the General Corporation Law of the Stateof Delaware, hereby
certifies as follows:

1. The name of the corporation is BurgerFi International, Inc.

s The Registered Office of the corporation in the State of Delaware is changed to
3411 Silverside Road Tatnall Building #104

(street), inthe City of Wilmington

County of New Castle Zip Code 19810 . The name of the

Registered Agent at such address upon whom process against this Corporation may be served is Corporate
Creations Network Inc. ‘

3. The foregoing change to the registered office/agent was adopted by a resolution of
the Board of Directors of the corporation.

By: /s/ Stefan K. Schnopp
Authorized Officer
Stefan K. Schnopp, Chief Legal Officer and Corporate
Secretary










Exhibit 4.1

DESCRIPTION OF OUR SECURITIES

The following summary of the Company’s securities is based on and qualified by the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Certificate of
Designation thereto and Amended and Restated Bylaw. References to the “Company” and to “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to BurgerFi International, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Authorized and Outstanding Stock

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of a total number of 110,000,000, shares of all classes of capital stock, of which 100,000,000
shares shall be common stock of the par value $.0001 per share (“Common Stock™) and 10.000.000 shares shall be preferred stock of the par value of $.0001 per share
(“Preferred Stock™). Pursuant to the CoD. the Company designated 2.620.000 shares of our Preferred Stock as “Series A Preferred Stock,” as referred to throughout this
prospectus. In connection with the Stock Acquisition, the Company issued 2,120,000 shares of Series A Junior Preferred Stock.

Common Stock
Voting Power

Excenpt as otherwise required by law or as otherwise provided in any certificate of designation for any series of preferred stock, the holders of the Common Stock shall
exclusively possess all voting power and each share of Common Stock shall have one vote. Unless otherwise required by the DGCL, any proposals (other than the election of
directors) brought before any meeting of stockholders shall be decided by the vote of the holders of a maijority of the stock represented and entitled to vote thereat. At all
meetings of stockholders for the election of directors, a plurality of the votes cast shall be sufficient to elect a director. There is no cumulative voting with respect to the
Common Stock.

Dividends

Subiect to the rights of holders of any series of outstanding Preferred Stock. holders of common stock will be entitled to receive dividends and other distributions, if any, in
amounts declared from time to time by our Board in its discretion out of funds legally available therefor and shall share equally on a per share basis in these dividends and
distributions.

Liquidation, Dissolution and Winding Up

4

In the event of our liquidation. dissolution or winding up. holders of Common Stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities, subject to the
prior distribution rights of any outstanding preferred stock.

Other

Our stockholders have no conversion, preemptive or other subscription rights and there are no sinking fund or redemption provisions applicable to the shares of Common Stock.

Preferred Stock

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides the Board of Directors is expressly granted authority to issue shares of the Preferred Stock, in one or more
series, and to fix for each such series such voting powers, full or limited. and such designations. preferences and relative. participating, optional or other special rights and such
qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof as shall be stated and expressed in the resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors providing for the issue of such
series (a “Preferred Stock Designation™). The number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof then
outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Company entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors. voting together as a single class, without a separate vote of the holders of the Preferred Stock, or any series thereof, unless a vote of any
such holders is required pursuant to any Preferred Stock Designation.

Warrants

The Public Warrants became exercisable 30 days after the completion of the Business Combination; provided that the Company has an effective registration statement under the
Securities Act covering the shares of common stock
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issuable upon exercise of the Public Warrants and a current prospectus relating to them is available. The Company has agreed that as soon as practicable, the Company will use
its best efforts to file with the SEC a registration statement for the registration, under the Securities Act, of the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the Public
Warrants. The Company will use its best efforts to cause the same to become effective and to maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement, and a current prospectus
relating thereto, until the expiration of the Public Warrants in accordance with the provisions of the warrant agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a registration
statement covering the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the Public Warrants is not effective within the specified period following the consummation of
Business Combination, warrant holders may, until such time as there is an effective registration statement and during any period when the Company shall have failed to
maintain an effective registration statement, exercise warrants on a cashless basis pursuant to the exemption provided by Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act, provided that such
exemption is available. If that exemption, or another exemption, is not available, holders will not be able to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis. The Public Warrants will
expire five years after the completion of a Business Combination or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

The Company may redeem the Public Warrants:

. in whole and not in part;

. at a price of $0.01 per warrant;

. at any time during the exercise period;

. upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption;

. if, and only if, the last sale price of the Company’s common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day

period ending on the third business day prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the warrant holders; and

. if, and only if| there is a current registration statement in effect with respect to the shares of common stock underlying such warrants.

If the Company calls the Public Warrants for redemption, management will have the option to require all holders that wish to exercise the Public Warrants to do so on a
“cashless basis,” as described in the warrant agreement. The exercise price and number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants may be adjusted in
certain circumstances including in the event of a stock dividend. or recapitalization. reorganization, merger or consolidation. However, the warrants will not be adjusted for
issuance of common stock at a price below its exercise price. Additionally, in no event will the Company be required to net cash settle the warrants.

The Private Warrants are identical to the Public Warrants, except that the Private Warrants and the common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Private Warrants were not be
transferable, assignable or saleable until after the completion of the Business Combination, subiject to certain limited exceptions. Additionally, the Private Warrants will be
exercisable on a cashless basis and be non-redeemable so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees. If the Private Warrants are held by
someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the Private Warrants will be redeemable by the Company and exercisable by such holders on the same
basis as the Public Warrants.

The Company has issued an additional 150,000 warrants in satisfaction of certain working capital loans made by the Company’s officers, directors, initial stockholders and
affiliates. The working capital warrants are identical to the Public Warrants, except that the working capital warrants and the common stock issuable upon the exercise of the
working capital warrants were not be transferable, assignable or saleable until after the completion of the Business Combination, subject to certain limited exceptions.
Additionally. the working capital warrants may be exercisable on a cash or cashless basis and will be non-redeemable so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their
permitted transferees. If the working capital warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the working capital warrants will be
redeemable by the Company and exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants.

Unit Purchase Option

The Company entered into a Unit Purchase Option Agreement with EarlyBirdCapital pursuant to which EarlyBirdCapital and its designees can purchase up to 750,000 units
(each unit consists of one share of Common
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Stock and one Warrant) exercisable at $10.00 per unit. The unit purchase option may be exercised for cash or on a cashless basis, at the holder’s option, and expires on March
17,2023. As of April 27, 2021, 283,669 shares of Common Stock have been issued pursuant to the cashless exercises and 75,000 shares and 75,000 shares of Common Stock
issuable upon the exercise of the warrants remain issuable pursuant to the exercise of the units that remain outstanding pursuant to such unit purchase option.

The unit purchase option grants to holders demand and “piggyback” rights for periods of five and seven vears, respectively, from March 13, 2018 with respect to the registration
under the Securities Act of the securities directly and indirectly issuable upon exercise of the option. The 283.669 shares of Common Stock that have been issued pursuant to
the cashless exercises of the unit purchase option and the 75,000 shares and 75,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of the warrants that remain issuable
pursuant to the exercise of the units that remain outstanding pursuant to such unit purchase option are being registered pursuant to this registration statement. The Company will
bear all fees and expenses attendant to registering the securities, other than underwriting commissions which will be paid for by the holders themselves. The exercise price and
number of units issuable upon exercise of the option may be adjusted in certain circumstances including in the event of a stock dividend. or the Company’s recapitalization,
reorganization, merger or consolidation. However, the option will not be adjusted for issuances of common stock at a price below its exercise price.

Transfer Agent and Warrant Agent

The transfer agent for our common stock and warrant agent for our warrants is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. We have agreed to indemnify Continental Stock
Transfer & Trust Company in its role as transfer agent and warrant agent, its agents and each of its stockholders, directors, officers and emplovees against all claims and losses
that may arise out of acts performed or omitted for its activities in that capacity, except for any liability due to any gross negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith of the
indemnified person or entity.

Certain Anti-Takeover Provisions of Delaware Law and our Charter and Bylaws

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation contains provisions that may discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that stockholders may consider to be in their
best interests. These provisions may make more difficult the removal of management and may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium over
prevailing market prices for our securities.

Staggered Board

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that our Board be classified into three classes of directors of approximately equal size. As a result, in most
circumstances, a person can gain control of our Board only by successfully engaging in a proxy contest at two or more annual or special meetings.

Special meeting of stockholders

Our Amended and Restated Bylaws provide that special meetings of stockholders may be called only by a majority vote of our Board or our President or Executive Chairman.

Advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and director nominations

Our Amended and Restated Bylaws provide that stockholders of record seeking to bring business before an annual meeting of stockholders, or to nominate candidates for
election as directors at our annual meeting of stockholders, must provide timely notice of their intent in writing. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice will need to be received at
our principal executive offices not less than sixty (60) days nor more than ninety (90) days prior to the meeting; provided, however, that in the event that less than seventy

(70) days’ notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the annual meeting is given or made to stockholders, notice by a stockholder, to be timely, must be received no later
than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the day on which such notice of the date of the annual meeting was mailed or such public disclosure was made,
whichever first occurs. Pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act, proposals seeking inclusion in our annual proxy statement must comply with the notice periods contained
therein. Our Amended and Restated Bylaws also specify certain requirements as to the form and content of a stockholders’ meeting. These provisions may preclude our
stockholders from bringing matters before the annual meeting of stockholders or from making nominations for directors at our annual meeting of stockholders.

Authorized but unissued shares
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Our authorized but unissued Common Stock and Preferred Stock are available for future issuances without stockholder approval and could be utilized for a variety of corporate
purposes, including future offerings to raise additional capital, acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of authorized but unissued and unreserved Common Stock
and Preferred Stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise.

Stockholder action by written consent

Our Amended and Restated Bylaws provide that any action required or permitted to be a taken by stockholders must be effected at an annual or special meeting, and may not be
taken by written consent (subject to the rights of any preferred stock then outstanding).

Exclusive forum selection

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation requires that unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum. the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware (or, in the event that the Chancery Court does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware or other state courts of the State of Delaware)
shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of we, (ii) any action asserting a claim
of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer, emplovee or agent of we to we or its stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against we
arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our charter or bylaws (as either may be amended from time to time). and (iv) any action asserting a claim against we governed
by the internal affairs doctrine. The enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ organizational documents has been challenged in legal proceedings,
and it is possible that, in connection with claims arising under federal securities laws, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in our Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable. If that were the case, because stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal
securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. it would allow stockholders to bring claims for breach of these provisions in any appropriate forum. Although we
believe this provision benefits us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies, the provision may have the
effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers.

Notwithstanding the foregoing. Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the
Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. As a result, the exclusive forum provision will not apply to suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the
Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.

Section 203 of the DGCL

We have not opted out of Section 203 of the DGCL under the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. As a result, pursuant to Section 203 of the DGCL, we are
prohibited from engaging in any business combination with any stockholder for a period of three years following the time that such stockholder (the “interested stockholder”)
came to own at least 15% of the outstanding voting stock (the “acquisition”), except if:

. the Board approved the acquisition prior to its consummation;
. the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the outstanding voting stock upon consummation of the acquisition; or
. the business combination is approved by the Board of we, and by a 2/3 majority vote of the other stockholders in a meeting.

Generally, a “business combination” includes any merger, consolidation, asset or stock sale or certain other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the interested
stockholder. Subiect to certain exceptions, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with that person’s affiliates and associates, owns, or within the previous three
years owned, 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock.

Under certain circumstances. declining to opt out of Section 203 of the DGCL will make it more difficult for a person who would be an “interested stockholder” to effect
various business combinations with us for a three-vear period. This may encourage companies interested in acquiring us to negotiate in advance with the Board because the
stockholder approval requirement would be avoided if the Board approves the acquisition which results in the
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stockholder becoming an interested stockholder. This may also have the effect of preventing changes in the Board and may make it more difficult to accomplish transactions
which stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.

Limitation on Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws limit the personal liability of our directors to our stockholders or us for monetary
damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except for liability (1) for any breach of the director’s duty of lovalty to us or our stockholders, (2) for acts or omissions not in
good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (3) under Section 174 of the DGCL or (4) for any transaction from which the director derived
an improper personal benefit. Our Amended and Restated Bylaws also provide for such limitation of liability with respect to our officers. The DGCL provides that directors of a
corporation will not be personally liable for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duties as directors, except for liability:

. for any transaction from which the director derives an improper personal benefit;

. for any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;
. for any unlawful payment of dividends or redemption of shares; or

. for any breach of a director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders.

If the DGCL is amended to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of our directors will be eliminated or
limited to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as so amended.

Delaware law and our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws provide that, in certain circumstances and subiect to certain
limitations, we will indemnify our directors and officers and may indemnify other employees and other agents, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Any indemnified person is
also entitled, subject to certain limitations, to advancement of expenses (including attorneys’ fees) in advance of the final disposition of the proceeding.

We currently maintain a directors’ and officers’ insurance policy pursuant to which our directors and officers are insured against liability for actions taken in their capacities as
directors and officers.

We believe these provisions in the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and in our Amended and Restated Bylaws and these indemnification agreements are
necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors and officers. However, these provisions may discourage stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against our directors
for breach of their fiduciary duty. These provisions also may have the effect of reducing the likelihood of derivative litigation against directors and officers, even though such an
action, if successful, might otherwise benefit

us and its stockholders. Furthermore, a stockholder’s investment may be adversely affected to the extent we pay the costs of settlement and damage awards against directors
and officers pursuant to these indemnification provisions.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers, or control persons, in the opinion of the SEC, such
indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

Registration Rights

Pursuant to a registration rights agreement. dated as of March 15, 2018 (the “Original Registration Rights Agreement”), those initial stockholders who held the Founders’
Shares issued and outstanding prior to the IPO, as well as the holders of the Private Placement Units and any units issued to the Initial Sponsor, the initial stockholders, their
affiliates, officers, directors or third parties in payment of working capital loans made to us, were entitled to registration rights.

In connection with the Business Combination, all of the parties to the Original Registration Rights Agreement (and those parties who as a result of the transfer of Founders’
Shares became a party to the Original Registration Rights Agreement), along with the Members and all other holders of Registrable Securities (other than the holders of Public
Warrants). entered into a new registration rights agreement (the “New Registration Rights Agreement”) covering the registration of Registrable Securities held by such parties.
Pursuant to the New Registration Rights Agreement, the
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Company filed with the SEC a registration statement covering the resale of certain Registrable Securities held by the parties in accordance with SEC guidance and caused the
registration statement to be declared effective under the Securities Act, and must use its commercially reasonable efforts to keep such registration statement continuously
effective under the Securities Act until all Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement have been sold or may be sold without volume or manner-of-

sale restrictions pursuant to Rule 144, without the requirement that the Company be in compliance with the current public information requirement under Rule 144.
Additionally. Lion Point Capital, LLC made a written demand for registration under the Securities Act of all or part of the Lion Point Securities. The Company is not obligated
to effect more than two demand registration statements in respect of the Lion Point Securities. The New Registration Rights Agreement also provides the holders of the
Registrable Securities with certain piggy-back registration rights.

In connection with the Stock Acquisition. on November 3. 2021. we entered into a registration rights and lock-up agreement with Cardboard (the “the RRA/Lock-Up”) covering
certain registrable securities (the “New Registrable Securities”). Pursuant to the RRA/Lock-Up, the Company will file with the SEC a registration statement covering the resale
of the New Registrable Securities in accordance with SEC guidance and will use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the registration statement to be declared effective
under the Securities Act as promptly as practicable after the filing thereof and will use its commercially reasonable efforts to keep such registration statement continuously
effective under the Securities Act until all New Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement have been sold or certain other events with respect to the New
Registrable Securities have occurred. Additionally, Cardboard is entitled to make, from time to time, a written demand for registration under the Securities Act of all or part of
the New Registrable Securities. The Company is not obligated to effect more than three demand registration statements in respect of the New Registrable Securities.

The RRA/Lock-Up also provides the holders of the New Registrable Securities with certain piggy-back registration and underwritten shelf offering rights, and subiects the
shares of Common Stock issued to Cardboard in the Stock Acquisition (the “BFI Consideration Common Shares”), except with respect to transfers to certain permitted
assignees, to a lock-up until twelve (12) months after the ACFP Closing, subiect to (i) earlier expiration as follows: (A) 30% of the BFI Consideration Common Shares may be
transferred, if after the ACFP Closing, the last reported closing price of the Common Stock for any twenty (20) trading days within any consecutive thirty (30) trading day
period equals or exceeds $23.00 per share, (B) 30% of the BFI Consideration Common Shares may be transferred, if after the ACFP Closing, the last reported closing price of
the Common Stock for any twenty (20) trading days within any consecutive thirty (30) trading day period equals or exceeds $25.00 per share, and (C) 40% of the BFI
Consideration Common Shares may be transferred, if after the ACFP Closing, the last reported closing price of the Common Stock for any twenty (20) trading days within any
consecutive thirty (30) trading day period equals or exceeds $28.00 per share: and (ii) all applicable holding periods and requirements under the Securities Act, and the rules and
regulations thereunder. In addition, the BFI Consideration Common Shares are subject to a lock-up for 180 days after the ACFP Closing.
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COMMON STOCK SEE REVERSE FOR CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

THIS CERTIFIES THAT

IS THE OWNER OF

FULLY PAID AND NON-ASSESSABLE SHARES OF THE COMMON STOCK, $0.0001 PAR VALUE, OF
BukGERF] INETERNATIONAL, INC.
transferable on the books of the Company in Person or by duly authorized attomey, upon surrender of this Certificate properly endorsed. This Certificate and the shares
represented hereby, are issued and shall be held subject to all of the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, and the Bylaws, as smended., of the Company
(copies of which are on file with the Company and with the Transfer Agent), to all of which each holder, by acceptance hereof, assents. This Certificate is not valid unless
countersigned and registered by the Transfer Agent and Registrar,
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WITNESS the facsimile seal of the Company and the facsimile signatures of its duly authorized officers,
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REPRESENTING LIMITED PARTNER INTERESTS IN
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This centifies that Jorregistered assigns, is the registered holder of warrants (“Warrants™ and each a *Warrant”) to purchase
common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (*Common Stock”).

Each Warrant entitles the holder, upon exercise during the Exercise Period sel forth in the Warrant Agreement referred o below, o purchase from BurgerFi International, Inc. (the
“Company”) one share of Common Stock at the exercise price the (“Exercise Price”) determined parsuant to the Warrant Agreement, payable i lawful money (or through “cashless exercise”
as provided for in the Warrant Agreement, dated as of Mareh 13, 2018, between the Company and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Warrant Agent (the “Warrant Agreement”))
upon surrender of this Warrant Certificate and payment of the Exercise Price at the office or agency of the Warrant Agent referred to below, subject to the conditions set forth hercin and in the
Warrant Agreement, Defined terms used in this Warrant Certificate but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Warrant Agreement.

The number of shares of Common Stock issuable on exercise of the Warrant is subject to adjustment upon the oceurrence of certain events as set forth in the Warrant Agreement,

A8

The initial Exercise Price is $11.50 per share of Common Stock. The Warrant Exercise Price is subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events as set forth in the Warrant
Agreement.

Subject to the conditions and exceptions set forth in the Warrant Agreement, the Warrants may be exercised only during the Exercise Period and to the extent not exercised by
the end of such Exercise Period, such Warrants shall become void.

Reference is hereby made to the further provisions of this Warant Certificate set forth on the reverse hereof and such further provisions shall for all purposes
have the same effect as though fully set forth at this place.
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This Warrant Certificate shall not be valid unless countersigned by the Warrant Agent, as such term is used in the Warrant Agreement,

This Warrant Certificate shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York, withou! regard to confTicts of
laws principles thereof,
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INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), executed
on this 23 day of April, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), by and between BURGERFI
INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Delaware corporation with an address at 105 US Highway 1, North
Palm Beach, FL 33408, and its affiliates (collectively, “BFI™), and THE IVY COMPANIES,
INC., a Florida corporation with an address at 1825 Ponce De Leon Blvd., Suite 488, Coral Gables,
FL 33134 (“Contractor™).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, BFI desires strategic consulting and advice with respect to merger and
acquisition activities and desires to engage Contractor to provide the Services (as defined below)
as an independent contractor; and

WHEREAS, Contractor has experience in providing strategic consulting and advice with
respect to merger and acquisition opportunities and is desirous of providing the Services to BFI,
on and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which is acknowledged by BFI and Contractor, BFI and Contractor, intending to be legally bound,
agree as follows:

1. Nature of Services.

a. Contractor will perform such specific consulting services with respect to
mergers and acquisitions and other strategic planning matters as may be specifically requested by
BFI during the term of this Agreement (the “Services”). Contractor shall report directly to BFI's
Executive Chairman. All Services shall be performed only by Faquiry Diaz Cala (“Principal”) on
behalf of Contractor.

b. Contractor agrees that, in the performance of its duties under this
Agreement, Contractor and Principal shall comply with:

I all applicable U.S. Securities laws, federal, state and local and foreign
laws, statutes, judgments, rules, regulations, ordinances, orders,
decrees, permits, licenses, and other legal requirements of any
governmental authority or judicial court, now in effect or hereafter
promulgated, and any judicial or administrative interpretation thereof;
and

i1, all corporate policies of BFI in effect from time to time during the term
of this Agreement applicable to executives, employees, consultants and
other independent contractors, including without limitation, the
Company’s policies regarding external communications, insider
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trading, conflicts of interest business ethics as well as any other written
requests through email from time to time.

2: Relationship of the Parties. Contractor enters into the Agreement as, and shall
continue to be, an independent contractor. Under no circumstances shall Contractor look to BFI as
its employer, or as a partner, agent or principal. Contractor shall not be entitled to any benefits
accorded to BFI's employees, including without limitation worker's compensation, disability
insurance, vacation or sick pay. Contractor shall be responsible for providing, at Contractor's
expense, and in Contractor's name, unemployment, disability, worker's compensation and other
insurance, as well as licenses and permits usual or necessary for conducting the Services.
Contractor is not BFI's agent, and the Agreement does not confer upon Contractor any power to
(a) affect BFI's legal relationships; (b) bind BFI in any manner; or (c) represent himself as a
spokesperson on behalf of BFI to media, analysts or investors, without BFI's express written
consent. Rather, Contractor is an independent contractor and shall render the Services according
to its own methods and without being subject to BFI's control, except as to the product or result
of the Services. Contractor shall not hold itself out as having any relationship with BFI except as
that of consultant or independent contractor. It is understood that no instruction or direction is to
be provided by the Contractor to any officer or employee of BFI under the terms of this
engagement. Contractor hereby represents and warrants to BFI, that except as contemplated by
this Agreement, Contractor is not and subsequent to the Effective Date, has not been, party to any
consulting or independent contractor agreement (whether written or oral) which would conflict
with or limit Contractor’s ability to perform this Agreement.

3. Compensation and Reimbursement. Contractor shall be compensated and
reimbursed for the Services in the total amount of $100,000 annually, payable in twelve (12) equal
monthly payments on or before the last day of each month. In addition to this amount, the parties
may mutually agree upon other BurgerFi projects outside of the scope of the work contemplated
herein, under which Consultant would be compensated over and above the amount set forth above,
as agreed upon and set forth in a separate agreement. Completeness of work product shall be
determined by BFI in its sole discretion, and Contractor agrees to make all revisions, additions,
deletions or alterations as requested by BFI. No other fees and/or expenses will be paid to
Contractor unless such fees and/or expenses have been approved in advance by BFI in writing.
Contractor shall be solely responsible for any and all taxes, Social Security contributions or
payments, unemployment taxes, and other payroll type taxes applicable to such compensation.

4, Restricted Stock Award. On the Effective Date, BFI will grant Principal a
restricted stock award of 50,000 shares of BFI's common stock under its 2020 Omnibus Incentive
Plan (the “Restricted Stock Award”), which Restricted Stock Award shall only vest upon
satisfaction of the key performance indicators and the other criteria set forth on Exhibit A hereto.
The Restricted Stock Award will be evidenced by a Restricted Stock Award Agreement in the
form typically used by BFI.

5. Confidential Information.

a BFI now owns and will hereafter develop, compile and own certain
proprietary techniques, trade secrets, and confidential information which have great value in its
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business (collectively, “Confidential Information™). BFI will be disclosing to Contractor
Confidential Information during Contractor's performance of the Services. Confidential
Information includes not only information disclosed by BFI, but also information developed or
learned by Contractor during Contractor's performance of the Services. Confidential Information
is to be broadly defined and includes all information which has or could have commercial value or
other utility in the business in which BFI is engaged or contemplates engaging or the unauthorized
disclosure of which could be detrimental to the interests of BFI, whether or not such information
is identified by BFI. By way of example and without limitation, Confidential Information includes
any and all information concerning discoveries, developments, designs, improvements, inventions,
formulas, software programs, processes, techniques, know-how, data, research techniques,
employee information, customer and supplier lists, policies, marketing, sales or other financial or
business information, scripts, and all derivatives, improvements and enhancements to any of the
above. Confidential Information also includes like third-party information which is in BFI’s
possession under an obligation of confidential treatment.

b. Contractor agrees that it will retain all Confidential Information in
confidence; not disclose any Confidential Information to any third party without BFI’s permission;
not use any Confidential Information for any purpose other than performing or in connection with
the Services; use Contractor’s best efforts to limit access to Confidential Information to those who
have a need to know the information for the business purposes of BFI; return all tangible objects
and copies thereof containing Confidential Information to BFI upon request by the BFI; and upon
termination of the Contractor’s relationship with BFI, not duplicate any Confidential Information
without prior approval from the BFI; and honor Contractor’s promises under this Agreement both
during and after the Services are completed.

& Contractor's obligations with respect to any portion of the Confidential
Information as set forth above shall not apply when Contractor can document that (i) it was in the
public domain at the time it was communicated to Contractor by BFI; (ii) it entered the public
domain subsequent to the time it was communicated to Contractor by BFI through no fault of
Contractor; (iii) it was in Contractor's possession free of any obligation of confidence at the time
it was communicated to Contractor by BFI; or (iv) it was rightfully communicated to Contractor
free of any obligation of confidence subsequent to the time it was communicated to Contractor by
BFI. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Paragraph, Contractor shall not be deemed in violation
of this Section 5 for disclosing Confidential Information pursuant to a subpoena or court order,
provided that Contractor provides BFI with reasonable prior notice of such subpoena or court order
so that BFI may challenge such subpoena or court order.

6. Work for Hire. Contractor agrees that the Services rendered under this Agreement
are done as “work made for hire” as that term is defined under U.S. copyright law, and that as a
result, BFI will own all copyrights and other intellectual property rights in the Services. Contractor
will perform such services in a diligent and workmanlike manner. The content, style, form and
format of any work product of the Services shall be completely satisfactory to BFI and shall be
consistent with BFI’s standards, policies, procedures and objectives. Contractor hereby grants BFI
the right, but not the obligation, to use and to license others the right to use Contractor's name,
voice, signature, photograph, likeness and biographical information in connection with and related
to the Services.
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7. BFI Property. All materials, including without limitation documents, drawings,
drafts, notes, designs, computer media, recordings, videos, diagrams, electronic files and lists,
including all additions to, deletions from, alterations of, and revisions in the foregoing (together
the “Materials™), which are furnished to Contractor by BFI or which are developed in the process
of performing the Services, or embody or relate to the Services, the Confidential Information or
the Innovations (as defined below), are the property of BFI, and shall be returned by Contractor to
BFI promptly at BFI's request together with any copies thereof, and in any event promptly upon
expiration or termination of the engagement for any reason. Contractor is granted no rights in or
to such Materials, the Confidential Information or the Innovations, except as necessary to fulfill
its obligations under the Contract. Contractor shall not use or disclose the Materials, Confidential
Information or Innovations to any third party. At all times when the Services are performed and
upon termination of this Agreement, BFI's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and
Chief Legal Officer shall have unfettered access to the Materials.

8. Assignment of Contractor's Inventions and Copyrights.

a Contractor will promptly disclose in writing to BFI all works, products,
discoveries, developments, designs, innovations, improvements, inventions, formulas, processes,
techniques, know-how and data (whether or not patentable, and whether or not at a commercial
stage, or registrable under copyright or similar statutes) which are authored, made, conceived,
reduced to practice or learned by Contractor (either alone or jointly with others) during the period
Contractor provides the Services as a result of performing the Services including any concepts,
ideas, suggestions and approaches related thereto or contained therein (collectively, the
“Innovations™).

h. Contractor hereby assigns and agrees to assign to BFI, without royalty or
any other consideration except as expressly set forth herein, all worldwide right, title and interest
Contractor may have or acquire in and to (i) all Materials; (ii) all Innovations (iii) all worldwide
patents, patent applications, copyrights, mask work rights, trade secrets rights and other intellectual
property rights in any Innovations; and (iv) any and all “moral rights” or right of “droit moral”
(collectively “Moral Rights”), that Contractor may have in or with respect to any Innovations. To
the extent any Moral Rights are not assignable, Contractor waives, disclaims and agrees that
Contractor will not enforce such Moral Rights. Contractor agrees that such assignment shall extend
to all languages and including the right to make translations of the Materials and Innovations.
Additionally, Contractor agrees, at no charge to BFI, but at BFI's sole expense, to sign and deliver
to BFI (either during or subsequent to Contractor's performance of the Services) such documents
as BFI considers desirable to evidence the assignment of all rights of Contractor, if any, described
above to BFI and BFI's ownership of such rights and to do any lawful act and to sign and deliver
to BFI any document necessary to apply for, register, prosecute or enforce any patent, copyright
or other right or protection relating to any Innovations in any country of the world.

& Contractor hereby irrevocably designates and appoints each of BFI and its
officers as Contractor's agent and attorney-in-fact, to act for and in Contractor's behalf and stead,
for the limited purpose of executing and filing any such document and doing all other lawfully
permitted acts to further the prosecution, issuance and enforcement of patents, copyrights or other
protections which employ or are based on Innovations with the same force and effect as if executed
and delivered by Contractor.
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9. Representations, Warranties and Indemnification.

a. Contractor represents and warrants to BFI that (i) Contractor has full power
and authority to enter into this Agreement including all rights necessary to make the foregoing
assignments to BFI; (ii) Contractor will not violate the terms of any agreement with any third party;
and (iii) the Services and any work product thereof are the original work of Contractor, do not and
will not infringe upon, violate or misappropriate any patent, copyright, trade secret, trademark,
contract, or any other publicity right, privacy right, or proprietary right of any third party.

b. Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold BFI and its successors, assigns
and licensees harmless from any and all claims, actions and proceedings, and the resulting losses,
damages, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) arising from any claim, action
or proceeding based upon or in any way related to Contractor's, or Contractor’s employees, breach
or alleged breach of any representation, warranty or covenant in this Agreement, and/or from the
acts or omissions of Contractor or Contractor’s employees.

10.  Term and Termination. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the
Effective Date and continue for twelve (12) months; provided, however, this Agreement is
terminable by either party at any time, with or without cause, effective upon notice to the other
party. If BFI exercises its right to terminate this Agreement, any obligation it may otherwise have
under the Agreement shall cease immediately, except that BFI shall be obligated to compensate
Contractor for work performed up to the time of termination. Upon termination, the Contractor
shall be entitled to receive his accrued compensation for Services rendered up to the day of actual
termination of this Agreement as provided for herein.

11, Prohibition. Contractor shall not enter into any agreement, contract or arrangement
with any government or government representative or with any other person, firm, corporation,
entity or enterprise imposing any legal obligation or liability of any kind on BFI without BFI’s
EXPress written consent.

12.  Non-Solicitation and Non-Competition. Contractor hereby agrees that:

a during the term of this Agreement and for one (1) year after the end of such
term, Contractor will not, without BFI's express prior written consent, directly or indirectly
(including through , solicit, induce, recruit, hire or divert or attempt to solicit, induce, recruit, hire
or divert from BFI (i) any account or business of BFI that existed, or any customer, client or
business partner of BFI who shall have been such, at any time, including, without limitation, all
applicable business partners or venturers, customers and/or clients of BFI; or (ii) any individual
who shall have been an employee BFI at any time; in either case and in each instance, whether for
or on Contractor’s behalf or for any entity in which Contractor may have a direct or indirect
interest.

b. during the term of this Agreement, Contractor will not directly or indirectly,
in any location, operate, organize, maintain, establish, manage, own, participate in, or in any
manner whatsoever, individually or through any corporation, limited liability company, limited
partnership, general partnership or other entity with respect to which Contractor shall be affiliated
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in any manner whatsoever, have any interest in, whether as an owner, member, investor, operator,
partner, stockholder, director, trustee, officer, mortgagee, employee, independent contractor,
principal, agent, consultant or otherwise, is engaged in or renders services comparable to the
Services to a chain restaurant business, unless such activity shall have been previously agreed to
in writing by BFI; and

B in the event of a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement (including,
without limitation, Sections 5,6,7,8 and 12) by Contractor, BFI will suffer irreparable harm and
will therefore be entitled to injunctive relief to enforce this Agreement.

13.  Governing Law. This Agreement shall in all respects be interpreted, enforced and
governed by and under the laws of the State of Florida applicable to instruments, persons and
transactions which have legal contacts and relationships solely within the State of Florida. Venue
shall be in Palm Beach County. The language of this agreement shall be construed as a whole
according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any of the parties.

14.  Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and final
understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes and terminates
any and all prior and/or contemporaneous negotiations, representations, understandings,
discussions, offers and/or agreements between the parties, whether written or verbal, express or
implied, relating in any way to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement may not be altered,
amended, modified or otherwise changed in any way except by a written agreement, signed by
Contractor and an authorized representative of BFI. Contractor agrees that time is of the essence
in this Agreement. If any provision of this Agreement shall be found invalid or unenforceable, the
remainder of this Agreement shall be interpreted so as best to reasonably effect the intent of the
parties.

15.  Principal Included. For purposes of Sections 5 through 9 and 12, all references to
Contractor shall be deemed to include and be applicable to Principal as well.

16.  Arbitration. Any disputes or claims of any kind or nature, including as to
arbitrability under this Contract, between Contractor and BFI will be settled by final and binding
arbitration. This Agreement applies to all disputes or claims that arose before and/or after this
Agreement went into effect. The parties expressly agree that this Agreement will be governed by
the provisions of the Federal Arbitration Act to the exclusion of any different or inconsistent state
or local law, ordinance or judicial rule. The arbitration will be administered by the American
Arbitration Association (“AAA™) and shall be held in Palm Beach County, Florida. The arbitrator
may not award damages, or any other relief that would not be available in court, unless expressly
authorized by written agreement between the parties. The party that files an arbitration claim will
pay all arbitration fees. Each party will pay its own attorneys’ fees, although the arbitrator may
permit the prevailing party to recover attorneys” fees and costs to the extent permitted by applicable
law.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, BFI and Contractor have caused this Agreement to be
executed as of the date first above written.

BFI:
BURGERFI INTERNATIONAL, INC.

DocuSigned by:
ST

By:

Julio Ramirez, Chief Executive Officer

CONTRACTOR:
THE IVY COMPANIES, INC.

@Docuﬁignﬂl by:
By: E-:CJE 2007 13F 184AC

Faquiry Diaz Cala, President
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EXHIBIT A

Restricted Stock Award Key Performance Indicators and Other Vesting Criteria

1. Twenty percent (20%) or 10,000 shares if BFI revenue for 2021 is at least ten percent
(10%) greater than BF | revenue for fiscal year 2020 (the “Base Year Revenue”).

2. Twenty percent (20%) or 10,000 shares if BFI revenue for 2022 is at least twenty percent
(20%) greater than Base Year Revenue.

3. Twenty percent (20%) or 10,000 shares if BFI revenue for 2023 is at least thirty percent
(30%) greater than Base Year Revenue.

4. Twenty percent (20%) or 10,000 shares if BFI revenue for 2024 is at least forty percent
(40%) greater than Base Year Revenue.

5. Twenty percent (20%) or 10,000 shares if BFI revenue for 2025 is at least twenty percent
(50%) greater than Base Year Revenue.









Exhibit 10.24

SEPARATION AND GENERAL RELEASE AGREEMENT

THIS SEPARATION AND GENERAL RELEASE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into between Julio Ramirez (the
“Executive”) and BurgerFi International, Inc. (“BurgerFi”) (collectively, the “Parties”), as follows:

Terms and Conditions

1. Separation of Employment. BurgerFi gave Executive notice of termination of Executive’s employment on December 10, 2021
(the “Separation Date”), effective immediately. On or before December 31, 2021, Executive will be paid all accrued compensation through and
including the date that is thirty (30) days from the Separation Date. In addition, 50,000 restricted stock units, representing all unearned
restricted stock units granted to Executive under that certain Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement between BurgerFi and the Executive that
could have been earned during the vesting year in which such termination occurred, vested immediately after such termination.

2. Consideration. In consideration for the release in paragraph 3 below and for Executive’s performance of the Continuing
Obligations as such term is defined in paragraph 4 below, BurgerFi agrees to, effective January 6, 2022, grant to Executive 5,000 shares of
unrestricted stock (the “Stock Grant”) pursuant to the BurgerFi 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan”). Executive
and BurgerFi shall enter into a an Unrestricted Stock Agreement (as such term is defined in the Equity Incentive Plan) with respect to the Stock
Grant.

3. Release. In exchange for the Stock Grant, Executive releases and gives up any and all waivable claims and rights that Executive
may have against BurgerFi, its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates and divisions, and each of their respective past and present officers, directors,
members, shareholders, executives, agents, representatives, consultants, fiduciaries, attorneys, insurers, benefit plans, plan administrators and
joint venture partners, and all of their respective predecessors, successors and assigns (collectively, “Releasees”). This releases all waivable
claims resulting from anything that has happened up through the date that Executive signs this Agreement, including those claims of which
Executive is not aware and those not specifically mentioned in this Agreement, regardless of whether such claims are asserted or unasserted,
suspected or unsuspected, accrued or not yet accrued. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Executive specifically releases all
claims relating to: (i) Executive’s employment by BurgerFi, the terms and conditions of such employment, Executive benefits related to
Executive’s employment, the termination of Executive’s employment, and/or any of the events relating directly or indirectly to or surrounding
such termination; (ii) any and all claims of discrimination (including harassment), whistleblowing or retaliation in employment (whether based
on federal, state or local law, statutory or decisional), including without limitation, all claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act
of 1967 (the “ADEA”) (this release is meant to comply with the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act (“OWBPA”), 29 U.S.C. § 621 ef seq.,
which statute was enacted to, among other things, ensure that individuals forty (40) years of age or older who waive their rights under the
ADEA do so knowingly and voluntarily), the Worker’s Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (“WARN”), Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964, as amended (“Title VII”), the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended (“ADA”), the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Pregnancy
Discrimination Act (“PDA”), the Reconstruction Era Civil Rights Act of 1866, 42 USC §§ 1981-86, as amended, the Equal Pay Act (“EPA”),
the Family and Medical Leave Act, as amended (“FMLA”), The Families First Coronavirus Response Act (“FFCRA”), the Fair Labor
Standards Act (“FLSA”), the Executive Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”) (other than claims with regard to vested benefits),
Sections 503 and 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Occupational Safety and Health Act

Executive’s Initials /s/ JR BurgerFi’s Initials /s/ IB
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(“OSHA”), COBRA, the National Labor Relations Act (“NLRA”), the Families First Coronavirus Relief Act (“FFCRA”), the Florida Civil
Rights Act of 1992 (“FCRA”) f/k/a Human Rights Act of 1977, § 725.07, Fla. Stat., any and all claims/actions for retaliation that have been or
could have been raised under Florida’s Workers” Compensation statute (Florida Statute § 440.205), the Florida Private Sector Whistle-Blower
Act (Fla. Stat. § 448.101-105), the Florida Equal Pay Act, any claims under Fla. Stat. § 448.08 for unpaid wages, and waivable rights under the
Florida Constitution, or any state or local discrimination (including harassment), whistle blowing or retaliation law; (iii) any and all waivable
claims for unpaid wages under any state or local law; (iv) any and all claims for violation of any state or local wage and hour law; (v) any and
all waivable rights under the Constitution of the state in which Executive resides or performed work for BurgerFi; (vi) any and all claims for
wrongful discharge; (vii) any and all claims for damages of any kind whatsoever, including without limitation compensatory, punitive, treble,
liquidated and/or consequential damages; (viii) any and all claims under any contract, whether express or implied; (ix) any and all claims for
unintentional or intentional torts, emotional distress and pain and suffering; (x) any and all claims for violation of any statutory or
administrative rules, regulations, ordinances or codes; and (xi) any and all claims for attorneys’ fees, paralegals’ fees, costs, disbursements,
wages, leave, bonuses, benefits, vacation and/or the like. Executive represents that Executive knows of no claim against the Releasees that
Executive has that has not been released by this paragraph. Executive understands and agrees that this Agreement is binding on Executive and
on anyone who succeeds to Executive’s rights. Executive further understands that this Agreement and the general release do not waive rights or
claims that may arise after the date that this Agreement is signed by him or rights or claims that cannot be waived as a matter of law (such as
claims for unemployment compensation benefits and workers’ compensation benefits).

4. Executive’s Continuing Obligations. Executive agrees, upon the request of BurgerFi or any of the other Releasees, to be
available to consult with and provide information to BurgerFi or counsel for BurgerFi with respect to BurgerFi-related matters, including any
due diligence, organizational or compliance matters, franchise matters, or investigation, litigation, arbitration, or regulatory proceeding
regarding events that occurred during Executive’s tenure with BurgerFi (the “Continuing Obligations”). Executive will remain reasonably
available to perform the Continuing Obligations from the Separation Date to and including the date that is six (6) months from the Separation
Date, during non-working hours (i.e., the times that Executive is not actively at work for his then current employer). To the extent permitted
by law, BurgerFi will reimburse Executive for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses Executive incurs in performing the Continuing Obligations,
so long as Executive provides advance written notice of Executive’s request for reimbursement and provides satisfactory documentation of the
expenses.

5. Taxes and Indemnification. Executive agrees to pay any and all taxes (other than BurgerFi’s share of payroll taxes) found to be
owed from the Stock Grant and to indemnify and hold BurgerFi harmless for any federal, state and local tax liability, including taxes, interest,
penalties or the like, and required withholdings, which may be or are asserted against or imposed upon the Releasees by any taxing authority as
a result of Executive’s non-payment of taxes for which Executive is legally responsible. Executive understands and agrees that any necessary
tax documentation, such as IRS Form W-2s, may be filed by BurgerFi with regard to monies or other compensation paid under this Agreement.
Executive and BurgerFi acknowledge that nothing herein shall constitute tax advice to the other party.

6. Confidentiality. Executive acknowledges that an individual shall not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or
state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that: (a) is made in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either
directly or indirectly, or to an attorney, and made solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (b) is
made in a complaint or other document filed
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in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. Executive further acknowledges that an individual who files a lawsuit for
retaliation by an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the attorney of the individual and use the
trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the individual: (a) files any document containing the trade secret under seal; and (b) does
not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order.

7. Incitement of Claims/Participation in Claims. Executive agrees that Executive will not encourage or incite any person including,
but not limited to, other current or former Executives of BurgerFi to disparage, to assert any complaint or claim in federal or state court against
Releasees. Executive also agrees not to participate, cooperate or assist in any manner, whether as a witness, expert, consultant or otherwise, in
any lawsuit, complaint, charge or other proceeding involving BurgerFi or any of the other Releasees as a party unless requested to do so by
BurgerFi, compelled by subpoena or court order. Executive acknowledges that any incitement of others to file such claims or participation in
such claims by Executive would constitute a material breach of this Agreement. Further, Executive warrants and represents that Executive is
unaware of any other person who may have a claim or cause of action against the Releasees for any reason.

8. Non-Interference. Nothing in this Agreement shall interfere with Executive’s right to file a charge, cooperate or participate in an
investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), the National Labor Relations Board
(“NLRB”), the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”), the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or any other
federal, state or local governmental agency or commission (“Government Agencies”). Further, Executive does not release the right to recover a
bounty or reward from the SEC in connection with the disclosure of information associated with any investigation conducted by the SEC, if
applicable. However, the consideration provided to Executive in this Agreement shall be the sole relief provided to Executive for the claims
that are released by Executive herein and Executive will not be entitled to recover and agrees to waive any monetary benefits or recovery
against Releasees in connection with any such claim, without regard to who has brought such claim.

9. No Claims Filed. Executive represents and warrants that Executive has not filed any claims or causes of action against any of
the Releasees, including, but not limited to, any charges of discrimination (including harassment) or retaliation with any federal, state or local
agency or court. Executive’s representation to same constitutes a material inducement for BurgerFi entering into this Agreement. In the event
Executive has filed such a claim or cause of action, it will be considered a material breach of the terms of this Agreement.

10. Complete/Agreement Survival. The Parties agree that this Agreement and incorporated release, together with that certain
Employment Agreement by and between BurgerFi and the Executive, as supplemented by that certain Addendum to Employment Agreement
(as supplemented, the “Employment Agreement”), sets forth all the promises and agreements between them and supersedes all prior and
contemporaneous agreements, understandings, inducements or conditions, expressed or implied, oral or written. Executive acknowledges and
understands that Executive’s post-termination obligations under paragraphs 4, 5, 6, 7 and 13 of this Agreement survive termination of
Executive’s employment with BurgerFi.

11. Sufficiency of Consideration; Severability. Executive agrees that the Stock Grant is made in exchange for and constitutes good
and valuable consideration for Executive’s execution of this Agreement. Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine that the general
release set forth in paragraph 3 above is invalid, void and/or unenforceable, then Executive agrees that BurgerFi’s obligations under this
Agreement shall be null and void and Executive
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shall return the Stock Grant to BurgerFi. If any other provisions in this Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid,
void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall nevertheless continue in full force without being impaired or invalidated in any way.

Nothing in this paragraph is intended to. nor shall be construed to apply to any contrary rights of Executive under the ADEA

12.  Acknowledgment. Executive acknowledges that Executive has been advised in writing to consult with an attorney before
signing this Agreement; acknowledges and understands that the general release contained in paragraph 3 above effectively waives all claims
under the ADEA; agrees that this Agreement complies with the OWBPA; and acknowledges that Executive has been afforded the opportunity
to consider the terms of this Agreement for a period of twenty-one (21) days prior to its execution. Executive understands that Executive may
use as much or as little of this twenty-one (21) day review period as desired. The Parties agree that any material or non-material changes made
to this Agreement after Executive receives this Agreement do not restart the running of the twenty-one (21) day period. Executive
acknowledges that no representation, promise or inducement has been made other than as set forth in this Agreement or the Unrestricted Stock
Award Agreement, and that Executive enters into this Agreement without reliance upon any other representation, promise or inducement not
set forth herein. Executive acknowledges and represents that Executive assumes the risk for any mistake of fact now known or unknown, and
that Executive understands and acknowledges the significance and consequences of this Agreement. Executive further acknowledges that
Executive has read this Agreement in its entirety; that Executive fully understands all of its terms and their significance; and that Executive has
signed the Agreement voluntarily, knowingly and of Executive’s own free will. Executive further affirms that Executive has been provided
and/or has not been denied any leave requested under the FMLA or applicable state or local law and has not suffered any workplace injuries or
occupational diseases. Executive represents that: (a) no part of the monies paid pursuant to paragraph 2 of this Agreement is a payment related
to sexual harassment or sexual abuse as set forth in Section 162(q) of the Internal Revenue Code; and that (b) Executive does not contend and
is not aware of any facts to suggest Executive has been subjected at any time to any acts of sexual harassment or sexual abuse by
BurgerFi. Executive acknowledges that BurgerFi has relied on Executive’s representations in this paragraph 12 in agreeing to make the Stock
Grant. Notwithstanding this paragraph 12, and without limiting the scope of the general release in paragraph 3, nothing in this paragraph
prohibits Executive from disclosing any facts or claims pertaining to incidents of sexual harassment or sexual abuse. The Parties hereby
acknowledge and agree that affiliates of BurgerFi are intended third-party beneficiaries of this Agreement and shall be entitled to enforce its
terms directly against Executive to the same extent as if they were party hereto.

13. Mutual Non-Disparagement; Statement to Third Parties. Executive agrees and warrants that at no time in the future will
Executive make any statements (orally or in writing, including, without limitation, whether fiction or nonfiction) or take any actions that in
any way defame BurgerFi or any of the other Releasees or in any way, directly or indirectly, cause or encourage the making of such
statements, or the taking of such actions, by anyone else, including, but not limited to, other current or former Executives of the Releasees.
Executive acknowledges that any incitement of others to defame the Releasees would constitute a material breach of this Agreement. In the
event such a communication is made to anyone, including but not limited to, the media, public interest groups and publishing companies, it
will be considered a material breach of the terms of this Agreement. BurgerFi, for itself and on behalf of its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates
and divisions, agrees and warrants that at no time in the future will BurgerFi or its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates and divisions make any
statements (orally or in writing, including, without limitation, whether fiction or nonfiction) that in any way defames Executive or in any
way, directly or indirectly, causes or encourages the making of such statements, or the taking of any other
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actions to defame Executive, by anyone else. BurgerFi acknowledges that any incitement of others to defame Executive would constitute a
material breach of this Agreement. In the event such a communication is made to anyone, including but not limited to, the media, public
interest groups and publishing companies, it will be considered a material breach of the terms of this Agreement. Upon inquiry from
prospective employers of Executive, BurgerFi agrees to limit its response to Executive’s dates of employments, positions held and rate of

pay.

14.  Breach. Executive acknowledges that if Executive materially breaches or threatens to materially breach this Agreement,
discloses and/or uses BurgerFi’s confidential and/or proprietary information, breaches the cooperation provisions of this Agreement, and/or,
except for an action by Executive to enforce paragraph 13, commences a suit, action, proceeding or complaint in contravention of this
Agreement and waiver of claims, BurgerFi’s obligations to provide Executive the Stock Grant and/or provide the benefits referred to above
shall immediately cease and BurgerFi shall be entitled to all other remedies allowed in law or equity. Further, nothing in this Agreement shall
prevent BurgerFi from pursuing an injunction to enforce the provisions of paragraphs 4, 5, 6, 7 and 13 above nor prevent Executive from
pursuing an injunction to enforce the provisions of paragraph 13. Nothing in this paragraph is intended to, nor shall be construed to apply to
any contrary rights of Executive under the ADEA.

15. Non-Admission. The Parties understand that the Stock Grant and other matters agreed to herein are not to be construed as an
admission of or evidence of liability for any violation of the law, willful or otherwise by any entity or any person.

16.  Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties’ representatives, agents,
successors, assigns, heirs, attorneys, current and future affiliates, and predecessors.

17. Enforcement. In the event of any litigation arising out of this Agreement, the exclusive venue shall be in Palm Beach County,
Florida and shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida, without regard to its choice of law principles, except where the application of
federal law applies, and shall be decided by an arbitrator in accordance with the mediation provisions of the Employment Agreement. Nothing

in this paragraph is intended to. nor shall be construed to apply to any contrary rights of Executive under the ADEA.

18.  Transfer of Claims. Executive represents and warrants that Executive has not assigned, transferred, or purported to assign or
transfer, to any person, firm, corporation, association or entity whatsoever, any claims released in paragraph 3 above. Executive agrees to
indemnify and hold the Releasees harmless against, without any limitation, any and all rights, claims, warranties, demands, debts, obligations,
liabilities, costs, court costs, expenses (including attorneys’ fees, paralegals’ fees and costs, at all levels), causes of action or judgments based
on or arising out of any such undisclosed assignment or transfer. Executive further warrants that there is nothing that would prohibit Executive
from entering into this Agreement.

19. Execution of Necessary Documents. Each party shall, upon the request of the other, execute and re-execute, acknowledge and
deliver this Agreement and any and all papers or documents or other instruments, as may be reasonably necessary to implement the terms
hereof with any formalities as may be required and, otherwise, shall cooperate to fulfill the terms hereof and enable the other party to effectuate
any of the provisions of this Agreement.

20.  No Waiver/All Rights Are Cumulative . No waiver of any breach or other rights under this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver
unless the acknowledgment of the waiver is in
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writing executed by the party committing the waiver. No waiver shall be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach or rights. All rights
are cumulative under this Agreement.

21. Construction. The Parties expressly acknowledge that they have had equal opportunity to negotiate the terms of this Agreement
and that this Agreement shall not be construed against the drafter.

22. Headings. The headings contained in the Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not in any way affect the meaning
or interpretation of this Agreement.

23.  Electronic Transmissions and Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts and by electronic
transmissions (e-mail, facsimile and/or scanner) and all so executed shall constitute one Agreement, binding on all the Parties hereto,
notwithstanding that the Parties are not signatories to the original or same counterpart.

24, Right of Revocation. Executive may revoke this Agreement in writing at any time within seven (7) days after signing it (the
“Revocation Period”) by delivering a written notice of revocation to BurgerFi, Attention: Chief Executive Officer. This Agreement shall not
become effective and enforceable until the expiration of the seven (7)-day Revocation Period. If Executive does not revoke this Agreement
during the Revocation Period, this Agreement shall be fully effective and enforceable. If Employee does revoke during the Revocation Period,
this Agreement will be null and void and BurgerFi shall have no obligations under it.

Executive represents and warrants that he: (i) has read this Agreement in its entirety; (ii) has been offered a period of twenty-
one (21) days to review the Agreement; (iii) has been advised in writing to consult with an attorney; and (iv) fully understands all of
terms and conditions of the Agreement, and voluntarily and knowingly assents to all such terms and conditions.
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Julio Ramirez

/s/ Julio Ramirez

Date: December 29, 2021

COMPANY:
BurgerFi International, Inc.
By: /s/ 1an Baines

Ian Baines, Chief Executive Officer

Date: December 29, 2021
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ELEVENTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS ELEVENTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment”), dated as of November 23, 2021, is entered into by and
among BURGERFI INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), PLASTIC TRIPOD, INC., a Delaware corporation (together with
Parent, each a “Borrower” and collectively, the “ Borrowers”), the other Subsidiaries of Parent party hereto (each a “Guarantor” and collectively, the
“Guarantors”), the Lenders party hereto, and REGIONS BANK, as administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, the “ Administrative Agent”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Borrowers, the Guarantors, the Lenders from time to time party thereto, the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, the
Swingline Lender and the Issuing Bank are parties to that certain Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 2015 (as amended by that certain First
Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 2017, that certain Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 9, 2018, that
certain Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 29, 2019, that certain Fourth Amendment and Waiver dated as of October 30 2019,
that certain Forbearance Agreement and Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of March 25, 2020, that certain Sixth Amendment to Credit
Agreement dated as of March 30, 2020, that certain Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of May 15, 2020, that certain Eighth Amendment
to Credit Agreement dated as of May 19, 2020, that certain Ninth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Waiver dated as of April 1, 2021, that certain
Tenth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Joinder dated as of November 3, 2021, and as further amended, modified, extended, restated, replaced, or
supplemented in writing from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”).

WHEREAS, the Credit Parties have requested that the Required Lenders agree to amend Section 7.1(m) of the Credit Agreement.
WHEREAS, the Required Lenders have agreed to do so, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.
AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these premises and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings provided to such terms in the Credit
Agreement.

2. Amendment to Credit Agreement. As of the Effective Date (as defined below), Section 7.1(m) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended
and restated by (a) deleting the stricken text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following example: strieken-text) and (b) adding the double
underlined text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following example: double-underlined text) as follows:

(m) Monthly Financial Statements. As soon as available, but in any event within thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar month
(commencing with the month ending Febraary 28,202+ February 28, 2022) until the Compliance Date, a consolidated balance sheet of Parent and
its Subsidiaries as at the end of such calendar month and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows of
Parent and its Subsidiaries for such calendar month and for the period from the beginning of the then current Fiscal Year to the end of such
calendar month, all in reasonable detail and consistent in all material respects with the manner of presentation as of the Tenth Amendment
Effective Date, together with a Financial Officer Certification with respect thereto.

3. Condition Precedent. This Amendment shall be effective on the date hereof when the Administrative Agent shall have received a copy of
this Amendment duly executed by the Credit Parties, the Administrative Agent, and the Required Lenders.
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4. Entirety. This Amendment, the Credit Agreement, and the other Credit Documents embody the entire agreement among the parties hereto
and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, if any, relating to the subject matter herecof. This Amendment, the Credit
Agreement and the other Credit Documents represent the final agreement between the parties and may not be contradicted by evidence of prior,
contemporaneous, or subsequent oral agreements of the parties.

5. Counterparts/Telecopy. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered
shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of executed counterparts of this Amendment by telecopy or
other secure electronic format (.pdf) shall be effective as an original.

6. Governing Law: Submission to Jurisdiction: Waiver of Venue; Service of Process: Waiver of Jury Trial . The governing law, submission to
jurisdiction, waiver of venue, service of process and waiver of jury trial provisions contained in Sections 11.13 and 11.14 of the Credit Agreement are
hereby incorporated by reference mutatis mutandis.

7. Further Assurances. Each of the parties hereto agrees to execute and deliver, or to cause to be executed and delivered, all such instruments as
may reasonably be requested to effectuate the intent and purposes, and to carry out the terms, of this Amendment.

8. Miscellaneous. Section headings in this Amendment are included herein for convenience of reference only and shall not constitute a part of this
Amendment for any other purpose. Wherever possible, each provision of this Amendment shall be interpreted in such a manner as to be effective and
valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Amendment shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be
ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this
Amendment. Except as otherwise provided in this Amendment, if any provision contained in this Amendment is in conflict with, or inconsistent with,
any provision in any Credit Document, the provision contained in this Amendment shall govern and control.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank. |
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first
above written.

BORROWERS: BURGERFI INTERNATIONAL, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

PLASTIC TRIPOD, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

GUARANTORS: HOT AIR, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

ACFP MANAGEMENT, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

ANTHONY’S PIZZA HOLDING COMPANY, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

[Signature pages for Credit Parties continue.)

Signature Page
Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement
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ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF PIKE CREEK, LLC,

a Delaware limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WILMINGTON, LLC,

a Delaware limited liability company

ACFP/NYNJ VENTURES LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF AVENTURA, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY"’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF BOCA RATON, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF CORAL SPRINGS, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF PEMBROKE PINES, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF PALM BEACH GARDENS, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF PLANTATION, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S SPORTS BAR AND GRILL, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WESTON, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF STUART LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF CORAL GABLES, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL-FIRED PIZZA, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF SOUTH TAMPA, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF DORAL LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF PINECREST, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WELLINGTON, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF MIAMI LAKES, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF KENDALL, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

[Signature pages for Credit Parties continue.]
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ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF NORTH TAMPA, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF CLEARWATER, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF SAND LAKE, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF BRANDON, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF ALTAMONTE SPRINGS, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF EAST BOCA LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ACFP BOCA MGT LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF NORTH LAUDERDALE LLC, a Florida limited liability company
ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF NORTH MIAMI LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF MIRAMAR LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF DELRAY BEACH, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF LITTLETON LLC,

a Massachusetts limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WESTWOOD LLC,

a Massachusetts limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF READING LLC,

a Massachusetts limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF CLIFTON, LLC,

a New Jersey limited liability company

ANTHONY"’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF EDISON LLC,

a New Jersey limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF RAMSEY, LLC,

a New Jersey limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF FAIR LAWN, LLC,

a New Jersey limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WAYNE NJ LLC,

a New Jersey limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF LIVINGSTON LLC,

a New Jersey limited liability company

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

[Signature pages for Credit Parties continue.]
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ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF MARLBORO LLC,

a New Jersey limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF ENGLEWOOD LLC,

a New Jersey limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF MOUNT LAUREL LLC,
a New Jersey limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF COMMACK LLC,

a New York limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WHITE PLAINS, LLC,
a New York limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF CARLE PLACE, LLC,
a New York limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WOODBURY, LLC,

a New York limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WANTAGH, LLC,

a New York limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF BOHEMIA, LLC,

a New York limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF GREAT NECK, LLC,
a New York limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF FARMINGDALE LLC,
a New York limited liability company

BH SAUCE, LLC,

a Nevada limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF HORSHAM, LLC,

a Pennsylvania limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WAYNE, LLC,

a Pennsylvania limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL-FIRED PIZZA OF MONROEVILLE, LLC,
a Pennsylvania limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL-FIRED PIZZA OF SETTLER’S RIDGE, LLC,
a Pennsylvania limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF CRANBERRY, LLC,

a Pennsylvania limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF MCMURRAY, LLC,

a Pennsylvania limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF EXTON, LLC,

a Pennsylvania limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WYOMISSING, LLC,
a Pennsylvania limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WYNNEWOOD LLC,
a Pennsylvania limited liability company

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

[Signature pages for Credit Parties continue.]
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ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF TREXLERTOWN LLC,
a Pennsylvania limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF BLUE BELL LLC,

a Pennsylvania limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF NEWTON LLC,

a Massachusetts limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF STONY BROOK LLC,
a New York limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF CRANSTON LLC,

a Rhode Island limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF NATICK LLC,

a Massachusetts limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF WEST PALM BEACH LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF BETHESDA LLC,

a Maryland limited liability company

ANTHONY’S COAL FIRED PIZZA OF SPRINGFIELD LLC,

a Pennsylvania limited liability company

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

[Signature pages for Credit Parties continue.]
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BURGERFI INTERNATIONAL, LLC,

a Delaware limited liability company

BF RESTAURANT MANAGEMENT, LLC,

Signature Page

a Florida limited liability company
BURGERFI IP, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company
BURGERFI-DELRAY BEACH, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company
BF CORAL SPRINGS, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF CITY PLACE-WEST PALM, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

BF JUPITER, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF WEST DELRAY, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF LBTS, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF PHILADELPHIA, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF COMMACK, LLC,

a New York limited liability company
BF JACKSONVILLE TOWN CENTER, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

BF JACKSONVILLE RIVERSIDE, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

BF DELRAY - LINTON, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF PINES CITY CENTER, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF ORLANDO - DR. PHILLIPS, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

BF DANIA BEACH, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF FORT MYERS - DANIELS, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

BF BOCA RATON - BOCA POINTE, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

BF BOCA RATON, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF PBG, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF JUPITER - INDIANTOWN, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

[Signature pages for Credit Parties continue.]
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BF WELLINGTON, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF NEPTUNE BEACH, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF POUGHKEEPSIE, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF ATLANTA - PERIMETER MARKETPLACE, LLC,
a Georgia limited liability company
BF FOOD TRUCK, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF ODESSA, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF MIAMI BEACH - MERIDIAN, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

BF MIRAMAR LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF TAMPA BAY, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF TAMPA - CHANNELSIDE, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

BF WILLIAMSBURG, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF TAMPA - WESTCHASE, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF HENDERSONVILLE, LLC,

a Tennessee limited liability company
BF CHARLOTTESVILLE, LLC,

a Virginia limited liability company
BF TALLAHASSEE VARSITY, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company
BURGERFI MANAGEMENT SERVICES, LLC,
a Florida limited liability company

BF COMMISSARY, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company
BGM PEMBROKE PINES, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF BABCOCK, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

BF MIAMI LAKES, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

[Signature pages for Credit Parties continue.]

Signature Page
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BF GALLATIN AVENUE NASHVILLE, LLC,
a Tennessee limited liability company

BF HERMITAGE LLC,

a Tennessee limited liability company
BURGERFI ENTERPRISES, LLC,

a Florida limited liability company

By: /s/ Michael Rabinovitch
Name: Michael Rabinovitch
Title: CFO

[Signature pages for Credit Parties end.]

Signature Page
Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement
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ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT: REGIONS BANK

By:_/s/J. Richard Baker
Name: J. Richard Baker
Title: Senior Vice President

Signature Page
Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement
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LENDERS: REGIONS BANK,
as a Lender

By:_/s/J. Richard Baker
Name: J. Richard Baker
Title: Senior Vice President

Signature Page
Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement
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SYNOVUS BANK,
as a Lender

By:_/s/ Gregory Felix
Name: Gregory Felix

Title: Special Assets Officer, Sr.

Signature Page
Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement



Exhibit 21.1
BurgerFi International, Inc.
Subsidiaries of BurgerFi International, Inc.
December 31, 2021

BurgerFi International, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

BF Restaurant Management LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Commissary, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Restaurant Management LLC, a Florida limited liability company
BurgerFi-Delray Beach, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

BF Coral Springs, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF City Place-West Palm, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Commack, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Jupiter, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Philadelphia, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF West Delray, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF LBTS, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BGM Pembroke Pines, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Jacksonville Town Center, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Jacksonville Riverside, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Delray-Linton, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Pines City Center, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Dania Beach, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Ft Myers-Daniels, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Boca Raton-Boca Pointe, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Boca Raton, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF PBG, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Jupiter-Indiantown, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Wellington, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Neptune Beach, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Williamsburg, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Orlando-Dr. Phillips, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Miami Beach - Meridian, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Odessa, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Tampa-Channelside, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Tampa-Westchase, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

BF Poughkeepsie, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

Hot Air, Inc., a Delaware limited liability company

Plastic Tripod, Inc., a Delaware limited liability company

ACFP Management, Inc., a Delaware limited liability company

Anthony's Pizza Holding Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Pike Creek, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Wilmington, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
ACFP/NYNIJ Ventures, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Aventura, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Boca Raton, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Coral Springs, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Pembroke Pines, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Palm Beach Gardens, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Plantation, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Sports Bar and Grill, LLC a Florida limited liability company

Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Weston, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Stuart, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Coral Gables, LLC, a Florida limited liability company



Anthony’s Coal-Fired Pizza, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of South Tampa, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Doral, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Pinecrest, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Wellington, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Miami Lakes, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Kendall, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of North Tampa, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Clearwater, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Sand Lake, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Brandon, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Altamonte Springs, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of East Boca, LLC, a Florida limited liability company

ACFP Boca MGT LLC, a Florida limited liability company

Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of North Lauderdale, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of North Miami, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Miramar, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Delray Beach, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Littleton, LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Westwood, LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Reading, LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Clifton, LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Edison, LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Ramsey, LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Fair Lawn, LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Wayne NJ, LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Livingston LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Marlboro, LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Englewood, LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Mount Laurel, LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Commack, LLC, a New York limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of White Plains, LLC, a New York limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Carle Place, LLC, a New York limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Woodbury, LLC, a New York limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Wantagh, LLC, a New York limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Bohemia, LLC, a New York limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Great Neck, LLC, a New York limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Farmingdale, LLC, a New York limited liability company
BH Sauce, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company

Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Horsham, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Wayne, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Monroeville, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Settler's Ridge, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Cranberry, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of McMurray, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Exton, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Wyomissing, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Wynnewood, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Trexlertown LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Blue Bell, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Newton, LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Stony Brook, LLC, a New York limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Cranston LLC, a Rhode Island limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Natick, LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company



Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of West Palm Beach, LLC, a Florida limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Bethesda, LLC, a Maryland limited liability company
Anthony’s Coal Fired Pizza of Springfield, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

BurgerFi International, Inc.
North Palm Beach, Florida

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-257877, 333-260727 and 333-261983) of BurgerFi
International, Inc. of our report dated April 14, 2022, relating to the consolidated financial statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.
/s/ BDO USA, LLP

West Palm Beach, Florida
April 14, 2022



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)

I, Ian Baines, certify that:

1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of BurgerFi International, Inc.;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

<)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: April 14, 2022

/s/ lan Baines

Ian Baines, Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)

I, Michael Rabinovitch, certify that:

D
2)

3)

4

5)

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of BurgerFi International, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

<)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: April 14, 2022

/s/ Michael Rabinovitch

Michael Rabinovitch, Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of BurgerFi International, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Ian Baines, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: April 14, 2022

/s/ lan Baines

Ian Baines, Chief Executive Officer

The certification set forth above is being furnished as an exhibit solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and is not being filed as part of the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2021, or as a separate disclosure document of the Company or the certifying officers.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of BurgerFi International, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Michael Rabinovitch, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: April 14, 2022

/s/ Michael Rabinovitch

Michael Rabinovitch, Chief Financial Officer

The certification set forth above is being furnished as an exhibit solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and is not being filed as part of the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2021, or as a separate disclosure document of the Company or the certifying officers.



